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If we experience rejection of any COVID- 19 relief program claims on behalf of clients, are unable to timely make system
changes needed to comply with other regulations, incur substantial additional costs in doing so, or are otherwise adversely
affected by these requirements, then we may face fines, penalties, other regulatory action, or litigation relating to such failure,
and we may not have insurance coverage for all or some of these liabilities. These events could further adversely impact our
PEO state licenses or registrations, or our CPEO status, as well as our ability to attract and retain clients. As a result of the
foregoing, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. 182024 Form 10-
K RISK FACTORS Bank failures or other events affecting financial institutions could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations or financial condition, or have other adverse consequences. We use a U. S.- based global
systemically important bank (or G- SIB) for our PEO operations, including our cash balances associated with that portion of our
business. All of our cash deposits are held by Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation $92623-Ferm+0-KRISKFACTFORS(*
FDIC ”) insured banks, which amounts exceed the FDIC insurance limits. Through various overnight *“ sweep account ”
programs, we also invest a significant portion of our cash balances in U. S. Treasury- based funds, which are invested through
brokerage firms affiliated with the banks at which our deposits are held. The failure of a bank or related brokerage firm that we
use, or events involving limited liquidity, non- performance or other adverse conditions in the financial or credit markets
impacting financial institutions at which we maintain balances, or concerns or rumors about such events, may lead to disruptions
in access to our cash balances, adversely impact our liquidity, including our ability to borrow under our credit facility, or limit
our ability to process transactions related to our clients. In the event of a failure of a bank or other financial institution that holds
our cash deposits, there can be no assurance that our deposits in excess of the FDIC or other comparable insurance limits will be
recoverable or, even if ultimately recoverable, there may be significant delays in our ability to access those funds. Furthermore,
bank failures, non- performance, or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions could impair the ability of one
or more of the banks participating in our credit facility from honoring their commitments. Such events could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. Similarly, our clients may be adversely affected by any bank
failure or other event affecting financial institutions. For example, in early 2023, some of our clients had deposits with banks
that were placed into receivership. If those clients had been unable, or if our clients in the future are unable, to meet their
obligations to us as a result of a bank failure or other event affecting financial institutions, we may be exposed to potential risks
that could impact our financial condition or results of operations. If we were to fail to pay the liabilities that we have assumed
associated with our WSEEs, we may be subject to fines or other penalties. Labor shortages, increasing competition for highly
skilled workers, and evolving employee expectations regarding the workplace could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations. The success of our business is heavily dependent on our ability to attract
and retain a skilled workforce, including in our service and sales positions. Several factors may limit the labor force available to
us or increase our labor costs, including high employment levels, strong macroeconomic conditions, federal unemployment
subsidies, and other governmental regulation. As macroeconomic conditions improved from 2021 through 2623-2024 , the labor
market tightened, resulting in increased employee turnover and skilled labor shortages. Increasing competition for highly skilled
and talented workers may make it increasingly difficult and expensive for us to attract and retain a service team capable of
supporting our clients or a sales team that is effective in selling our complex service offerings to clients. An overall or prolonged
labor shortage, increased turnover, or labor inflation could have a material adverse impact on our growth plans, client service
delivery, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, following the remote work environment that we implemented
during the COVID- 19 pandemic and a resulting shift in the expectations of our employees, many of our departments have now
switched to a “ hybrid ” mode in which remote work is permitted one or more days per week. These changes may impact
productivity or have other material impacts on our operations. Inflation may reduce our profitability. Inflationary pressure could
adversely impact our profitability. Our operating costs have increased, and may continue to increase, due to the recent growth in
inflation. We may not be able to fully offset these cost increases by raising prices for our services, particularly because our
client agreements generally fix our pricing for a period of time, which could result in downward pressure on our profit margins.
Further, our clients may choose to reduce their business with us if we increase our pricing. Geographic market concentration
makes our results of operations vulnerable to regional economic factors. Our New York, California and Texas markets
accounted for approximately 10 %, 15 % and +8-17 % (including 7 % in Houston), respectively, of our WSEEs for the year
ended December 31, 2023-2024 . Accordingly, unless we are successful in expanding in our current markets and into new
markets, which we believe will take additional time, for the foreseeable future, a significant portion of our revenues may be
subject to economic, statutory, and regulatory factors specific to New York, California, and Texas. 192024 Form 10- K We are
subject to covenants under our credit facility that may restrict our business and financing activities. Our failure to comply with
these covenants may result in an acceleration of our indebtedness, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations. 282823-Ferm+8-—+—Our credit facility contains, and any future indebtedness of ours
likely would contain, covenants that, subject to certain exceptions, impose significant operating and financial restrictions,
including restricting our ability to: * incur additional indebtedness, ¢ sell material assets, ¢ retire, redeem or otherwise reacquire
our capital stock,  acquire the capital stock or assets of another business, * enter into new lines of business, * make investments,
and ¢ pay dividends. In addition, we are required to maintain certain financial covenants. Our ability to comply with the financial
covenants may be affected by financial, business, economic, regulatory and other factors beyond our control. Our failure to



comply with these covenants, or any other terms of our indebtedness, could result in a default that may limit our ability to
borrow additional amounts under our credit facility, which may adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, a default may allow
our lenders to accelerate our obligation to repay the outstanding amounts under our credit facility. If we were unable to repay or
refinance the accelerated indebtedness on favorable terms, then our business, financial condition and results of operations would
be materially adversely affected. A future outbreak of highly infectious or contagious diseases could have a material and adverse
impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. The spread of a highly infectious or contagious
disease could create signiﬁcant volatility, uncertainty and economic disruption, including as a result of actions taken by
businesses and governments in response to such a pandemic that may result in a significant reduction in commercial activity,
such as occurred during the COVID- 19 pandemic thatbeganin2626-. The extent to which future pandemics impact our
business, operations, financial results and financial condition will depend on numerous evolving factors that are highly uncertain
and that we may not be able to accurately predict. While such a pandemic is continuing and even after it has subsided, we may
experience material adverse impacts to our business, operations and financial results due to any existing or continuing negative
economic impact, including a recession, depression, or periods of supply shortages or high inflation, such as experienced in 2022
following the COVID- 19 pandemic. Additionally, future pandemics may change how and when we incur health insurance costs
under our health insurance contract with United, such as changes in quarterly levels and timing of both medical and
pharmaceutical health insurance claims and processing payment patterns. Accordingly, future pandemics may present, material
uncertainty and risk with respect to our business, and may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and business. PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions Risks We assume liability for WSEE payroll, payroll taxes,
benefits costs and workers’ compensation costs and are responsible for their payment regardless of the amount billed to or paid
by our clients. Under the CSA, we become a co- employer Of WSEEs and assume the obhgatlons to pay the salanes wages and
related benefits costs and payroll taxes of such WSEEs. We-ass steh ; 0 6
Our obligations include responsibility for the following even 1f our costs fe—pmtde—sueh—beneﬁts—exceed the fees the client pays
us and the amounts collected from WSEEs: ¢ payment of the salaries and wages for work performed by WSEEs, regardless of
whether the client timely pays us the associated service fee « withholding and payment of federal and state payroll taxes with
respect to wages and salaries reported by Insperity 202024 Form 10- K * providing benefits to WSEEs 242623Ferm1+0-K—
providing workers’ compensation coverage to WSEEs Further, the increase in remote work, including by WSEEs, has
complicated the calculation of payroll and unemployment taxes applicable to those individuals. We are dependent on our PEO
Outsourcing Solutions clients to properly report the locations in which WSEEs perform services. If a regulatory authority were
to determine that we did not properly calculate or transmit these amounts, then we could be subject to fines, penalties, or other
liabilities, which we may not be able to recover from our clients. We may also need to devote additional resources and incur
additional costs to modify our systems to address any such compliance issues. If a client does not pay us, if the costs of services
we provide to WSEEs exceed the fees a client pays us, or if we incur fines and penalties as a result of an adverse determination
related to our payroll and unemployment tax calculations, our ultimate liability for WSEE payroll, payroll taxes, workers’
compensation and / or benefits costs, as well as any fines or penalties, could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operations. Increases in health insurance costs or our inability to secure replacement health insurance
coverage on competitive terms could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Maintaining health insurance plans that cover WSEE:s is a significant part of our business. Our primary health insurance contract
expires on December 31, 2026, subject to cancellation by either party upon 180 days’ notice. In the event we are unable to
secure replacement contracts on competitive terms, significant disruption and harm to our business could occur. Health
insurance costs are in part determined by our plans’ claims experience and comprise a significant portion of our direct costs. Our
health insurance coverage is provided under policies or service contracts that are fully insured. United is the carrier that insures
the majority of our coverage. Although all of our carriers remain responsible to pay all covered claims, under our health
insurance contract with United, we retain an obligation to United to fund the cost of the plan. The profitability of our PEO HR
Outsourcing Solutions is affected by the overall expenses associated with the cost of delivering our services, one of the largest
of which is the cost of our health insurance. Our ability to accurately anticipate the expenses associated with the plans, including
claims costs on a quarterly or annual basis, can impact our results of operations. If the plans experience an unexpected increase
in the number or severity of claims, our associated health insurance costs could increase beyond anticipated levels, as we
experienced in 2021 and 2023. These costs are further impacted by a number of factors, including coverage options elected by
employees, macro- economic changes, proposed and enacted regulatory changes and wide- spread health- related outbreaks.
Contractual arrangements and competitive market conditions may limit or delay our ability to increase service fees to offset any
associated potential increased costs associated with the plans, which could substantially impair our financial condition or results
of operations. Further, if the overall pricing of our services includes cost assumptions based on inaccurate forecasts of plan
expenses, our profitability or our ability to attract and retain clients may be adversely impacted. As a result, if we do not
accurately forecast the costs of our plans, our business, financial condition or results of operations may be materially adversely
affected. For additional information related to our health insurance costs, please read Item 7. “ Management’ s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — Benefits Costs. ”
Health care reform could affect our health insurance plan and could lead to a significant disruption in our business. Many of our
clients select a PEO Outsourcing Solution pursuant to which we offer the health and welfare benefit plans sponsored by us to the
WSEEs co- employed by those clients. The future impact and direction of healthcare reform, including future legislative or
executive actions, is unknown and, if any such developments were to reduce our ability to make health care benefits available to
WSEEs or were to make our offerings less attractive to our clients, then our business, financial condition, and results of
operations may be materially adversely affected. Supporters in various states have advocated and continue to advocate for
adoption of health care- related reforms at the state level, which has the potential to significantly change the insurance




marketplace for small and medium- sized businesses and how employers provide insurance to employees. Additionally,
guidance by the IRS and the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services (“ HHS ”) has not addressed or in some instances
is unclear as to the application of certain aspects of federal health care reform laws in the PEO relationship or whether such
provisions should be applied at the PEO or client level. 212024 Form 10- K Various states have adopted or are considering
reforms that may impact the requirements for or availability of PEO- sponsored health plans. At this time, the insurance market
reforms have not had a material adverse impact on our 2226823-Ferm+8-—¥-business operations, and if any future changes
impact our ability to attract and retain clients, or our ability to increase service fees to offset any increased costs, then our
business may be materially adversely affected. Subsequent changes resulting from action that may be taken at the federal or
state level may impact our benefit plans, business model and future results of operations, including repeal or repeal and
replacement of current healthcare reform provisions as has been advocated by some in the new Presidential administration
and Congressional leaders. In future periods, changes may result in increased costs to us and could affect our ability to attract
and retain clients. Additionally, contractual arrangements and competitive market conditions may limit or delay our ability to
increase service fees to offset any associated potential increased costs. We are currently unable to determine whether potential
future healthcare reform changes or other regulatory action, including at the state level, may adversely affect our business or
market conditions. A determination that we are not the employer of our WSEEs and an inability to offer alternate benefit plans
could have a material adverse effect on our business. In order to qualify for favorable tax treatment under the Code, employee
benefit plans must be established and maintained by an employer for the exclusive benefit of its employees. Generally, an entity
is an “ employer ” of individuals for federal employment tax purposes if an employment relationship exists between the entity
and the individuals under the common law test of employment. In addition, the officers of a corporation are deemed to be
employees of that corporation for federal employment tax purposes. The common law test of employment, as applied by the
IRS, involves an examination of approximately 20 factors to ascertain whether an employment relationship exists between a
worker and a purported employer. Generally, the test is applied to determine whether an individual is an independent contractor
or an employee for federal employment tax purposes and not to determine whether each of two or more companies is a ““ co-
employer. ” Substantial weight is typically given to the question of whether the purported employer has the right to direct and
control the details of an individual’ s work. Among the factors that appear to have been considered more important by the IRS
are: * the employer’ s degree of behavioral control (the extent of instructions, training and the nature of the work) ¢ the financial
control or the economic aspects of the relationship ¢ the intended relationship of the parties (whether employee benefits are
provided, whether any contracts exist, whether services are ongoing or for a project, whether there are any penalties for
discharge / termination, and the frequency of the business activity) Employee retirement and welfare benefit plans are also
governed by ERISA. ERISA defines “ employer ” as “ any person acting directly as an employer, or indirectly in the interest of
an employer, in relation to an employee benefit plan. ” ERISA defines the term “ employee ” as “ any individual employed by an
employer. ” The United States Supreme Court has held that the common law test of employment must be applied to determine
whether an individual is an employee or an independent contractor under ERISA. A definitive judicial interpretation of
employer ” in the context of a PEO or employee leasing arrangement has not been established. If Insperity were found not to be
an employer with respect to WSEEs for ERISA purposes, its plans would not comply with ERISA and / or the Code. Further, as
a result of such finding, Insperity and its plans would not enjoy, with respect to WSEEs, the preemption of state laws provided
by ERISA and could be subject to varying state laws and regulations as well as to claims based upon state common laws. In
addition, if Insperity were found not to be the employer sponsoring a single- employer plan under ERISA for purposes of its
health benefits plan, we could be subject to additional requirements under state and federal laws that could restrict our ability to
provide benefits to our WSEEs in the same manner that we do today, which could negatively impact our business. In the case of
any such events, we would endeavor to make available similar benefits at comparable costs in a manner that complied with
applicable state laws. However, if we were unable to promptly transition our benefit plans to a compliant structure with terms
that were acceptable to our clients and at a comparable cost to us, then our business, financial condition, and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected. Increases in workers’ compensation costs or inability to secure replacement
coverage on competitive terms could lead to a significant disruption and harm to our business. Our workers’ compensation
coverage has been provided through an arrangement with Chubb since 2007. Under our current arrangement with Chubb for
claims incurred on or before September 30, 2019, we have a financial responsibility to 222024 Form 10- K Chubb for the first $
1 million layer of claims per occurrence and for claims over $ 1 million, up to a maximum aggregate amount of $ 6 million per
policy year for claims that exceed the first $ 1 million. Effective for claims incurred on or after 232823-Ferm+68-K-October 1,
2019, our financial responsibility increased as we have financial responsibility to Chubb for the first $ 1. 5 million layer of
claims per occurrence and for claims over § 1. 5 million, up to a maximum aggregate amount of $ 6 million per policy year for
claims that exceed $ 1. 5 million. Chubb bears the financial responsibility for all claims in excess of these levels. The Chubb
Program is a fully insured program whereby Chubb has the responsibility to pay all claims incurred under the policies regardless
of whether we satisfy our responsibilities. For additional discussion of our policy with Chubb, please read Item 7.
Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Policies and
Estimates — Workers’ Compensation Costs. ” Workers’ compensation costs are a significant portion of our direct costs and
contractual arrangements and competitive market conditions may limit or delay our ability to increase service fees to offset any
associated potential increased costs. If we were to experience an unexpected large increase in the number or severity of claims,
our workers’ compensation costs could increase, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or
financial condition. Further, if the overall pricing of our services includes cost assumptions based on inaccurate forecasts of our
workers’ compensation costs, our profitability or our ability to attract and retain clients may be adversely impacted. The current
workers’ compensation coverage with Chubb expires on September 30, 2624-2025 . In the event we are unable to secure
replacement coverage on competitive terms, significant disruption to our business could occur. Our ability to adjust and collect



service fees for increases in unemployment tax rates may be limited. We record our SUI expense based on taxable wages and
tax rates assigned by each state. SUI tax rates vary by state and are determined, in part, based on prior years’ compensation
experience in each state. Prior to the receipt of final rate notices, we estimate our expected SUI rate in those states for which rate
notices have not yet been received for purposes of forecasting and pricing. In a period of adverse economic conditions, state
unemployment funds may experience a significant increase in the number of unemployment claims. Accordingly, SUI rates
would likely increase substantially. Some states have the ability under law to increase SUI rates retroactively to cover
deficiencies in the unemployment fund. In addition, FUTA may be retroactively increased in certain states in the event the state
fails to timely repay federal unemployment loans, as we recently experienced with California and New York in 2623-2024 .
Generally, our contractual agreements allow us to incorporate such statutory increases into our service fees upon the effective
date of the rate change. However , this right does not extend to our former clients and, even with respect to our existing
clients , our ability to fully adjust service fees in our billing systems and collect such increases over the remaining term of the
clients’ contracts could be limited, resulting in a potential increase not being fully recovered. As a result, such increases could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. Many of our contracts for our PEO HR
Outsourcing Solutions may be canceled on short notice. Our inability to renew client contracts or attract new clients could
materially and adversely affect our financial eenditions— condition or results of operations. Our standard CSA can generally be
canceled by us or the client with 30 days’ notice. Accordingly, the short- term nature of the CSA makes us vulnerable to
potential cancellations by existing PEO HR Outsourcing solution clients, which could materially and adversely affect our
financial condition or results of operations. Our middle market sector, which we generally define as those companies with
employees ranging from approximately 150 to 5, 000 WSEEs, represented 26 % of our average paid WSEEs , and clients with
an average number of WSEEs that exceed 1, 000 WSEEs represented 6-3 % during 2623-2024 . In the event we have large
clients that terminate or an increase in terminating clients from our middle market client base, the financial impact of such an
event could be significant. Also, our results of operations are dependent in part upon our ability to retain or replace our clients
upon the termination or cancellation of the CSA. Our client attrition rate was approximately +719 % in 2623-2024 . There can
be no assurance that the number of contract cancellations will continue at these levels and such cancellations may increase in the
future due to various factors, including economic conditions in the markets we operate. Clients electing to purchase our services
or electing an alternative solution often do so at the beginning of the calendar year. As a result, we typically experience our
largest concentration of new client additions and attrition in the first quarter of each year. Our loss of insurance coverage, the
failure of our insurance carriers or increased insurance costs or deductibles could have a material adverse effect on us. As part of
our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions, in addition to our health insurance carriers, we contract with other 232024 Form 10- K
insurance carriers to provide workers’ compensation insurance and employment practices liability insurance. In addition, we
obtain insurance coverage for various commercial risks in our business such as property insurance, errors and 242823-Ferm—+6-
K-omissions insurance, cyber liability insurance, general liability insurance, fiduciary liability insurance and ERISA bond
coverage, automobile liability insurance, and directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. The failure of any insurance carrier,
such as occurred in 2001 with respect to a previous workers’ compensation insurance provider, providing such coverage could
leave us exposed to uninsured risk and could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In
addition, in the event that our primary health carriers in any key market make material changes to their network of health care
providers or facilities, such as the discontinuation of prominent hospital networks in key markets on occasion by a carrier in
connection with their ongoing negotiations with those networks, then our ability to attract and retain clients in that market may
be adversely affected, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Further, we have
experienced an increase in insurance premiums for our corporate policies as well as an increase in the deductible amounts for
which we retain liability and a decrease in coverage limits. If these premiums or deductible amounts continue to increase, or
coverage limits continue to decrease we would have increased exposure with respect to costs and insurance claims, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. A determination that a client is liable for employment
taxes not paid by a PEO may discourage clients from contracting with us in the future. Under the CSA, we assume sole
responsibility and liability for paying federal employment taxes imposed under the Code with respect to wages and salaries we
pay our WSEEs. There are essentially three types of federal employment tax obligations: ¢ income tax withholding requirements
* FICA « FUTA Under the Code, employers have the obligation to withhold and remit the employer portion and, where
applicable, the employee portion of these taxes. The SBEA clarifies that a CPEO is treated as the employer for purposes of
federal payroll taxes on wages it pays to WSEEs. Most states impose similar employment tax obligations on the employer.
While the CSA provides that we have sole legal responsibility for making these tax contributions, the applicable state taxing
authority could conclude that such liability cannot be completely transferred to us. Accordingly, in the event that we fail to meet
our tax withholding and payment obligations, the client may be held jointly and severally liable for those obligations. While this
interpretive issue has not, to our knowledge, discouraged clients from enrolling with Insperity, a definitive adverse resolution of
this issue may discourage clients from enrolling in the future. New and higher federal, state and local taxes could have a material
adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations. In times of economic slowdowns, the federal government
and states and municipalities in which we operate may experience reductions in tax revenues and corresponding budget deficits.
In response to budget shortfalls, such as those being-experienced during as-aresutt-ofthe COVID- 19 pandemic, the federal
government and many states and municipalities have in the past and may in the future increase or enact new taxes on businesses
operating within their tax jurisdiction, including business activity taxes and income taxes. In addition, federal, state and local
taxing agencies may increase their audit act1v1ty in an effor‘[ to 1dent1fy addltlonal tax revenues. New tax assessments on our
Operatlons could result in 1ncreased costs. A RETESS e shave-expressed-stpp
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material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of operations. We may be subject to liabilities for client and
employee actions. As a co- employer in the PEO relationship, we assume or share many of the employer- related responsibilities
and assist our clients in complying with many employment- related governmental regulations. A number of legal issues remain
unresolved with respect to the co- employment arrangement between a PEO and its WSEESs, including questions concerning the
ultimate liability for violations of employment, payroll, discrimination, and workplace safety laws. Our CSA establishes the
contractual division of responsibilities between Insperity and our clients for various human capital management matters,
including compliance with and liability under various governmental regulations. 252623-242024 Form 10- K Because we act as
a co- employer, we may be subject to liability for violations of various employment, payroll, discrimination, and workplace
safety laws despite these contractual provisions, even if we do not participate in such violations. Although the CSA generally
requires the client to indemnify us for certain liabilities attributable to the client’ s conduct, we may not be able to collect on
such a contractual indemnification claim and thus may be responsible for satisfying such liabilities to the extent that such
liabilities are not covered or insured against under our insurance policies. In addition, WSEEs may be deemed to be our agents,
which may subject us to liability for the actions of such WSEEs. Changes in federal, state and local regulation or our inability to
obtain licenses under new regulatory frameworks could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial
condition. As a major employer, our operations are affected by numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to
labor, tax, benefit, insurance and employment matters. By entering into a co- employer relationship with employees assigned to
work at client locations, we assume certain obligations and responsibilities of an employer under these laws. However, many of
these current laws (such as the Act, ERISA, and some state insurance codes and employment tax laws) do not specifically
address the obligations and responsibilities of non- traditional employers such as PEOs, and the definition of “ employer ” under
these laws is not uniform despite the SBEA having provided clarification under federal employment tax laws for CPEOs. In
addition, many of the states in which we operate have not addressed the PEO relationship for purposes of compliance with
applicable state laws governing the employer / employee relationship or PEO health insurance plans. Any adverse application of,
or adverse legislative / regulatory response to, new or existing federal or state laws to the PEO relationship with our WSEEs and
client companies could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition. While some states do
not explicitly regulate PEOs, 42 states have passed laws that have recognition, licensing, certification or registration
requirements for PEOs and several other states are considering such regulation. Such laws vary from state to state, but generally
provide for monitoring the fiscal responsibility of PEOs, and in some cases codify and clarify the co- employment relationship
for unemployment, workers’ compensation and other purposes under state law. In addition, the SBEA provides certain benefits
for companies that qualify as a CPEO. While we generally support licensing regulation because it serves to validate the PEO
relationship, we may not be able to satisfy licensing requirements or other applicable regulations for all states. In addition, there
can be no assurance that we will be able to renew our licenses in all states or that we will be able to maintain our CPEO
designation. Certain state and federal regulators are more closely evaluating the existing regulatory framework governing
money services businesses and money transmitters in their jurisdictions, particularly following the high- profile failures in 2019
of several national payroll companies. While we maintain that we are not a money services business or money transmitter, the
adoption of new, or changes in interpretations of existing, state and federal money transmitter or money services business
statutes, or disagreements by regulatory authorities with our interpretation of such statutes or regulations, could subject us to
registration or licensing or result in limitations on our business activities until we are appropriately licensed, and such additional
regulation and the actions of the regulatory authorities could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or
financial condition. These occurrences could also require changes to the manner in which we conduct some aspects of our
business. In addition, should any state or federal regulators make a determination that we have operated as an unlicensed money
services business or money transmitter, we could be subject to civil and criminal fines, penalties, costs, legal fees, reputational
damage or other negative consequences, which could be material. Further, if we were to be deemed to be subject to other
regulatory requirements applicable to other businesses, such as rules or regulations applicable to new services that we may offer
such as earned wage access, then we may need to hire additional personnel, incur additional costs in order to maintain
compliance, or be subjected to fines, penalties, or other liabilities, which could be material. 262623-252024 Form 10- K
Competition and other developments in the HR services industry may impact our growth and / or profitability. The human
resources services industry, including the PEO industry, is highly fragmented. Many PEOs have limited operations and fewer
than 2, 500 WSEESs, but there are several industry participants that are comparable to our size or larger. We also encounter
competition from “ fee for service ” companies such as payroll processing firms, insurance companies, human resources
consultants and human resources technology solutions as well as cloud- based self- service bundled human resources offerings.
Our competitors include the PEO divisions of large business services companies, such as Automatic Data Processing, Inc. and
Paychex, Inc., and other national PEOs such as TriNet Group, Inc., Vensure, and Rippling. In many cases, these competitors
offer a reduced service PEO offering at a lower price than our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions. We expect that as the PEO
industry grows and its regulatory framework becomes better established, well organized competition with greater resources than
we have may enter the PEO market, possibly including large “ fee for service ” companies currently providing a more limited
range of services. In addition, competitors may be able to offer or develop new technology- based lower service models that may
require us to make substantial investments in order to effectively compete. We offer a lower priced reduced service level PEO
offering referred to as Workforce Synchronization in response to certain middle market client needs and the evolving PEO
marketplace. As of December 2623-2024 , approximately +4-15 % of our WSEEs were co- employed by Workforce
Synchronization clients. In the event we were to experience a significant increase in the number of clients using the Workforce
Synchronization offering or increased pricing pressures in the PEO marketplace without corresponding reductions in operating
costs, our operating margins may decline, which could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of
operations. Technology Risks Evolving regulations, market trends and client expectations require us to constantly enhance and



expand our service and technology offerings. The HR services industry is experiencing rapid technological advances to meet
client expectations and expanding regulations. As new regulations are adopted, we must modify our systems to address these
changes in the law, such as our recent efforts to implement the assistance provided to businesses and employees under the Covid
Relief Programs and Secure 2. 0 Act of 2022. In order to make these types of modifications, we may be required to reallocate
resources, potentially resulting in delays to planned competitive improvements to our systems. If we do not successfully or
timely deploy these types of modifications, we may be unable to comply with regulations, which could subject us to penalties,
damage our reputation or result in decreased sales. Further, in order to effectively compete in this environment, we must identify
and predict trends, and adapt our technology and service offerings accordingly. In addition, as a larger portion of our client base
falls within the middle market segment, we must also develop different technology and services to meet the more complex needs
and demands of this key group. These efforts require us to devote substantial resources to develop new functionality, or to
integrate third- party solutions, into our offerings. If we fail to respond successfully to these developments or we make
investments in enhancements that are not accepted by the market, then the demand for our solutions and services may diminish.
Disruptions of our information technology systems could damage our reputation and materially disrupt our business operations.
Many of the HR services offerings we provide to clients are conducted through a technology infrastructure using both internally
developed and purchased commercial software, a wide variety of hardware infrastructure technologies, and a multi- carrier wide
area network. The processing of payroll, benefits and other transactions is dependent upon this complex infrastructure, some of
which is provided by third- party vendors. We must manage all of these systems, and are dependent on third parties to manage
the systems that we obtain from them, including any upgrades, replacements or enhancements, to ensure that they continue to
support our services. For example, in connection with our strategic partnership with Workday, Inc. (“ Workday ”), we are

currently working en-a-multi—year-projeet-to develop a joint solution replace-oursalesforee-antomationsystem-and-our
eustomer-refationship-management-(-CRMsystenrwith a-single-CRM-Workday that requires integrations with third
parties and with our proprietary systems for our PEO HR Outsourcing setution-Solutions to-be-tsed-widely-aeross-the
eompany-. We also continue to monitor and make changes to our proprietary system for our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions for
compliance and modernization. Any delays or failures resulting from network outages; planned upgrades, enhancements, or
replacements of software, hardware, or other systems, including in connection with our ERM-replaeement-project with
Workday or any updated for compliance and modernization of systems; or other data processing disruptions, even for a brief
period of time, could result in our inability to timely process transactions. The speed with which we, or third- party vendors, are
able to address significant cybersecurity incidents may be influenced by the cooperation of certain government agencies. We
may also 262024 Form 10- K incur significant costs in the future to 272623-Fermt0-I—protect against damage or disruptions
that could be caused by cybersecurity incidents. If such failures cause us to not meet client service expectations or to breach our
obligations to our clients, we may lose existing clients, have difficulty attracting new clients, incur regulatory penalties or
liability to our clients, or suffer other financial losses, which may have a material adverse effect on our business and financial
condition. We could be subject to reduced revenues, increased costs, liability claims, or harm to our competitive position as a
result of data theft, cyberattacks or other security vulnerabilities. In connection with our offerings, we collect, use, transmit and
store large amounts of personal and business information about our WSEEs, employees paid under our traditional payroll
solution, and clients, including payroll information, personal and business financial data, social security numbers, bank account
numbers, tax information and other sensitive personal and business information. Attacks on information technology systems
continue to grow in frequency and sophistication (including the use of emerging artificial intelligence technologies) , and we
and our third- party vendors are targeted by unauthorized parties using malicious tactics, code and viruses. Hardware or
applications we develop or procure from third- party vendors may contain defects in design or other problems that could
unexpectedly compromise the confidentiality, integrity or availability of data or our systems. Because the techniques used to
obtain unauthorized access and disable or sabotage systems change frequently and may be difficult to detect for long periods of
time, we and our third- party vendors may be unable to anticipate these techniques or 1mplement adequate preventlve measures.
Further, esr-increased reliance by us and our clients on remote workforces 6 p
workremetely-impacts our control over cybersecurity protection and service stability and performance Wthh increases our
exposure to cybersecurity and privacy issues. As these threats continue to evolve, we may be required to invest significant
additional resources to modify and enhance our information security and controls or to investigate and remediate any security
vulnerabilities. We have limited ability to monitor the implementation of similar safeguards by our vendors and do not have the
ability to monitor such implementation by our clients or their employees, including WSEEs. In addition, our services also
involve the use and disclosure of personal and business information to us that could be used by a malicious party to commit
identity theft or otherwise gain access to the data or funds of our clients or their employees, including WSEEs. If any person,
including any corporate employee or WSEE , misappropriates or misuses such funds, documents or data, we may have liability
for damages, and our reputation could be substantially harmed and we may have other liabilities that could have a material
adverse effect on our business. Any cyberattack, unauthorized intrusion, malicious software infiltration, network disruption,
denial of service attack, ransomware attack, corruption of data, theft of private or other sensitive information, or similar
malicious act by a party (including our corporate employees or WSEESs ), or inadvertent acts or omissions by our vendors or
clients, our own corporate employees or WSEEs , could result in the loss, disclosure or misuse of confidential or proprietary
information, and could have a material adverse effect on our business operations or that of our clients, result in liability or
regulatory sanction, or cause a loss of confidence in our ability to serve clients. We may not have adequate insurance coverage
to compensate us for losses from a security incident. Accordingly, the impact of a data security incident could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Failure to comply with privacy, data protection and
cybersecurity laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations or financial
condition, or have other adverse consequences. We are subject to various laws, rules and regulations relating to the collection,
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use, transmission and security and privacy of personal and business information. Most states and the District of Columbia have
enacted notification rules that may require notification to regulators, clients or employees in the event of a privacy breach. In
addition, new laws and regulations governing data privacy and the unauthorized disclosure of confidential information pose
increasingly complex compliance challenges and potentially elevate our costs. It is possible that these laws and regulations may
be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our data practices. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines, this
could result in an order requiring that we change our data practices, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Complying with these various laws and regulations could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business
practices in a manner adverse to our business. For example, we incurred additional costs and reallocated internal resources in
order to comply with the requirements of the California Privacy Rights Act (“ CPRA ), which amended the California
Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (“ CCPA ”) and became effective on January 1, 2023, which has required us to reallocate
additional resources in order to manage compliance in light of the changes implemented by the CPRA. Other states have
adopted or are currently contemplating additional privacy requirements. Generally, these laws do not address the coemployment
relationship, which requires us to make determinations as to the requirements applicable to our 282623-272024 Form 10- K
WSEEs and our PEO Outsourcing Solutions clients. The future enactment of similar laws, rules or regulations, or an adverse
determination as to the applicability of these laws, rules, or regulations to us, could have a material adverse impact on us through
increased costs or restrictions on our businesses and noncompliance could result in regulatory penalties and significant liability.
Additionally, any failure by us to comply with these laws and regulations, including as a result of a security or privacy breach,
could result in significant penalties and liabilities for us. The failure of third- party providers, such as financial institutions, data
centers, or cloud- service providers, could have a material adverse effect on us. In conjunction with providing services to clients,
we communicate and rely on financial institutions to electronically transfer funds for the collection of our comprehensive
service fee as well as the payment of wages and associated payroll tax withholdings. Communication failures or other failures
involving these financial institutions, for any reason, could cause material interruptions to our operations, impact client
retention, and result in significant penalties or liabilities to us. We lease hosting facilities for our data centers at two separate
facilities with one facility acting as our primary data center. These facilities host the majority of our business applications,
telecommunications equipment, information security infrastructure, and network equipment. If our data centers experience any
interruptions or outages, and our business continuity plan is delayed or fails, then our operations may be materially impacted,
which could result in our failure to meet our obligations to our clients, WSEEs, tax authorities, and / or other vendors, which
could damage our reputation, subject us to liability, and have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
In addition, some of our systems and services rely upon third- party technology. Examples include, the human capital
management system on which our Workforce Acceleration solution is based, the data analytics solution on which our Insperity
People Analytics solution is based, and the payroll tax calculation and reporting tools that provide the rates used to calculate
payroll taxes for our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions, among others. In addition, the joint solution that we are developing
with Workday will be based on Workday’ s human capital management solution. Any failure by these service providers to
deliver their services in a timely manner and in compliance with applicable laws could result in material interruptions to our
operations; subject us to substantial fines, penalties, and other liabilities; damage our reputation; and result in a loss of clients.
Other Operational Risks We may not fully realize the anticipated benefits of our strategic partnership and plans to develop a
joint solution with Workday, fres-which could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of
operations. We have announced a strategic partnership and are ptans-to-develop-developing a joint solution with Workday ;tae
. <The joint solution would involve, among other things, the offering of our PEO services using Workday 2> s human
capital management solution, as well as joint marketing and sales efforts. The joint solution also requires integration
with other third- party vendors and with our proprietary system for our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions . The success of
the strategic partnership and joint solution will depend on many factors, and we may not realize all, or any, of the anticipated
benefits. We have devoted substantial resources and incurred significant costs to develop the joint solution, and expect to
continue to devote substantial resources and te incur significant costs te-develop-thejomntsetationr. The strategic partnership
and plans to develop a joint solution involve numerous risks, including that we may be unable to complete the development and
implementation of the joint solution, or that development and implementation of the joint solution may be more difficult, time-
consuming, or costly than expected , including due to difficulties with integrations with third party vendors . We may also
not receive the expected sales, marketing, and other benefits from the strategic partnership. The full benefit of the strategic
partnership requires the cooperation of the two companies on sales, marketing, and technology matters, as well as our ability to
successfully integrate and implement the Workday- based solution with our other processes and systems in a manner that allows
us to maintain compliance as a professional employer organization and incorporate appropriate financial and management
systems and controls. In addition, we may fail to effectively market or sell the joint solution, or there may be less demand than
anticipated for the joint solution. The initiatives related to the strategic partnership, including the development of the joint
solution, may divert the attention of our technology, service, compliance, marketing, sales, management, and other teams away
from our existing business solutions, which could result in the loss of existing or prospective clients or fines, penalties, or other
liabilities if our existing business solutions and compliance are disrupted. We may also have conflicts or disagreements with
Workday, which could disrupt the strategic partnership, could impact the development of the joint solution, and could lead to
termination of the strategic partnership. 282024 Form 10- K The occurrence of one or more of these events could result in our
failure to achieve anticipated growth or revenues, or require us to devote additional resources to the strategic partnership or the
development of the joint solution, or to lose the investments made relating to the development of the joint solution, any of
which could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations , as well as
reputational damage that could negatively impact our sales and retention efforts . 292623Ferm—+0-—K-Failure to integrate
or realize the expected return on future product offerings, including through acquisitions, strategic partnerships, and



investments, could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of operations. We have adopted a
strategy to market and sell additional solutions within and outside of our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions. As part of this
strategy, periodically we make strategic long- term decisions to partner with (including as a reseller arrangement) , invest in
and / or acquire new companies, business units or assets in order to offer new or enhanced solutions. Offering new solutions
involves a number of risks such as entering markets or businesses in which we have no prior experience and that may be highly
regulated; failing to integrate the new solution into our product and service offerings; diversion of technology, service,
compliance, marketing, sales, management and other teams from other business concerns; in the case of a partnership or
reseller arrangement, reliance on the service and technology of the third party; in the case of an investment or acquisition,
over- valuation of the targeted business; and litigation or government action resulting from the activities of an acquired
company or of our partner or from offering the new solution in a non- compliant manner. The occurrence of one or more of
these events could result in the loss of existing or prospective clients or employees, not achieving anticipated revenues or
profitability, impairment of acquired assets, and substantial liability. Such developments could have a material impact to our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and future growth rates , and could also result in reputational damage
that could negatively impact our sales and retention efforts . 362623-292024 Form 10- K OTHER INFORMATION Item
1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. None. Item 1C. Cybersecurity. We recognize the critical importance of developing,
implementing, and maintaining a robust cybersecurity risk management, strategy, and governance program in order to safeguard
the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our systems and information. Board Oversight of Cybersecurity Matters Our
Board has established oversight mechanisms to help ensure effective governance in managing risks associated with
cybersecurity threats. In addition to the updates that our Board receives on cybersecurity matters, the Board” s Finance, Risk
Management and Audit Committee (the “ FRMA Committee ) is tasked with overseeing enterprise risk management. The
FRMA Committee reviews and discusses major risk exposures with management, including cybersecurity risks, and steps
management has taken to monitor and control such exposures, including our guidelines and policies concerning risk assessment
and management. Management of and Reporting on Cybersecurity Matters Our management assumes responsibility for
assessing, identifying, and managing cybersecurity risks, threats, and incidents. In particular, our Senior Vice President of
Innovative Technology Solutions (“ SVP- ITS ”) is responsible for our overall technology strategy, including overseeing our
information security function and plays a pivotal role in assessing and managing all cybersecurity risks, threats, and incidents.
The SVP- ITS reports directly to our President and Chief Operating Officer (“ President and COO ”) and maintains regular
dialogue with our President and COO and other key members of our senior management to ensure these individuals are
appropriately apprised of our latest cybersecurity posture and developments, such as new threats, incidents, risks, and risk
management solutions. Our SVP- ITS prepares reports for each regular Board meeting regarding significant developments in
these topics to support the Board in its efforts to have appropriate information to exercise oversight on critical cybersecurity
issues. Our current SVP- ITS has decades of experience overseeing leading systems and software development efforts with
critical cybersecurity components. The SVP- ITS is supported by dedicated information technology and security personnel and
resources, including team members that have numerous cybersecurity certifications. Collectively, these personnel and resources
allow us to strategically integrate cybersecurity into our broader risk management framework and decision- making process. We
also have an Enterprise Risk Management Steering Committee (the “ ERM Steering Committee ), which is responsible for
formally identifying and evaluating risks that may affect our ability to execute our corporate strategy and fulfill our business
objectives, including cybersecurity risks. The ERM Steering Committee is chaired by the Company’ s chief financial officer and
includes the Company’ s SVP- ITS, general counsel, internal audit director, and other members of management. The ERM
Steering Committee conducts an annual comprehensive risk review of our overall risk profile and analyzes any significant
identified risks, including consideration of risks relating to cybersecurity matters, which the ERM Steering Committee then
presents and discusses with the FRMA Committee and the entire Board. In addition to the formal annual review, members of the
ERM Steering Committee review and provide periodic updates as appropriate regarding our overall risk profile and any
significant identified risks to both the FRMA Committee and the entire Board. We have processes in place that we believe are
designed to allow our information security team and management to be informed of and monitor the prevention, detection,
mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity risks. These processes include establishing a formal incident response team,
penetration testing, system vulnerability scanning, phishing simulations, tabletop exercises, employee security and compliance
training, disaster recovery planning, and other exercises to evaluate the effectiveness of our information security program and
improve our security measures and planning. 3+2623-302024 Form 10- K Engagement of Third Parties on Risk Management
Recognizing the complexity and evolving nature of cybersecurity threats, we engage with a range of external experts, including
cybersecurity consultants and systems auditors, in evaluating and testing our risk management systems. Our collaboration with
these third parties includes regular audits, threat and vulnerability assessments, incident response plan design and testing,
penetration testing, and consultation on improving our defense- in- depth security posture. Overseeing Third- Party Risk We
have processes in place designed to help us identify and oversee cybersecurity risks associated with our use of vendors, service
providers, business partners, and other third parties that process our data on our behalf or have access to our systems. These
processes include a vendor management policy designed to identify and consider potential risks from third parties as part of the
vendor section process, which considers vendor cybersecurity standards and other factors based on the nature of the services that
the vendor will provide. Impact on the Company We have experienced, and may continue to experience, cyber incidents in the
normal course of our business. However, prior cybersecurity incidents have not had a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. For further discussion, see Item 1A. *“ Risk Factors — Disruptions of our
information technology systems could damage our reputation and materially disrupt our business operations ” and Item 1A. *
Risk Factors- We could be subject to reduced revenues, increased costs, liability claims, or harm to our competitive position as a
result of data theft, cyberattacks or other security vulnerabilities. ” 322623-312024 Form 10- K PROPERTIES Item 2.



Properties. We believe our current real estate and facilities are adequate for the purposes for which they are intended and
provide for further expansion to accommodate our long- term growth and expansion goals. We believe that short- term leased
facilities are readily available if needed to accommodate near- term needs if they arise. We will continue to evaluate the need for
additional facilities based on the extent of our product and service offerings, the rate of client growth, the geographic
distribution of our client base and our long- term service delivery requirements. Corporate Facilities Our corporate headquarters
is located in Kingwood, Texas, in a campus- style facility. This 33- acre company- owned office campus includes 700, 000
square feet of office space and approximately 6 acres of undeveloped land for future expansion. Development and support
operations are located in the Kingwood facility. We currently lease three-two hosting facilities, totaling approximately 2-1 , 366
800 square feet, that are in different locations. The hosting facilities house the majority of our business applications,
telecommunications equipment and network equipment. The facilities, located in Allen, Texas ;and Austin ;Fexas;-and-Bryan-,
Texas, are under lease until 2028 ;-and 2030 ;ard2024-, respectively. Service Centers We currently have four regional service
centers located in Atlanta, Dallas, Houston and Los Angeles. The Atlanta service center, which currently services approximately
35-34 % of our WSEE base, is located in a 4750 , 886-600 square foot facility under lease until 2035. The Dallas service center,
which currently services approximately 22 % of our WSEE base, is located in a 45, 000 square foot facility under lease until
2031. In addition to the service center operations, the facility also contains sales operations. The Houston service center, which
currently services approximately 22-23 % of our WSEE base, is located on our corporate campus. The Los Angeles service
center, which currently services approximately 21 % of our WSEE base, is located in a 39, 000 square foot facility under lease
until 2029. In addition to the service center operations, the facility also contains sales operations. Sales and Service Offices As
of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had sales and service personnel in 83 facilities located in 45-48 sales markets throughout the
United States. All of the facilities are leased and some are shared by multiple sales offices and / or client service personnel. As
of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had 98-106 sales offices in these 45-48 markets. To take advantage of economic efficiencies,
multiple sales offices may share a physical location. Each sales office is typically staffed by sevente-nine-BPAs, a district sales
manager and an office administrator. In addition, we have placed certain client service personnel in a majority of our sales
markets to provide high- quality, localized service to our clients in those major markets. We expect to continue placing client
service personnel in sales markets as a critical mass of clients is attained in each market. 332623-322024 Form 10- K LEGAL
PROCEEDINGS Item 3. Legal Proceedings. We are not a party to any material pending legal proceedings other than ordinary
routine litigation incidental to our business that we believe would not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
results of operations, except as discussed in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “ Commitments and
Contingencies, ” which is incorporated herein by reference. 342623-332024 Form 10- K MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES Item
4. Mine Safety Disclosures. Not applicable. 352623-342024 Form 10- K EXECUTIVE OFFICERS Item S- K 401 (b).
Executive Officers of the Registrant. The following table sets forth the names, ages (as of February +3 , 2624-2025 ) and
positions of Insperity’ s executive officers: NameAgePositionPaul J. S&W&d&é#@haiﬂﬂaﬂ—SarvadeChalrman of the Board &
Chief Executive OfficerA. Steve Arizpe6éPrestdent-Arizpe67President & Chief Operating OffieerDeuglas-S-OfficerJames D .
-Shafpé%E*eeufwe-AlhsonSGExecutlve Vlce Pleqldent of Finance, Chlef Financial Ofﬁcer & TreasurerChrlstlan

efﬁeefehﬂsﬁftn—P G&Heﬂsé%—SeﬂtefCallensSSSenlor Vlce Premdent of Legal General Counqel & Secxetary Paul J. Sarvadi has
served as Chairman of the Board & Chief Executive Officer since August 2003. Mr. Sarvadi co- founded Insperity in 1986 and
served as Vice President and Treasurer of Insperity from its inception in 1986 through April 1987, as Vice President from April
1987 through 1989 and as President and Chief Executive Officer from 1989 to August 2003. Prior to founding Insperity, Mr.
Sarvadi started and operated several small businesses. Mr. Sarvadi has served as President of NAPEO and was a member of its
Board of Directors for five years. Mr. Sarvadi was selected as the 2001 National Ernst & Young Entrepreneur Of The Year ®
for service industries. In 2004, he received the Conn Family Distinguished New Venture Leader Award from Mays Business
School at Texas A & M University. In 2007, he was inducted into the Texas Business Hall of Fame. A. Steve Arizpe has served
yras— as premotedto-President & Chief Operating Officer #-since May 2019 frerr-. He is responsible for providing strategic
leadership to sales, marketing, human resources, client services, traditional employment solutions and information
technology to drive growth, customer satisfaction and client retention. Mr. Arizpe joined Insperity in 1989 as Houston
Sales Manager. Since the-then pesition-, he has served in various roles, including Regional Sales Manager, National Sales

Manager, V1ce Pres1dent of Sales, and Executlve Vice Pleqldent of Chent Serv1ce§ a-nd-ehief—epefa&ﬂg—efﬁeer,—vﬂﬂeh—he—hae}

sales and %aleq management roles for NCR Corporatlon and Clarke Amerlcan He has also %erved asa dlrector of the Texas
Chapter of NAPEO, on the board of CultureShapers, an organization devoted to area high school students pursuing their
interests in the visual and performing arts, ane-on the board of the Cynthia Woods Mitchell Pavilion and Somebody Cares
America, a nonprofit organization that engages in disaster response, compassions outreach and leadership development .
Mr. Arlzpe gf&du&ted-earned hlS Bachelor S degree in Busmess Management from Texas A & M Umverqlty #1979;




mittee-of NA M S8 eertifted-pb eeountant-. James D. Allison has served as Executive Vice
Pre51dent of Fmance, Chlef Flnanclal Ofﬁcer & Treasurer since November 2024. He previously served as Executive Vice
President of Comprehensive Benefits Solutions &and Chief Profitability Officer sitee-from May 2023 until his promotion to
the current position . Mr Alhson Jomed lnsperlty in 1997 and has—held pesﬁ-tens—varlous roles of tnefeased-mcreasmg
responsibility in the neludingManag ot-Are : ee ot
Ana-}yﬁs—Maﬂagmg—Btreeteﬁ%F-manee—ﬁnance department untll 2011 In that same year a-nd—he was promoted to Semor
Vice President of Pricing and Cost Analysis. In May 2018, ke-Mr. Allison was promoted to Senior Vice President of Gross
Profit Operations and assumed responsibilities for the Company’ s gross profit drivers, including pricing, benefit plans
and workers’ compensation programs. He scrved in saeh-this capacity until his subsequent promotion to Executive Vice
President of Gross Profit Operations in May 2022. Mr. Allison has served on the Accounting Practices Committee of NAPEO
and, prior to joining Insperity, he worked in the audit practice of Ernst & Young LLP. Mr. Allison earned his Bachelor of
Business Administration and Master in Professional Accounting degrees from the-The University of Texas at Austin and is a
certified public accountant. Christian P. Callens has served as Senior Vice President of Legal, General Counsel & Secretary
since January 2024. Mr. Callens joined Insperity in January 2014 as Managing Counsel and Assistant Secretary, in which role
he led the Transactions and Corporate Law Practice Group. He was promoted to Deputy General Counsel, Managing Counsel &
Assistant Secretary in October 2022. Prior to joining Insperity in 2014, Mr. Callens was counsel in the corporate practice of
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP. He also previously held an executive position at a privately- held technology
company. Mr. Callens began his legal career as a law clerk for the Honorable John Minor Wisdom of the United States Fifth
Circuit Court of Appeals. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from The University of Texas at Austin and a Juris 362623-Ferm
+6-¥K-Doctor degree from Tulane University Law School, where he was senior managing editor of the Tulane Law Review and
a member of Fhe-the Order of the Coif. 372623-352024 Form 10- K STOCK ACTIVITIES PART II Item 5. Market for
Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. Common Stock Our
common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “ NSP. ”” As of February +3 , 2624-2025 , there
were 6+60 holders of record of our common stock. This number does not include stockholders for whom shares were held in
nominee ” or ““ street name. ” Dividend Policy During 2623-2024 , we paid dividends of § 89 €4—2-million. The payment of
dividends is made at the discretion of our Board and depends upon our operating results, financial condition, capital
requirements, general business conditions and such other factors as our Board deems relevant. The following table provides
information about purchases by Insperity during the three months ended December 31, 2023-2024 of equity securities that are
registered by Insperity pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act: PeriodTotal Number of Shares Purchased (1) (2) Average
Price Paid per ShareTotal Number of Shares Purchased Under Announced Program (2) Maximum Number of Shares Available
for Purchase under Announced Program (2) 10 /01 /2023-2024 — 10 /31 / 26231426-202498 $ 98-88 . 20-91 — 1, 969-598 ,
562559 11 /01 /2623-2024 — 11 /30 /2023—————202440, 000 78. 24 40, 000 1, 965-558 , 562-559 12 /01 / 2623-2024 —
12/31/26232871H6-2024105, 815 80 —. 92 105, 795 1, 969452 , 562-764 Fetal407-Total145 , 913 $ +H4-80 . 34—19 145,
795 (1) During the three months ended December 31, 2623-2024 , 467-118 shares
of stock were withheld to satisfy tax- withholding obligations arising in conjunction with the vesting of restricted stock units.
The required withholding is calculated using the closing sales price reported by the New York Stock Exchange on the date prior
to the applicable vesting date. These shares are not subject to the repurchase program. (2) Our Board of Directors has approved a
program to repurchase shares of our outstanding common stock. During the three months ended December 31, 2623-2024 , no
145, 795 shares were repurchased under the program. On August 1, 2023, we announced our Board of Directors had
authorized an increase of 2, 000, 000 shares that may be repurchased under the program. As of December 31, 2623-2024 ,
we were authorized to repurchase an additional 1, 969-452 , 562-764 shares under the program. Unless terminated earlier by
resolution of our Board, the repurchase program will expire when we have repurchased all shares authorized for repurchase
under the repurchase program. 382623-362024 Form 10- K Performance Graph The following graph compares our cumulative
total stockholder return since December 31, 2048-2019 , with the S & P Smallcap 600 Index, the S & P Midcap 400 Index, and
the S & P Composite 1500 — Human Resource & Employment Services Index. The graph assumes that the value of the
investment in our common stock and each index (including reinvestment of dividends) was $ 100 on December 31, 2648-2019 .
COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN * Among Insperity, Inc., the S & P Smallcap 600 Index, the S
& P Midcap 400 Index and the S & P Composite 1500 — Human Resource and Employment Services Index * § 100 invested on
12 /31 /4819 in Insperity stock or in the specified index, including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.
Copyright © 2024 Standard & Poor' s, a division of S & P Global. All rights reserved. 12 A8+2-/ 1912 /2012 /2112 /2212 /
2312 / 23Insperity-24Insperity . [nc. 100. 00 93-96 . 25-56-84 145 . 3+1435-44 142 . 62-433-65 150 . 621+39-11 101 . 9883 S &
P Smallcap 600100. 00 111 4227843664173~ 29 +45-141 . 3916813 118 . 73-41 137. 42 149. 37 S & P Midcap 400100. 00
126-113 . 26-66 141. 80 123. 28 143. 44178-54 163 . 54 951455-5848++15-S & P Composite 1500 — Human Resource &
Employment Services100. 00 +22-100 . 794+23-85 152 . 83-43 113. +87- 87 121 . +6-139-22 143 . 93 8+1448-84-This graph shall
not be deemed “ filed ” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section, nor
shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, regardless of any
general incorporation language in such filing. Item 6. [ Reserved ]. 392623-372024 Form 10- K MANAGEMENT’ S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS Item 7. Management’ s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. You should read the following discussion in
conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included elsewhere in this annual report. Historical
results are not necessarily indicative of trends in operating results for any future period. The statements contained in this annual
report that are not historical facts are forward- looking statements that involve a number of risks and uncertainties. The actual
results of the future events described in such forward- looking statements in this annual report could differ materially from those




stated in such forward- looking statements. Among the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially are the risks
and uncertainties discussed in Item 1A. Risk Factors and the uncertainties set forth from time to time in our other public reports
and filings and public statements. Executive Summary Overview Our long- term strategy is to provide the best small and
medium- sized businesses in the United States with our specialized human resources service offering and to leverage our buying
power and expertise to provide additional valuable services to clients. Our most comprehensive HR services offerings are
provided through our Workforce Optimization ® and Workforce SynchronizationTM solutions (together, our “ PEO HR
Outsourcing Solutions ”’), which encompass a broad range of human resources functions, including payroll and employment
administration, employee benefits, workers’ compensation, government compliance, performance management and training and
development services, along with our cloud- based human capital management solution, our Insperity PremierTM platform. Our
overall operating results can be measured in terms of revenues, gross profit or adjusted EBITDA per WSEE per month. We
often use the average number of WSEEs paid during a period as our unit of measurement in analyzing and discussing our results
of operations. In addition to our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions, we offer a comprehensive traditional payroll and human capital
management solution, known as our Workforce AccelerationTM solution, our traditional payroll solution. We also offer a
number of other business performance solutions, including Recruiting Services, Employment Screening, Retirement Services,
and Insurance Services. These other products or services generally are offered only with our other solutions. 2623-2024
Highlights « Average number of WSEEs paid per month inereased-decreased 2 5—8-% to 3+2-307 , +62-261 . Revenues
increased 1 9+2-% on the-5—8-%-WSEE-growth-and-a 3 —2-% increase in revenue per WSEE , partially offset by the 2 %
decrease in average WSEEs paid . -+ We ended 2023-2024 averaging 345-309 , 872-093 paid WSEEs in the fourth quarter of
%92—3—2024 Wthh represents a2 %—% -rnefease—decrease over the fourth quarter of 292—2—2023 —We—e*peet—t-he—avefage—nttmbef

Appr0x1rnately 26 —14%—a-nd—24—9—% of our average pard WSEEs were in our mrddle market sector for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022;respeetively-, which is generally defined as companies with 150 to 5, 000 WSEEs. ¢
Gross profit 1ncreased 12-5%to $ 1. 6-1 billion. The increase was primarily due to a 3 the-5—8-% grewth-increase in gross
profit the-average-namber-of WSEEspaid-per month-WSEE , which was partially offset by a 2 3—4% deetrease-decline in gress
profit-the average number of WSEEs paid per W-SEE-month . Gross profit per WSEE paid per month reflected, in part, a 3 —2
% pricing increase offset by a 3 4—5-% increase in direct costs per WSEE. The increase in direct costs per WSEE was primarily
attributable to a 4 6-6-% increase in benefits costs per participant. * Operating expenses increased 14 F-5-% in 2023-2024 to $
935 $4+8—3-million, and included increases in travel and event costs, salary and wages, and the implementation of a-CRM
setation-our Workday strategic partnership . On a per WSEE per month basis, operating expenses increased from $ 245219
in 20222023 to $ 249-253 in 2023-2024 . * Net income and diluted earnings per share (“ Diluted EPS ”) decreased 47 44-% and
46 3% to $ 91 ¥H—4-million and $ 42 . 4742 , respectively. «Adjusted-EBIFDA-inereased-0—4-%to-$353—6-mitkien:
462023Form1+0-K— Adjusted net income and adjusted EPS decreased 36 2-6-% and 35 % to $ 135 2H-—Fmillion and $ 3.
58, respectively . « Adjusted ERS-EBITDA decreased 24 +-3-% to $ 5-270 million . 52-382024 Form 10- K ¢ Our net income
per WSEE per month decreased 46 % from $ 46 in 2023 to $ 25 in 2024 . - Our adjusted EBITDA per WSEE per month
decreased 22 6-0-% from $ +686-94 in 2622-2023 to $ 94-73 in 2023-2024 . - We ended 2023-2024 with working capital of § 155
+59-0-million. » During 2023-2024 , we paid $ 89 84-—2-million in dividends, repurchased approximately 697 5259-, 000 shares
of our common stock at a cost of $ 63 +3+-5-million and paid $ 38 49-—+-million in capital expenditures. Please read “ Non-
GAAP Financial Measures ” for a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income , and adjusted EPS to their most
directly comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States (“ GAAP ). We account for our revenues in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC )
606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions gross billings to clients include the payroll
cost of each WSEE at the client location and a markup computed as a percentage of each WSEEs payroll cost. We invoice the
gross billings concurrently with each periodic payroll of our WSEEs. Revenues, which exclude the payroll cost component of
gross billings, and therefore, consist solely of the markup, are recognized ratably over the payroll period as WSEEs perform
their service at the client worksite. This markup includes pricing components associated with our estimates of payroll taxes,
benefits and workers’ compensation costs, plus a separate component related to our HR services. Revenues that have been
recognized but not invoiced represent unbilled accounts receivable included in accounts receivable, net on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Our revenues are primarily dependent on the number of clients enrolled, the resulting number of WSEEs paid
each period and the number of WSEEs enrolled in our benefit plans. Because our total markup is computed as a percentage of
payroll cost, certain revenues are also affected by the payroll cost of WSEEs, which may fluctuate based on the composition of
the WSEE base, inflationary effects on wage levels and differences in the local economies of our markets. Direct Costs The
primary direct costs associated with revenue- generating activities for our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions are: * employment-
related taxes (““ payroll taxes ) * costs of employee benefit plans « workers’ compensation costs Payroll taxes consist of the
employer’ s portion of Social Security and Medicare taxes under FICA, federal unemployment taxes and state unemployment
taxes. Payroll taxes are generally paid as a percentage of payroll cost. The federal unemployment tax rates are defined by federal
regulations. State unemployment tax rates are subject to claim histories and vary from state to state. Employee benefits costs are
comprised primarily of health insurance premiums and claims costs (including dental and pharmacy costs), but also include
costs of other employee benefits such as life insurance, vision care, disability insurance, education assistance, adoption
assistance, a flexible spending account program and an employee well- being program. Workers’ compensation costs include
administrative and risk charges paid to the insurance carrier, and claims costs, which are driven primarily by the frequency and
severity of claims. Our gross profit per WSEE is primarily determined by our ability to accurately estimate and-eentret-direct
costs and our ability to incorporate changes in these costs into the gross billings charged to PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions
clients, which are subject to pricing arrangements that are typically renewed annually. We use gross profit per WSEE per month



as our principal measurement of relative performance at the gross profit level. 442623-392024 Form 10- K Operating Expenses
« Salaries, wages and payroll taxes — Salaries, wages and payroll taxes (“ salaries ) are primarily a function of the number of
corporate employees, their associated average pay and any additional cash incentive compensation. Our corporate employees
include client services, sales and marketing, benefits, legal, finance, information technology, administrative support personnel
and those associated with our other products and services. * Stock- based compensation — Our stock- based compensation
relates to the recognition of non- cash compensation expense over the requisite service period of time- vested-based and
performance- based incentive plan awards. * Commissions — Commissions expense consists primarily of amounts paid to sales
managers and other sales personnel, including BPAs as well as channel referral fees. Commissions are based on new accounts
sold and a percentage of revenue generated by such personnel. « Advertising — Advertising expense primarily consists of media
advertising and other business promotions in our current and anticipated sales markets, including the Insperity Invitational ™
presented by UnitedHealthcare ® sponsorship.  General and administrative expenses — Our general and administrative
expenses primarily include:  rent expenses related to our service centers and sales offices ° outside professional service fees
related to legal, consulting and accounting services ° administrative costs, such as postage, printing and supplies ° employee
travel and training expenses ° facility costs, including repairs and maintenance ° technology costs, including software- as- a-
service (“ SaaS ) subscription costs afe, amortization of SaaS implementation costs , and costs associated with the
development and implementation of the Workday joint solution. « Depreciation and amortization — Depreciation and
amortization expense is primarily a function of our capital investments in corporate facilities, service centers, sales offices,
software development and technology infrastructure. Other Income (Expense) Other income (expense) includes interest charges
incurred in connection with borrowings under our credit facility and interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents,
marketable securities, restricted cash and deposits. Please read “ — Liquidity and Capital Resources ™ for additional
information. Income Taxes Our provision for income taxes typically differs from the U. S. statutory rate of 21 %, due primarily
to state income taxes, non- deductible expenses, vesting of equity awards and various tax credits. Deferred income taxes reflect
the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities used for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant items resulting in deferred income taxes include prepaid
assets, accruals for workers’ compensation expenses, stock- based compensation, software development costs, accrued incentive
compensation, operating lease assets and liabilities and depreciation. Changes in these items are reflected in our financial
statements through a deferred income tax provision. Please read Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “ Income
Taxes, ” for additional information. The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based
upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these
financial statements requires 402024 Form 10- K our management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 422023-Ferm+0-JK—expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate these estimates, including those related to health and workers’ compensation
insurance claims experience, client bad debts, income taxes, property and equipment, goodwill and other intangibles, and
contingent liabilities. We base these estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. We believe
the following accounting policies are critical and / or require signifieantjudgments and estimates used in the preparation of our
Consolidated Financial Statements: ¢ Benefits costs — We provide group health insurance coverage under a single- employer
plan that covers both our WSEEs in our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions and our corporate employees and utilizes a national
network of carriers including United, UnitedHealthcare of California, Kaiser Permanente, Blue Shield of California, HMSA
BlueCross BlueShield of Hawaii , and Fafts-Henown-as-Harvard Pllgrlm Health Care , formerly known as Tufts (HRHE)
beginningi12024)-, all of which provide fully insured policies or service contracts. The health insurance contract with United
provides the majority of our health insurance coverage. As a result of certain contractual terms, we have accounted for this plan
since its inception using a partially self- funded insurance accounting model. Accordingly, we record the costs of the United
plan, including an estimate of the incurred claims, taxes and administrative fees (collectively the “ Plan Costs ), as benefits
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Ineeme-and-Comprehenstve-Income. The estimated incurred but not reported claims
are based upon: (1) the level of claims processed during the quarter; (2) estimated completion rates based upon recent claim
development patterns under the plan; and (3) the number of participants in the plan, including both active and COBRA
enrollees. Each reporting period, changes in the estimated ultimate costs resulting from claim trends, plan design and migration,
participant demographics and other factors are incorporated into the-benefits costs. Our EffeetiveJanuary1+,20620-we-entered

-mte—aﬁ—aﬁ&ngement—wﬂaefeby—eufﬁnanmal responsibility with United is limited to the first $ 1 million of paid claims per
claimant per year. Additionally, since the plan’ s inception, under the terms of the contract, United establishes cash funding

rates 90 days in advance of the beginning of a reporting quarter. If the Plan Costs for a reporting quarter are greater than the
premiums paid and owed to United, a deficit in the plan would be incurred and we would accrue a liability for the excess costs
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. On the other hand, if the Plan Costs for the reporting quarter are less than the premiums
paid and owed to United, a surplus in the plan would be incurred and we would record an asset for the excess premiums in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The terms of the arrangement with United require us to maintain an accumulated cash surplus in
the plan of § 9 —8-million, which is reported as long- term prepaid insurance. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , Plan Costs were
more than the net premiums paid and owed to United by $ 23=5 million. As this amount is less than the agreed- upon $ 9 -8
million surplus maintenance level, the $ 14 32-5-million difference is included in accrued health insurance costs, a current
liability, in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, the premiums owed to United at December 31, 2623-2024 , were less
than $ 1 6-5-million, which is also included in accrued health insurance costs, a current liability, on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. We believe that recent claim development patterns are representative of incurred but not reported claims costs during the



reporting period. The estimated completion rate used to compute incurred but not reported claims involves a significant level of
judgment. Accordingly, an increase (or decrease) in the completion rate used to estimate the incurred claims would result in an
increase (or decrease) in benefits costs and net income would decrease (or increase) accordingly. The following table illustrates
the sensitivity of changes in the completion rate on our estimate of total benefits costs of $ 3. 0 billion in 2623-2024 : Change
inCompletion RateChange in Benefits Costs (in theusands-millions ) Change in Net Income (in theusands-millions ) (2. 5) % $ (
3129:8H) § 22 7744-(1. 0) % (12 H5948-) 9 7098-1. 0 % 12 H5948(9 5098-) 2. 5 % 31 29, 8H22 744-) 432623-412024
Form 10- K « Workers’ compensation costs — Since 2007, our workers’ compensation coverage has been provided through an
arrangement with Chubb. The Chubb Program is fully insured in that Chubb has the responsibility to pay all claims incurred
under the policy regardless of whether we satisfy our responsibilities. Under the Chubb Program for claims incurred on or
before September 30, 2019, we have financial responsibility to Chubb for the first $ 1 million layer of claims per occurrence
and, for claims over $ 1 million, up to a maximum aggregate amount of $ 6 million per policy year for claims that exceed $ 1
million. Effective for claims incurred on or after October 1, 2019, we have financial responsibility to Chubb for the first $ 1. 5
million layer of claims per occurrence and, for claims over $ 1. 5 million, up to a maximum aggregate amount of $ 6 million per
policy year for claims that exceed $ 1. 5 million. Because we bear the financial responsibility for claims up to the levels noted
above, such claims, which are the primary component of our workers’ compensation costs, are recorded in the period incurred.
Workers’ compensation insurance includes ongoing health care and indemnity coverage whereby claims are paid over numerous
years following the date of injury. Accordingly, the accrual of related incurred costs in each reporting period includes estimates,
which take into account the ongoing development of claims and therefore requires judgment. We utilize a third- party actuary to
estimate our loss development rate, which is primarily based upon the nature of WSEESs’ job responsibilities, the location of
WSEEs, the historical frequency and severity of workers’ compensation claims, and an estimate of future cost trends. Each
reporting period, changes in the actuarial assumptions resulting from changes in actual claims experience and other trends are
incorporated into our workers’ compensation claims cost estimates. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2022~ we reduced accrued workers’ compensation costs by $ 32 million and $ 33 —S-mitien-and-$422-million, respectively,
for changes in estimated losses related to prior reporting periods. Workers” compensation cost estimates are discounted to
present value at a rate based upon the U. S. Treasury rates that correspond with the weighted average estimated claim payout
period (the average discount rate was 4. 3 % in both 2024 and 2023 and2-9-%12022-) and are accreted over the estimated
claim payment period and included as a component of direct costs in our Consolidated Statements of lreome-and
€omprehenstve-Income. Our claim trends could be greater than or less than our prior estimates, in which case we would revise
our claims estimates and record an adjustment to workers’ compensation costs in the period such determination is made. If we
were to experience any significant changes in actuarial assumptions, our loss development rates could increase (or decrease),
which would result in an increase (or decrease) in workers’ compensation costs and a resulting decrease (or increase) in net
income reported in our Consolidated Statements of Income and-Comprehenstvetneome-. The following table illustrates the
sensitivity of changes in the loss development rate on our estimate of workers’ compensation costs totaling $ 75 #4—million in
2623-2024 : Change in Loss Development RateChange in Workers” Compensation Costs (in theusands-millions ) Change inNet
Income (in theusands-millions ) (5. 0) % $ (4) $ 3 (5926352 798%. 5) % (2 —5-) %€1 796331494-2. 5 % 2 (1 7963494
5.0 % 4 (3 7926-298F) At the beginning of each policy period, the workers’ compensation insurance carrier establishes
monthly funding requirements comprised of premium costs and funds to be set aside for payment of future claims (““ claim funds
). The level of claim funds is primarily based upon anticipated WSEE payroll levels and expected workers” compensation loss
rates, as determined by the insurance carrier. Monies funded into the program for incurred claims expected to be paid within one
year are recorded as restricted cash, a short- term asset, while the remainder of claim funds are included in deposits, a long- term
asset in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. In 2023-2024 , we received $ 39 46—3-million for the return of excess claim funds
related to the workers’ compensation program, which decreased deposits — workers’ compensation. As of December 31, 2623
2024 , we had restricted cash of $ 69 57F<4-million and deposits — workers’ compensation of $ 178 98-2-million. We have
estimated and accrued $ 204 220 3-million in incurred workers’ compensation claim costs as of December 31, 2023-2024 . Our
estimate of incurred claim costs expected to be paid within one year is recorded as accrued workers’ compensation costs and is
included in short- term liabilities, while our estimate of incurred claim costs expected to be paid beyond one year is included in
long- term liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. 442623-422024 Form 10- K New Accounting Pronouncements We
believe that we have implemented the accounting pronouncements with a material impact on our financial statements and do not
believe there are any new or pending pronouncements that will materially impact our financial position or results of operations.
Please read Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “ Accounting Policies, ” for additional information. 452623Ferim
+0-K-Key Financial and Statistical Data (in theusands-millions , except per share, WSEE, and statistical data) Year Ended
December 31, % €hange2023202226242623-Change2024202320222024 ¥26222622-v20232023 262+ Fmnanetal
v2022F1na1101al data: Revenues (1) $ 6, 485581 $ 6 , 874486 $ 5, 939 1 % 938-8+8-$4,-973,-670-9 2-9%+94-% Gross
profitl, 052 636;863-1, 037 1, 011 17233-820;1622-5% 233 % Operating expenses935 818 761 14 expenses§is;254-766;
994-646;773-7-5% +7+-7 % Operating neene248—- incomel17 219 ;-549-250 (47) % 7239473732912 —F) %444 Other
income (expense), feté-net9 6 7529-(4-8+H-(5 764+ 50 235-6-% 220 3—9-% Net ineemetH—- income91 171 5382-179 (47)
% 73561246804 —4) %44—5-% Diluted EPS4-EPS2 .42 4 . 47 4. 64 3148+ 46 3—7) % 45-9-(4) % Non- GAAP financial
measures (2): Adjusted net income $ 135 2H5735-5 212 245;9475 +54;-626-216 (36) % (2 —6-) %462 Adjusted
EBITDA270 354 EBHDA353;-636-352 (7295254 24) 7946-6-4-% 1 382-% Adjusted EPS5-EPS3 .58 5 . 52 5. 59 395
35) % (1 —3-) %4+-5""% Average WSEEs patd3+2-paid307, 261 312 , 102 295, 005 (2) 250;745-5-8-% 6 +7—7F" Statistical
data (per WSEE per month): Revenues (3) $ 1,785 81, 732 $ 1, 678 $4-653-3 ~% 3 % Gross profit285 277 286 3 % (3) %
Operating expenses253 219 21516 % 2 % {%—Operatmg 1nc0me32 58 71 (45) % Gressprofit277286273-31%4—8%
Operating-expenses2H0-2+5-2451+-9-%—Operating-ineome587H58( 18 —3-) %22-4-% Net ineomed46-income2S 46 51 41+ 46



9-8-) % 24—4-(10) % Adjusted EBITDA (2) 73 94 100 85-(22) % (6 —6-) %1++6-%
(1) Revenues are comprised of gross billings less WSEE payroll costs as follows:
Year Ended December 31, (in thetsands-millions ) 202326222021-Gress—---- 202420232022Gross billings $ 43, 752 $ 43, 141 5
366-5 40, 127 126;940-$33;348,693-1 ess: WSEE payroll eest36-cost37 , 171 36 , 655 ;495-34, 188 709228,345,623
Revenues $ 6, 485581 $ 6 , 871486 S 5, 939 938,-848-$4,-973,-670-(2) Pledse read “ Non- GAAP Financial Measures ” for a
reconciliation of the non- GAAP financial measures to their most directly comparable financial measures calculated and
presented in accordance with GAAP. (3) Revenues per WSEE per month are comprised of gross billings per WSEE per month
less WSEE payroll costs per WSEE per month as follows: 432024 Form 10- K Year Ended December 31, (per WSEE per
month) 262320222021 Gress—--- 202420232022Gross billings $ 11,866 $ 11, 519 § 11, 335 $3H5073-.ess: WSEE payroll
eostd-costl10, 081 9, 787 9, 657 95420-Revenues $ 1, 785 $ 1, 732 $ 1, 678 $4-653462623 Form1+0-—K-Key Operating Metrics
We monitor certain key metrics to measure our performance, including: « WSEEs ¢ Adjusted EPS Our growth in the number of
WSEEs paid is affected by three primary sources: new client sales, client retention and the net change in WSEEs paid at
existing clients through new hires and employee terminations. * During 2023-2024 , the average number of WSEEs paid from
new client sales and-increased 2 % from 2023. Average client retention declined from 83 % in 2023 to 81 % in 2024, while
the net gainrdoss)-change in our client base remained positive, although lower than 2023. « During 2023, the average
number of WSEEs pald from new cllent sales and the net change in our client base declined compared to 2022. Avemg

i i tons-tmproved: Avemge WSEEs Pald and Year over- Year GrowthPefeeﬂt&ge
PercentageNet Income (—rn—t-heus&ﬂds)—Adjﬁsted—E-B{:PDA—and Year- over- Year Growth Percentage (in thousands-millions )
Adjusted-EPS and Year- over- Year Growth Percentage (amounts per share) 442024 Form 10- K Adjusted EBITDA and
Year- over- Year Growth Percentage (in millions) Adjusted EPS and Year- over- Year Growth Percentage (amounts per
share) 2024 Compared to 2023 Our revenues for 2024 were $ 6. 6 billion, an increase of 1 %, primarily due to the
following: * Revenues per WSEE per month increased 3 %, or $ 53, partially offset by a 2 % decrease in average WSEEs
paid. 2023 Compared to 2022 Our revenues for 2023 were §$ 6. 5 billion, an increase of 9 —2-%, primarily due to the following: *
Avemge WSEEs pald mcre’lsed 65—8—% Re\ enues pel WSEE pel month increased 3 —2-%, or $ 54 47%92—3—452024 Form 10—

Outsourcmg Solutions to small and med1um s1zed busmesses throughout the Unlted Stdtes PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions
revenue distribution by region follows: PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions Revenue by Region Note: Texas is included in the
Southwest region. The percentage of total PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions revenues in our significant markets include the
following: Significant Markets 482623Ferm—10-K-In determining the pricing of the markup component of our gross billings,
we take into consideration our estimates of the costs directly associated with our WSEESs, including payroll taxes, benefits and
workers’ compensation costs, plus an acceptable gross profit margin. As a result, our operating results are significantly
1mpacted by our ablhty to dccurately estimate our direct costs reldtl\ e to the revenues dem ed from the mdlkup component of

(Jrowth Percentage (1n ﬂ&eﬂs&nds-mllllons ) Gross Proflt per WSEE per Month andYear- over- Year Growth Percentage (per
WSEE per month) Our pricing objectives attempt to achieve a level of revenue per WSEE that matches or exceeds changes in
primary direct costs and operating expenses. Our revenues per WSEE per month increased $ 54-53 due to higher average pricing
of 3 % . 2022-The net inerease-decrease in direct costs between 2622-2024 and 2624-2023 attributable to the changes in cost
estimates for benefits and workers’ compensation totaled $ 15 6=Fmillion as discussed below.The $ +2-4S per WSEE per month
increase in direct costs is due primarily to the direct cost component changes as follows:* The cost of group health insurance and
related employee benefits deereased-$-9-per-W-SEE-per-menth;but-increased +$ 20 per WSEE per month,or 4 . 2-3 % on a cost
per covered employee basis.* The percentage of WSEEs covered under our health insurance plans was 64 % in 2024 compared
to 65 4% in 2622-2023 eompared-to-67-6-%411262+.» Reported results include changes in estimated claims run- off related to
prior periods,which was an-a tnerease-decrease in costs of $ 29 +23-million,or $ 8 per WSEE per month,in 2024 compared to
a decrease in costs of $ 13 million,or $ 3 per WSEE per month,in 2022-2023 eempared-to-.Please read “ — Critical
Accounting Policies an-and inerease-in-Estimates — Benefits eosts-Costs ” of $4-9-million;or-for $2-per- WSEE-permenth;in
2021+-a discussion of our accounting for health insurance costs Our contmued dlsc1phne around our client selection,
workplace safety and claims management een S arestt-has allowed for
claims within our policy periods to be closed out at amounts below our original cost estimates.® Workers compensation costs
increased 2 % , or $ 1 per WSEE per month, in 2024 compared to 2023.  As a percentage of non- bonus payroll cost,
workers’ compensation costs were 0. 24 % in 2024 and 0. 23 % in 2023. * We recorded a reduction in workers’
compensation costs of $ 32 million, or 0. 10 % of non- bonus payroll costs, in 2024 compared to a reduction of $ 33
million, or 0. 11 % of non- bonus payroll costs, in 2023, primarily as a result of closing out claims at lower than expected
costs. 472024 Form 10- K Please read “ — Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — Workers' Compensation Costs
” for a discussion of our accounting for workers’ compensation costs. Payroll tax costs * Payroll taxes increased 2 % on a
1 % increase in payroll costs, or $ 24 per WSEE per month. * Payroll taxes as a percentage of payroll costs increased to 7
% in 2024 compared to 6 % in 2023 . The net decrease in direct costs between 2023 and 2022 attributable to the changes in




cost estimates for benefits and workers” compensation totaled $ 16 —4-million as discussed below. The $ 63 per WSEE per
month increase in direct costs is due primarily to the direct cost eompenents— component changes as follows: ¢ The cost of
group health insurance and related employee benefits increased $ 44 per WSEE per month, or 7 6—6-% on a cost per covered
employee basis. * The percentage of WSEEs covered under our health insurance plans was 65 —8-% in both 2023 and eempared
+0-65—4-%-11-2022. « Reported results include changes in estimated claims run- off related to prior periods, which was a decrease
in costs of § 13 —9—m1ll1on or$3 per WSEE per month in 2023 comp"lred to an mcre’lse in costs of b 12 —l—1n1ll1on or b 3 per

safety and clalms management contr 1buted to the small increase in our cost per WSEE and, as a result, has allowed for cl"ums
within our policy periods to be closed out at amounts below our original cost estimates. * Workers’ compensation costs
increased 12 —+%, or $ 1 per WSEE per month, in 2023 compared to 2022. « As a percentage of non- bonus payroll cost,
workers’ compensation costs were 0. 23 % in both 2023 and 2022. « We recorded a reduction in workers’ compensation costs of
$ 33 =5-million, or 0. 11 % of non- bonus payroll costs, in 2023 compared to a reduction of § 42 —2-million, or 0. 14 % of non-
bonus payroll costs in 2022, prnnarlly asa result of closmo out claims at lower than expected costs. P—le&se—fead“—eﬂt-tea-l-

eeﬁrpeﬂsa-t—teﬂ—eesfs—lla-yfel-l—ta*ees-ts— Payroll tdxes mcre’lsed -8—9 % on a 7 —2—% increase in pdyroll costs or b 18 per WSEE

per month. ¢ Payroll taxes asa percentage of pdyroll costs 1ncrea§ed to 6. 5 % in......, workers’ compensation costs in 2022 were

3—94;—&1%92—1%—1%92—3—Form lO K The tollowmo table presents certain mform"mon related to our operatm;a expenses: Year Ended
December 31, per WSEE (in theusands-millions, except per WSEE) 20242023 % Change20242023 % ChangeSalaries $ 521
$461 13 % $ 141 $ 123 15 % Stock- based compensation61 53 15 % 17 14 21 % Commissions47 47 — 13 13 —
Advertising38 37 3 % 10 10 — General and administrative: Amortization of SaaS implementation costs11 6 83 % 3 2 50
% Workday SaaS licensing and implementation expenses29 — — 8 — — All other general and administrativel84 171 8
% 49 46 7 % Total general and administrative224 177 27 % 60 48 25 % Depreciation and amortization44 43 2 % 12 119
% Total operating expenses $ 935 $ 818 14 % $ 253 $ 219 16 % Operating expenses for 2024 increased 14 % to $ 935
million compared to $ 818 million in 2023. Operating expenses per WSEE per month for 2024 increased 16 % to $ 253
compared to $ 219 in 2023. » Salaries of corporate and sales staff for 2024 increased 13 % to $ 521 million, or $ 18 per
WSEE per month, compared to 2023. The increase was primarily due to a 5 % increase in BPA, service, technology and
support headcount and staff compensation levels in 2024 compared to 2023.  Stock- based compensation expense for
2024 increased 15 % to $ 61 million, or $ 3 per WSEE per month, compared to 2023. The increase was primarily due to
time- based restricted stock unit awards issued under our incentive plan. Please read Note 1 “ Accounting Policies ” and
Note 9 “ Incentive Plans, ” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. * General and
administrative expenses for 2024 increased 27 % to $ 224 million, or $ 12 per WSEE per month, compared to 2023. The
increase was primarily due to increased professional services fees, which includes expenses related to the implementation
of our Workday strategic partnership, software licensing and maintenance costs, and amortization of SaaS
implementation costs. 492024 Form 10- K Year Ended December 31, per WSEE (in millions , except per WSEE) 20232022
% Change20232022 % ChangeSalaries $ 461 466;-745-5 431 7 436;,945-6-9-% § 123 § 122 1 6-8-% Stock- based
eompensation52-compensations3 ;-996-50 6 7086-5-8-% 14 14 — Commisstons46-Commissions47 46 ;847456722 —6-% 13
13 — Advertising37 5324-37 — 55630-"53%-10 11 (9 —) % General and administrativel77 664-156 7434-13 8% 48 44 9 -
+9% Depreciation and amertizationd2-amortizationd3 41 -708-46;-660-5 —6-" 11 11 — Total operating expenses $ 818 ;254-$
761 760;994-7 —5-% $ 219 $ 215 2 +9-% Operating expenses for 2023 increased 7 —5-% to § 818 —3-million compared to $ 761
—6-million in 2022. Operating expenses per WSEE per month for 2023 increased 2 4+9-% to $ 219 compared to $ 215 in 2022. «
Salaries of corporate and sales staff for 2023 increased 7 6=9-% to $ 461 466—Fmillion, or $ 1 per WSEE per month, compared
to 2022. The increase was primarily due to an increase in BPA, service and support headcount and staff compensation levels,
which was partially offset by lower incentive compensation expense in 2023 compared to 2022. « Stock- based compensation
expense for 2023 increased 6 5—8% to $ 53 —8-million, but remained flat on a per WSEE per month basis, compared to 2022.
The increase was prrmdrrly due to awards issued under our long- term incentive and restricted stock unit pfegr-a—m—programs 7

Accounting Policies ”” and Note 9 “ Incentive Plans > to the ( onsol1dqted Financial Statements for add1t1or1dl 1r1tormatron .
Commissions expense for 2023 increased 2 —6-% to $ 47 46—8-million, but remained flat on a per WSEE per month basis,
compared to 2022. The increase was primarily due to commissions associated with our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions, as well
as an increase in the amount of sales channel referral fees paid during 2023. ¢ General and administrative expenses for 2023
increased 13 —8-% to $ 177 —Fmillion, or $ 4 per WSEE per month, compared to 2022. The increase was primarily due to
increased travel and event costs, software licensing and maintenance costs, and amortization of SaaS implementation costs. ¢
Depreciation and amortization expense for 2023 increased 5 —6-% to $ 43 42—7-million, but remained flat on a per WSEE per
month basis, compared to 2022. The increase was primarily due to increased capital expenditures related to computer hardware

and software and software development costs. Other income 522023-Ferm10-K—YearEnded-Deeember3tper-W-SEE-(
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other income was due to an increase in interest ratei on our marketable 9ecur1t1e% 1llve§tmenti and workers’ compen%atlon
deposits, which was partially offset by an increase in interest expense related to higher average interest rates on borrowings
under our credit facility. Please read Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “ Other Balance Sheet Information, ” for
additional information. Income Tax Expense Our effective income tax rate was 28 23—9-% in 2024, 24 % in 2023 and 27 ;269
% in 2022 ard26-—3-%1202+. Our provision for income taxes differed from the U. S. statutory rate of 21 % primarily due to
state income taxes and non- deductible expenses, offset by 532623Ferm+6-—tk—excess tax benefits associated with the vesting of
equity compensation of less than $ 1 49-million, $ 5 8-—2-million and less than $ 1 2-6-million, in 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and
20624, respectively. Please read Note 1 “ Accounting Policies ” and Note 7 “ Income Taxes, ” to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information. 502024 Form 10- K Non- GAAP financial measures are not prepared in accordance with
GAAP and may be different from non- GAAP financial measures used by other companies. Non- GAAP financial measures
should not be considered as a substitute for, or superior to, measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with
GAAP. Investors are encouraged to review the reconciliation of the non- GAAP financial measures used to their most directly
comparable GAAP financial measures as provided in the tables below. Non- GAAP MeasureDefinitionBenefit of Non- GAAP
MeasureNon- bonus payroll costNon- bonus payroll cost is a non- GAAP financial measure that excludes the impact of bonus
payrolls paid to our WSEEs. Bonus payroll cost varies from period to period, but has no direct impact to our ultimate workers’
compensation costs under the current program. Our management refers to non- bonus payroll cost in analyzing, reporting and
forecasting our workers’ compensation costs. We include these non- GAAP financial measures because we believe they are
useful to investors in allowing for greater transparency related to the costs incurred under our current workers’ compensation
program. Adjusted cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiesExcludes funds associated with: ¢ federal and state income
tax withholdings, * employment taxes, ¢ other payroll deductions, and ¢ client prepayments. We believe that the exclusion of the
identified items helps us reflect the fundamentals of our underlying business model and analyze results against our expectations,
against prior periods, and to plan for future periods by focusing on our underlying operations. We believe that the adjusted
results provide relevant and useful information for investors because they allow investors to view performance in a manner
similar to the method used by management and improves their ability to understand and assess our operating performance.
Adjusted EBITDA is used by our lenders to assess our leverage and ability to make interest payments. EBITDARepresents net
income computed in accordance with GAAP, plus: ¢ interest expense, * income tax expense, * depreciation and amortization
expense, and ¢ amortization of SaaS implementation costs. Adjusted EBITDARepresents EBITDA plus: ¢ non- cash stock-
based compensation. Adjusted net incomeRepresents net income computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding: ¢ non- cash
stock- based compensation. Adjusted EPSRepresents diluted net income per share computed in accordance with GAAP,
excluding: ¢ non- cash stock- based compensation. Following is a reconciliation of payroll cost (GAAP) to non- bonus payroll
costs (non- GAAP): (in theusands-millions , except per WSEE per month) Year Ended December 3 1, 202320222624 Per
202420232022Per WSEEPer WSEEPer WSEEPayroll cost $ 37,171 $ 10, 081 $ 36, 655 74955 9, 787 § 34, 188 +092-$ 9, 657
$28,345623-$9,420- ess: Bonus payroll eestd-cost5 , 101 1,383 4, 978 ;439-1, 329 4, 960 959;987-1, 401 4-H9247+
568-Non- bonus payroll cost $ 32,070 $ 8,698 $ 31, 677 79565 8, 458 $ 29,228 ;405-$ 8, 256 Payroll cost $23;-626,-406-57;
852-% €hange-change year over yearl % 3 % 7 % 1 % 21 % 3 % Non- bonus payroll cost % change year&—- year —4-over
yearl % 3 % 8 % 2 —4-% 24 23-7% 5 —+% 512024 +4-5%6-6-9%542023-Form 10- K Following is a reconciliation of cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities (GAAP) to adjusted cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities (non- GAAP):
(in theusands-millions ) December 31, 2023Beeember-2024December 3 1, 2022€ash-2023Cash , cash equivalents and
marketable securities $ 708-1 , 7#8-055 $§ 709 765,896-Less: Amounts payable for withheld federal and state income taxes,
employment taxes and other payroll deductions 830 510 ;092-564;8+7-Client prepayments27-prepayments91 28 ;-592-36,-866



Adjusted cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 134 $ 171 1-894-$224-279-Following is a reconciliation of net
income (GAAP) to EBITDA (non- GAAP) and adjusted EBITDA (non- GAAP): Year Ended December 31, (in theusands
millions , except per WSEE per month) 202326222024Per-202420232022Per WSEEPer WSEEPer WSEENet income $ 91 $ 25
$ 1715382546 $ 179 ;3565 51 $424,-080-$4+-Income tax expense53— expense35 ;696-8 54 14 66 97519 4423815
Interest expense27-expense28 ;1378 27 7 14 ;2674 #-4582-Amortization of SaaS implementation eestsS-costs11 -74+3 6 2 2
| 5923+——Depreciation and amertizationd2-amortizationd4 ;768-12 43 11 41 46,6661 | 3854713 EBHDA366
EBITDA209 5-634-56 301 30 302 ;245-86 244;323-H-Stock- based eompensationrS2-compensation61 -996-17 53 14 50 ;-086
+4-46:-623-14 Adjusted EBITDA $ 353-636-270 $ 73 $ 354 § 94 § 352 +295-$ 100 Net income $254;-946-5-85-" Change
change year over year6— year —(47) % (46) % (4 ) % (10) % 44 % 24 % Adjusted EBITDA % change year over year (24)
% (22) % 1 % (6 -6-) % 38 2% 18 6% %F+5)"% Following is a reconciliation of net income (GAAP) to
adju%ted net income (non- GAAP): Year Ended December 31, (in theusands-millions ) 2602320222624 Net-202420232022Net
income $ 91§ 171 53825 179 ;356-$424;-686-Non- GAAP adjustments: Stock- based eompensation52-compensation61 53 5
996-50 7086-46;-623-Tax effect ( 17) (12 7643-) (13 5483310;67F) Total non- GAAP adjustments, net46-netd4 41 37 ;353
36;-59729;:-946-Adjusted net income $ 135 2H5735-5 212 24579475 +54,-626-216 Net income %, €hange-change year over
year (47) % (4) % 44 % Adjusted net income % change year over year (36) % (2 —6-) % 40 —2-% 522024 5-—1%
552623-Form 10- K Following is a reconciliation of diluted EPS (GAAP) to adjusted EPS (non- GAAP): Year Ended December
31, (amounts per share) 202326222021 DHuted—--- 202420232022Diluted EPS $2.42 $ 4. 47 § 4. 64 $348Non- GAAP
adjustments: Stock- based compensationl. 61 1. 38 1. 30 +-84-Tax effect (0. 45) (0. 33) (0. 35 3H6-—2F) Total non- GAAP
adjustments, netl. 16 1. 05 0. 95 8-F7F-Adjusted EPS $3.58 $ 5. 52 $ 5. 59 Diluted EPS $3-95-% Change-change ycar over
year (46) % (4) % 46 % Adjusted EPS % change year over year (35) % ( | —3-) % 42 4-—-5%4-9% We periodically
evaluate our liquidity requirements, capital needs and availability of resources in view of, among other things, our expansion
plans, stock repurchases, potential acquisitions, debt service requirements and other operating cash needs. To meet short- term
liquidity requirements, which are primarily the payment of direct costs and operating expenses, we rely primarily on cash from
operations. Longer- term projects, large stock repurchases or significant acquisitions may be financed with public or private debt
or equity. We have a revolving credit facility (“ Facility ”’) with a syndicate of financial institutions with a current borrowing
capacity of $ 650 million. The Facility is available for working capital and general corporate purposes, including acquisitions
and stock repurchases. We have in the past sought, and may in the future seek, to raise additional capital or take other steps to
increase or manage our liquidity and capital resources. We had $ 788-1 . 8-1 mithies-billion in cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities at December 31, 2023-2024 , of which approximately $ 390 $+8—million was payable in early January
2624-2025 for withheld federal and state income taxes, employment taxes and other payroll deductions, and-approximately $ 91
27 -6-million represented client prepayments that were payable in January 2025, and $ 440 million of funds we received in late
December 2024 from the Internal Revenue Service related to employee retention tax credits claimed by our PEO clients
under COVID relief programs that are expected to be distributed to clients in early 2025 . At December 31, 2023-2024 ,
we had working capital of $ 155 +59-0-million compared to $ 159 +58-5-million at December 31, 20222023 . We currently
believe that our cash on hand, marketable securities, cash flows from operations, and availability under the Facility will be
adequate to meet our liquidity requirements for 2624-2025 . We intend to rely on these same sources, as well as public and
private debt or equity financing, to meet our longer- term liquidity and capital needs. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had
outstanding letters of credit and borrowings totaling $ 370 —4-million under the Facility. Please read Note 6 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, “ Long- Term Debt, ” for additional information. Cash Flows from Operating Activities Net cash provided
by operating activities in 2623-2024 was $ 520 +98—5-million. Our primary source of cash from operations is the comprehensive
service fee and payroll funding we collect from our clients. Our cash and cash equivalents, and thus our reported cash flows
from operating activities, are significantly impacted by various external and internal factors, which are reflected in part by the
changes in our balance sheet accounts. These include the following: ¢ Timing of client payments / payroll taxes — We typically
collect our comprehensive service fee, along with the client’ s payroll funding, from clients no later than the same day as the
payment of WSEE payrolls and associated payroll taxes. Therefore, the last business day of a reporting period has a substantial
impact on our reporting of operating cash flows. For example, many WSEEs are paid on Fridays; therefore, operating cash
flows decrease in the reporting periods that end on a Friday or a Monday. In the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , the last
business day of the reporting period was a Friday-Tuesday , client prepayments were $ 2791 million and employment taxes
and other deductions were $ 830 million, which included $ 440 million of funds related to client employee retention tax
credits received on their behalf from the Internal Revenue Service that are expected to be distributed to clients in early
2025 . 6-In the year ended December 31, 2023, the last business day of the reporting period was a Friday, client
prepayments were $ 28 mllhon and employment taxes and other deductlons were $ 510 —l—mllhon 532024 Form 10- K{-n—t-he

2024 and 2023 aﬁd—ZGQQ— we received $ 39 mllllon and $ 46 —3—m1-1-1-teﬁ—aﬁd—$—39€—mllhon reqpectlvely, for the return of
excess claim funds related to the workers” compensation program, which resulted in an increase in working capital. 562623
Form10-I— Medical plan funding — Our health care contract with United establishes participant cash funding rates 90 days in
advance of the beginning of a reporting quarter. Therefore, changes in the participation level of the United plan have a direct
impact on our operating cash flows. In addition, changes to the funding rates, which are solely determined by United based
primarily upon recent claim history and anticipated cost trends, also have a significant impact on our operating cash flows. As of
December 31, 2023-2024 , Plan Costs were more than the net premiums paid and owed to United by $ 235 million, which is $
14 325-million less than our agreed- upon $ 9 —8-million surplus maintenance level. The $ 14 32--5-million difference is
therefore reflected as a current liability and $ 9 —8-million is reflected as a long- term asset on our Consolidated Balance Sheets—



Sheet at December 31, 2623-2024 . In addition, the premiums owed to United at December 31, 2623-2024 , were less than $ 1
6—5-million, which is included in accrued health insurance costs, a current liability, on our Consolidated Balance Sheets— Sheet.
In addition, the premiums owed to United at December 31, 2024, were less than $ 1 million, which is included in accrued
health insurance costs, a current liability, on our Consolidated Balance Sheet . < Operating results — Our net income and
adjusted net income has a significant impact on our operating cash flows. Our net income and adjusted net income decreased 47
2-6-% and 36 % to $ 91 2H-—Fmillion and $ 135 million in 2024, respectively, compared to $ 171 million and $ 212 million
in 2023, respectively eempared-to-$-245-9-mitheonin2022-. Please read ““ Results of Operations. ” Cash Flows from Investing
Activities Net cash flows used in investing activities were $ 38 2—1—7—m11110n for the year ended December 31, %92—3—2024
primarily due to property and equipment pareha 6 ; arkete 3
maturittes-and-dispositions;net-of-purchases. Cash F lows from Financing Act1V1t1es Net cash ﬂows used in ﬁnancmg activities
were $ 173 +55-6-million for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . We paid $ 89 84—=2-million in dividends and
repurchased or withheld $ 63 434—5-million in stock. In addition, client funds liability and other financing activities inereased
decreased by $ 21 68—Fmillion. Seasonality, Inflation and Quarterly Fluctuations Our quarterly earnings are impacted by the
seasonal nature of our medical claims costs and payroll taxes. Typically, medical claims costs tend to increase throughout the
year with the fourth quarter being the period with the highest costs, which has a negative impact on our fourth quarter earnings.
This trend is primarily the result of many WSEEs’ medical plan deductibles being fully met by the fourth quarter, which
increases our liability with respect to those claims. We have also experienced variability on a quarterly basis in medical claims
costs based on the unpredictable nature of large claims. Payroll taxes and associated billings are computed based on an
employee’ s annual taxable wage base. The annual payroll tax wage bases are frequently met in the first two quarters of each
year depending on the employee’ s compensation levels. As a result, the gross profit contribution from payroll taxes is typically
higher in the first two quarters and declines in the latter half of each year. These historical trends may change and other seasonal
trends may develop in the future. For further information related to our health insurance costs, please read “ — Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates — Benefits Costs. ” We believe the effects of inflation have not had a significant impact on
our results of operations or financial condition; however, inflationary pressure could adversely impact our profitability in the
future. 572023-542024 Form 10- K QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES Item 7A. Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. We are primarily exposed to market risks from fluctuations in interest rates and the
effects of those fluctuations on the market values of our cash equivalent short- term investments and our available- for- sale
marketable securities. In addition, borrowings under our Facility bear interest at a variable market rate. As of December 31,
2023-2024 , we had outstanding letters of credit and borrowings totaling $ 370 —4-million under the Facility. Please read Note 6
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “ Long- Term Debt, ” for additional information. Our cash equivalent short- term
investments consist primarily of overnight investments, which are not significantly exposed to interest rate risk, except to the
extent that changes in interest rates will ultimately affect the amount of interest income earned on these investments. Our
available- for- sale marketable securities are subject to interest rate risk because these securities generally include a fixed interest
rate. As a result, the market values of these securities are affected by changes in prevailing interest rates. We attempt to limit our
exposure to interest rate risk primarily through diversification and low investment turnover. Our investment policy is designed
to maximize after- tax interest income while preserving our principal investment. As a result, our marketable securities consist
of tax- exempt short and 1ntermed1ate term debt securities, Wthh are prlmarlly U. S. Treasury bills ;as-wel-aspre-and our
workers’ compensation - ref § P veserow-deposits consist of cash and highly- liquid
investments, primarily money market funds eent&tnmg—U—S—Gevemment—Seeﬂﬂﬁes— Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data. The information required by this Item 8 is contained in a separate section of this Annual Report. See
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements. ” $82623-552024 Form 10- K DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. Item 9A. Controls and
Procedures. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures In accordance with Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 and 15a- 15, we
carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2623-2024 . Design and Evaluation of Internal Control
over Financial Reporting Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, we included a report of management’ s
assessment of the design and effectiveness of our internal controls as part of this Annual Report on Form 10- K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, also audited our
internal control over financial reporting. Management’ s report and the independent registered public accounting firm” s audit
report are included in our 2823-2024 Consolidated Financial Statements under the captions entitled “ Management’ s Report on
Internal Control ” and ““ Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, ” and are incorporated herein by reference.
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended December
31,2623-2024 , that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting. Item 9B. Other Information. Trading Plans During the fourth quarter of 2623-2024 , none of our directors or executive
officers adopted or terminated a * Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement ” or a *“ non- Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement ” (as each
term is defined in Item 408 of Regulation S- K). Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
5$92623-562024 Form 10- K MANAGEMENT AND CERTAIN SECURITY HOLDERS PART III Item 10. Directors,
Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. Some of the information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the
Insperity Proxy Statement. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Our Board adopted our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
(the “ Code of Ethics ), which meets the requirements of Rule 303A. 10 of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company
Manual and Item 406 of Regulation S- K. You can access our Code of Ethics on the Corporate Governance page of our website




at insperity. com. Changes in and waivers to the Code of Ethics for our directors, executive officers and certain senior financial
officers will be posted on our website within five business days and maintained for at least 12 months. Insider Trading We
have adopted a policy on the prevention of insider trading, governing the purchase, sale and other dispositions of our
securities by directors, officers, and employees. We believe that our trading policy is reasonably designed to promote
compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and any applicable listing standards. A copy of our policy
on the prevention of insider trading is filed as Exhibit 19 to this Form 10- K. Item 1 1. Executive Compensation. The
information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Insperity Proxy Statement. Item 12. Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions, and Director Independence. Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services. 662623-572024 Form 10- K
EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES PART IV Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules. (a) 1.
Financial Statements of the CompanyThe Consolidated Financial Statements listed by the Registrant on the accompanying Index
to Consolidated Financial Statements are filed as part of this Annual Report. (a) 2. Financial Statement SekedulesThe
SchedulesSchedules have been omitted since they are not applicable, not required , not material, or the information is
included elsewhere herein inthe-ConselidatedFinanetal-Statements-orNetes-therete-. (a) 3. List of Exhibits Exhibit No.
Exhibit3. 1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K filed on May 29, 2018). 3. 2Amended and Restated Bylaws of Insperity, Inc. dated November 15,
2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on November 17, 2023).
4. 1Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement
on Form S- 1 (No. 33- 96952)). 4. 2Description of Registrant’ s Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2 to the
Registrant’ s Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2019). 4. 3Rights Agreement dated as of May 21, 2020 between
Insperity, Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N. A., as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the
Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on May 22, 2020). 4. 4Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on
May 22, 2020). 4. 5Certificate of Elimination with Respect to Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Insperity, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on May 26, 2021). 10. 1
Insperity, Inc. 2001 Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Registrant’ s
definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed on March 18, 2009 (No. 1- 13998)). 10. 2 1 Form of Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement for awards granted to executive officers on or after December 30, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 18
to the Registrant’ s Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2019). 10. 3 + Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for
awards granted to certain senior personnel on or after December 30, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 19 to the
Registrant’ s Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2019). 10. 4 + Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for awards
granted to other employees on or after December 30, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 20 to the Registrant’ s Form
10- K for the year ended December 31, 2019). 10. 5 £t Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for awards granted to
executive officers on or after January 29, 2024 —(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. S to the Registrant’ s Form 10- K
for the year ended December 31, 2023). 10. 6 *-i Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for awards granted to certain
senior personnel on or after January 29, 2024 —(mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 6 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- K

for the year ended December 31, 2023). 10. 7 *-i Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for awards granted to certain other
employees on or after January 29, 2024 —(1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 . 7 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- K for the
year ended December 31, 2023). 582024 Form 10- K Exhibit No. Exhibit10 . 8 ¥ Form of Employee Award Notice and
Agreement under LTIP granted on or after December 30, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 22 to the Registrant’ s
Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2019). 10. 9 2+ Form of Employee Award Notice and Agreement under LTIP
granted on or after January 29, 2024 (1nc0rporated by reference to Exhibit 10 . 612623-9 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- K
ExchibitNo-for the year ended December 31, 2023) . Exhibitd}0-10 . 10 | Directors Compensation Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2012). 10. 11 + Amendment to
the Directors Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 6 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K
filed on February 22, 2013). 10. 12  First Amendment and Appendix A to Directors Compensation Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on February 25, 2015). 10. 13 § Directors
Compensation Plan (as amended and restated April 1, 2017) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant’ s
Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017). 10. 14 * + Directors Compensation Plan (as amended and restated
January 1, 2025) 10. +Hnsperity-15Insperity , Inc. 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10. 1 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 8 (No. 333- 151275)). 10. +5Insperity-16Insperity , Inc. 2012
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Registrant’ s definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed on March 29,
2012 (No. 1- 13998)). 10. +6First-17First Amendment to the Insperity, Inc. 2012 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant” s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on February 22, 2013). 10. +7Seeond-18Second
Amendment to Insperity, Inc. 2012 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report
on Form 8- K filed on February 25, 2015). 10. +8Fhird-19Third Amendment to Insperity, Inc. 2012 Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on April 1, 2016). 10.
+oInsperity-20Insperity , Inc. 2012 Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the
Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on June 21, 2017). 10. 26Frst21First Amendment to the Insperity Inc. 2012
Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 34 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- K filed for the
year ended December 31, 2019). 10. 2Hnsperity-22Insperity , Inc. Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Registrant’ s
definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 14, 2023 (No. 1- 13998)). 10. 22Insperity-23Insperity , Inc. Long-
Term Incentive Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant” s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on



April 2, 2015). 10. 23-*Insperity-24Insperity , Inc. Long- Term Incentive Program, as amended and restated January 29, 2024 -
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 24-23 to the Registrant' s Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2023).
10. 25 1 Insperity, Inc. Executive Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report
on Form 8- K filed on January 3, 2020). 10. 25-26 T Form of Participant Agreement under the Insperity, Inc. Executive
Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99. 2 to the Registrant” s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on January 3,
2020). 10. 26-27 () Minimum Premium Financial Agreement, amended and restated effective January 1, 2005, by and between
Insperity Holdings, Inc. (fka Administaff of Texas, Inc.) and United Healthcare Insurance Company (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005). 10. 2728 () Minimum Premium
Administrative Services Agreement, amended and restated effective January 1, 2005, by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc.
(fka Administaff of Texas, Inc.) and United Healthcare Insurance Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the
Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005). 592024 Form 10 - K Exhibit No . 28-Exhibit10. 29 ()
Amendment to Minimum Premium Financial Agreement, as amended effective January 1, 2009, by and between Insperity
Holdings, Inc. (fka Administaff of Texas, Inc.) and United Healthcare Insurance Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10. 1 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013). 10. 29-30 () Amendment to Minimum Premium
Financial Agreement, as amended effective January 1, 2013, by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc. and United Healthcare
Insurance Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended September
30, 2015). 10.38-31 () Amendment to Minimum Premium Administrative Services Agreement, as amended effective January 1,
2008, by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc. (fka Administaff of Texas, Inc.) and UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013). 622023Ferm
10 —KExhibitNe-. 32 Exhibith0-34-) Amendment to Minimum Premium Administrative Services Agreement, as amended
effective January 1, 2013, by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc. and UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company, effective as of
January 1, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2015). 10. 32-33 () Amendment to Minimum Premium Financial Agreement, as amended effective January 1, 2011, by and
between Insperity Holdings, Inc. (fka Administaff of Texas, Inc.) and UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company, effective as of
January 1, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2014). 10. 33-34 () Amendment to Minimum Premium Administrative Services Agreement, as amended effective January 1,
2011, by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc. (fka Administaff of Texas, Inc.) and UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company,
effective as of January 1, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2014). 10. 34-35 () Amendment to the Minimum Premium Financial Agreement, as amended effective January 1,
2015, by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc. and UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company, effective as of January 1, 2016
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016). 10.35-36 ()
Amendment to the Minimum Premium Administrative Services Agreement, as amended effective January 1, 2015, by and
between Insperity Holdings, Inc. and UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company, effective as of January 1, 2016 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016). 10. 36-37 () Amendment to the
Minimum Premium Financial Agreement, as amended effective January 1, 2016, by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc. and
UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company, effective as of January 1, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 39 to the
Registrant’ s Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2016). 10. 3738 () Amendment to Minimum Premium
Administrative Services Agreement (as previously amended effective January 1, 2016) by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc.,
and United Healthcare Insurance Company entered into as of January 1, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the
Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019). 10.38-39 () Amendment to Minimum Premium Financial
Agreement (as previously amended effective January 1, 2017) by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc., and United Healthcare
Insurance Company entered into as of January 1, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Registrant’ s Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019). 10.39-40 () Letter Agreement by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc. and United
Healthcare Insurance company entered into as of February 7, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant’
s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020). 10. 48-41 () Letter Agreement by and between Insperity Holdings, Inc. and
United Healthcare Insurance company entered into as of December 28, 2021 —(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 55 to
the Registrant' s Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2021). 10. 42 * () Letter Agreement by and between
Insperity Holdings, Inc. and United Healthcare Insurance company entered into as of October 29, 2024. 602024 Form 10-
K Exhibit No. Exhibit10. 4+Amended-43Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated February 6, 2018 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant” s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on February 12, 2018). 10. 42First-44First
Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated September 13, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1
to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on September 17, 2019). 10. 43Seeend-45Second Amendment to
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated March 9, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 of the Registrant’ s
Form 10- Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2021). 10. 44Fhird-46Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated April 28, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 of the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2021). 10. 45Feurth-47Fourth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated June 30,
2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 of the Registrant” s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on July 6, 2022). 10.
46Fifth-48Fifth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated September 28, 2023 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 1 of the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023). 24-10. 49Sixth
Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated April 26, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10. 1 of the Registrant’ s Form 10- Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2024). 19 * Policy on the Prevention of Insider
Trading21 . | * Subsidiaries of Insperity, Inc. 23 632623Ferm1t0-—KExhibitNo—Exhibit23- | * Consent of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm. 24. 1 * Powers of Attorney. 31. 1 * Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to



Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 31. 2 * Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 32. 1 * * Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley
Act 0f 2002. 32. 2 * * Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 97
Insperity-97Insperity , Inc. Policy for Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation Applicable to Executive Officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97 to the Registrant' s Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2023) . 101.
INS * Inline XBRL Instance Document- the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document. 101. SCH * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. 101.
CAL * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. 101. DEF * Inline XBRL Extension Definition
Linkbase Document. 101. LAB * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. 101. PREInline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. 104Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded with the Inline XBRL
document). * Filed herewith. * * Furnished with this report. ¥ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
required to be filed as an exhibit to this Form 10- K. () Certain portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to an order
granting confidential treatment or Item 601 (b) (10) of Regulation S- K. The omitted information is (i) not material and (ii) the
type of information the Company treats as private or confidential. ITEM 16. FORM 10- K SUMMARY . 642623-612024 Form
10- K SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Insperity,
Inc. has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 8-10 , 2624
2025 . INSPERITY, INC. By: / s / Deuglas-S-James D . Sharp-Deuglas-S-Allison James D . Sharp-Allison Executive Vice
President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer ) By: /s / Sean P. DuffySean P.
DuffySenior Vice President of Finance and Accounting ( Principal Accounting Officer) 652623-622024 Form 10- K Pursuant
to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of
Insperity, Inc. in the capacities indicated on February $-10 , 2624-2025 : SignatureTitle / s / Paul J. SarvadiChairman of the
Board, Chief Executive OfficerPaul J. Sarvadiand Director (Principal Executive Officer) / s / Beuglas-S-James D .
SharpExeeutive-AllisonExecutive Vice President of Finance, €hief-James D. AllisonChief Financial Officer & Treasurer
FreasurerDouglas-S—Sharp~(Principal Financial Officer and-) /s / Sean P. DuffySenior Vice President of FinanceSean P.
Duffyand Accounting ( Principal Accounting Officer) * DirectorTimothy Clifford * DirectorEli Jones * DirectorCarol R.
Kaufman * DirectorJohn L. Lumelleau * DirectorEllen H. Masterson * DirectorRandall Mehl * DirectorJohn Morphy *
DirectorLatha Ramchand * DirectorRichard G. Rawson * DirectorW. Philip Wilmington * By: / s / Christian P.
CallensChristian P. Callens, attorney- in- fact 662623-632024 Form 10- K CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting FirmF-—-
Firm (PCAOB ID: 42) F - 2Management’ s Report on Internal ControlF- 4Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: 42) F- 5Consolidated Balance SheetsF- 6Consolidated Statements of Ineome-and-Comprehensive
IncomeF- 7Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Eguity-EquityF and-(Defteit)y - 8Consolidated Statements of Cash
FlowsF- 9Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsF- 11 F- 42623-12024 Form 10- K REPORT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Insperity, Inc. Opinion on
the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Insperity, Inc. (the Company) as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, the related consolidated statements of income and-eomprehensive-tneome-,
stockholders' equity and-(defieit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , and
the related notes (collectively referred to as the ““ consolidated financial statements ™). In our opinion, the consohdated ﬁnanmal
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2622-, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2623
2024 , in conformity with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles. We also have audited, in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company' s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) , and our report dated
February $-10 , 2024-2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. Basis for Opinion These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company' s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit Matter The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from
the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any
way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit
matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates. F-
22023-22024 Form 10- K Estimation of the Cost of Incurred but Not Reported Health Insurance Claims Description of the
MatterAs discussed in Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements under “ Health Insurance Costs , ” the Company



provides the majority of its health insurance coverage to its employees through a fully insured health insurance policy with
UnitedHealthcare (*“ United ). While the policy with United is a fully insured plan, as a result of certain contractual terms, the
Company accounts for this plan using a partially self- funded insurance accounting model. Accordingly, the Company records
the cost of the United plan, including an estimate of the incurred claims, taxes and administrative fees, as benefits expense,
which is a component of Payroll taxes, benefits and workers’ compensation costs in the consolidated statement of ineente-and
eomprehensive-income. The estimated incurred but not reported claims under the Company’ s United insurance policy are based
upon: (i) the level of claims processed during each quarter; (ii) estimated completion rates based upon recent claim development
patterns under the plan; and (iii) the number of participants in the plan. Auditing management’ s estimate of the cost of incurred
but not reported health insurance claims was subjective and judgmental due to the significant estimation required in determining
the medical reserve. Estimating incurred but not reported claims is subjective due to the large number of plan participants and
the possibility that the number, nature, magnitude, and the timing of processing of current period claims may not be comparable
to historical results experienced by the Company. How We Addressed the Matter in Our AuditWe obtained an understanding,
evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the estimation process, including, among others,
controls over the completeness and accuracy of the data used to estimate the cost of incurred health insurance claims and the
review and approval processes that management has in place for the assumptions applied and the calculation of the cost of
incurred health insurance claims. Our audit procedures included, among others, assessing (i) the Company’ s health insurance
cost estimation methodology, (ii) significant assumptions used to develop the medical completion rates, which includes the
incurred but not reported component, (iii) the accuracy and completeness of the claims processed data used in the Company’ s
computation, as well as (iv) the historical accuracy of management’ s estimates of the cost of incurred health insurance claims.
Our testing of the medical completion rate assumptions included comparing the completion rate assumptions used by
management to the completion rates experienced in historical periods and assessing whether contrary evidence exists with
respect to the completion rate assumptions utilized by the Company to estimate the cost of incurred health insurance claims.
Furthermore, we involved our actuarial specialists to assist in our evaluation of the Company’ s methodology and compared the
Company’ s estimate to a range developed by our actuarial specialists based on the historical claim data and independently
selected assumptions. / s / Ernst & Young LLP We have served as the Company’ s auditor since 1991. Houston, Texas F- 32623
32024 Form 10- K MANAGEMENT’ S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL The Company has assessed the effectiveness of
its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“ COSO ) (2013
framework). The Company’ s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over
financial reporting. The effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024
, has been audited by the Company’ s independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report that is included
herein. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of the inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies and procedures may deteriorate. The Company’ s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over
financial reporting included testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of its internal controls. In
management’ s opinion, the Company has maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2623-2024 , based on criteria established in the COSO 2013 framework. / s / Paul J. Sarvadi / s / Deuglas-S-James D . SharpPaut
AllisonPaul J. SarvadiDouglas-S-SarvadiJames D . SharpChairman-AllisonChairman of the Board & Chief Executive
OfficerExecutive Vice President, Finance, Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer F- 42023-42024 Form 10- K Opinion on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting We have audited Insperity, Inc.” s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2623-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Insperity, Inc. (the
Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023-2024 ,
based on the COSO criteria. We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
and-2022-, the related consolidated statements of income and-eomprehenstve-tneome-, stockholders’ equity and-(defiett)y-, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , and the related notes and our report dated
February €10 , 2624-2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. The Company’ s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’ s Report on Internal Control. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit



to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion. Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting A company’ s
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’ s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. F8+Erast-&YoungEER-F - 52023-52024 Form 10- K
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (in theusands-millions , except per share amounts) December 31, 2023Deeember
2024December 3 |, 2022AssetsCash-2023 AssetsCash and cash equivalents $ 692-1 , 873039 $ 693 732,-828-Restricted cash69
57 eash57—493—49—7—7-9—Ma11<etab1e seeuritiestS-securities16 16 7965-33;-668-Accounts receivable, net829 694 net693;-878-622;
F64-Prepaid insurance and related assets7-assets25 7 ;-643-1+5-7086-Funds held for clients and other current assetsi28-assets107
128 -226-6+-728-Total current assetstassets2 , 085 1 , 595 ;2924-5H5-873-Property and equipment, net of accumulated
depreetationt97-depreciation192 197 —4%4—1-99—992—R1ght of- use (“ROU 7) leased assets57- assets6S5 57 ;438-56;-532
Deposits and prepaid health insueranee245— insurancel95 215 -676-243;270-Goodwill and other intangible assets, areti2-netl3
13 ;70712767 Deferred income taxes, net34 20 #et20;34715-533-Other assets2d— assets13 23 -38+29,354-Total assets $ 2,
597 H9-659-5 2, 120 839,261 iabilitics and stockholders' equityAccounts payable $ 10 7693-$ 11 F-F32-Payroll taxes and
other payroll deductions payable901 566 payable566;373-556;-685-Accrued worksite employee payroll costs730 559 eosts559;
4945143, 397-Accrued health insurance costs19 eests46;460- 46 53;402-Accrued workers” compensation costs71 60 eestsé0;
475-53-485-Accrued corporate payroll and eemmisstonsé4-commissions82 64 ;286-89;,447Client funds liability and other
accrued habilitiesi28 liabilities117 130 ;868-80,422-Total current liabilities1, 930 1, 436 :2894353;370-Accrued workers’
compensation costs, net of enrrentt62-currentl3s 163 ;-852+79,-629-1 ong- term debt369 7406-369 ;4080-Operating lease
liabilities, net of ewrrent57-current66 -494-55-587-- 58 Total noncurrent Habitities589-liabilitiesS70 590 - 746-664;-616
Commitments and contingenciesStockholders eentingenetes-Steekholders-' equity: Preferred stock ($ 0. 01 per share par value;
20 7-8080-shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding) — — Common stock ($ 0. 01 per share par value; 120 ;-006-shares
authorized; 55 7489-. 5 shares issued and 37 28+, 2 shares and 37 88+, 3 shares outstanding, respectively) $55-555-1 1
Additional paid- in capital222 185 e&pﬁa-l—l—Sé—G%—l—lé—l—l—44—Trea%ury Stock at cost ( 18 1”-98— 3 and -1—7—698—18 2 qhale% held in
treasury, respectively) ( 864 836;524-) ( 831 ee v 5
Retained earnings738 739 -553-655;-196-Total itockholderq equttry93—equ1ty97 94 —62-4—8—1—2—75—T0ta1 hablhtleq and
stockholders” equity $ 2, 597 H9;659-3 2, 120 939;264-Sce accompanying notes. F- 62623-62024 Form 10- K
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME-AND-COMPREHENSFE-INCOMEYear Ended December 31, (in
theusands-millions , except per share amounts) 202320222021 Reventies—--- 202420232022Revenues $ 6, 485581 $ 6 , 87
486 S 5, 939 938-818-$4;-973;-676-Payroll taxes, benefits and workers” compensation costs5, 529 5, 449 0684, 928 927585
4452,-968-Gross profitl, 052 636;863-1, 037 1, 01 1 7233-820;+02-Salaries, wages and payroll taxes521 461 431 taxes466;
H5-430;-945379+7-Stock- based eempensationr52-compensation61 53 ;-996-50 ;-086-46,-623-Commissions46
Commissions47 ;847 47 46 45;-672-34;-922 - Advertising37-Advertising38 ;324-37 37 +-50329;-697General and
administrative expenses224 177 expensest77-664-156 7134424-443-Depreciation and amertizattonrd2-amortization44 43 41
F08-46:-660-38547Total operating expenses935 818 761 expenses8i8;254-766,994-646;F73-Operating neome248—
incomel17 219 +-549-250 ;239473;-329-Other income (expense): Interest ineome33-income37 33 ;-666-9 ;3932447 Interest
expense ( 28) (27 43F) (14 7209FH458-) Income before income tax expense225-expensel26 225 -678-245 ;425168318
Income tax e*peﬂseé'-?v—h expense35 54 —696—(( —975—44—2—}8—Net income $ 91 $ 171 —}82—$ 179 —359—$—1—2-4—989—U-nfe&hfed

income per ihare of common qtockBasw $ 2 44 $ 4.53%$4.70 Dlluted $ 32. 42 Q—Z—Bi-l-uted-ﬂS 4 47 % 4 64 -$—3—1—8—F 72023
72024 Form 10- K CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AN-B—GBE—F—IGI—T—)—Common Stock
IssuedAdditional Paid- In CapitalTreasury Stee v 3 A
EarningsTotal (in theusands-millions ) Share%AmountBalance at December 31, %9%955—202155 —48-9—$ 555-1 $ 109 95;-528-5 (
665 626;:984-) $ 5-553 $ (2) 575;-628-$44;132-Purchase of treasury stock, at cost — — — ( 73 69;925-) — —( 73 69:725-)
Issuance of equity- based incentive awards and dividend equivalents — — ( 25;-9) +46- 10 y26;479—(1 339-) — Stock-
based compensation expense — — 49 1 373813;242- 50 —46;-623Exereise-of stoekoptions——329)-569———246
Other — —2 1 +7739-1 4 ;- 330——3,069-Dividends paid — — — — — 77 H43179-) ( 77 H44179 Ynrealizeddosson
marketable-seenritiessnetoftax————()—4-) Net income — — — — 179 179 —324;-680424;-680-Balance at
December 31, 202455202255 7489-$ 555-1 § 151 091795 ( 726 665-689-) $ 655 (9)-$ 81 553;-590-5(F4)-Purchase of
treasury stock, at cost — — — ( 132 #3;285-) — —( 132 73;285-) [ssuance of equity- based incentive awards and dividend
equivalents — — (9:-21) 285 25 y140;443—( 4 1158 — Stock- based compensation expense — — 53 49424956~




53 50,-080-Other — — 2 2 426-1 5 443——3569-Dividends paid — — — — —( 84 76;592-) ( 84 76,59 Unrealized
toss-en-marketable-seeurittes;retoftax————(F3H—F3-) Net income — — — — 171 171 —379;356479;356
Balance at December 31, 202255-202355 ;489-$ 555-1 $ 185 +541444-5 ( 831 725;-532-) $ 739 82)-5 94 655190-$-8+275
Pmchaqe of trea%ury %tock at cost — — — (132663~ 63 ) — —( 132,663 63 ) Issuance of equlty based incentive awards

% 61 %Other — 1 2 —4944—% 3 —4—1—62—D1V1dend§ pald _ —( 89 -84%1—9—) (89 '84%1-9—)
Net income — — — — 91 91 —H;3824+H5382
Balance at December 31, %92—355—202455 7489-5 5551 § 222 4850315 ( 864 830,524-) $9-5 738 :553-$ 97 93;-624-F- 82023
82024 Form 10- K CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWSYear Ended December 31, (in theusands-millions )
202320222021 Cash—--- 202420232022Cash flows from operating activitiesNet income $ 91 § 171 5382-8 179 ;-350-$124,080
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: Depreciation and amertizationd2
amortization44 43 41 ;-76846,-666-38;547-Stock- based eompensationS2-compensation61 53 ;-996-50 ;7-686-46;-623-Deferred
income taxes ( 14) (4 8+4) (40764541 11) Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable (135) (71 5
H4-) (110 +09,4583-(126:-566-) Prepaid insurance and related assets4—- assets 5693 42418 ) 5 — (15+2H-Other current assets
(+45-8) (245 15 ) (5 72063-13:851) Other assets and ROU assets23-assets25 -523— 23 2 7-600-5-240-Accounts payable2--
payable (59611 326-209-) 3 2 Payroll taxes and other payroll deductions payable335 10 payablet0;288-88 ;193-89;-932
Accrued worksite employee payroll costs171 46 104 eests45;797+03;744-F4-8+7Accrued health insurance costs (6;942-27)
(7 ) 3 746043++3+6-Accrued workers” compensation costs ( 17 9578F) (10 7H4-) (#9910 ) Accrued corporate payroll,
commissions and other accrued liabilities ( 44;626-2) (45 ) (5 7379-) H-H6-Income taxes payable / reeetvable-receivablels (4
7368-) 19 36214369 Total adjustments27adjustments429 27 ;166-168 ;34+436;-075-Net cash provided by operating
aetivittest98-activities520 198 ;488347 -694+266;,155-Cash flows from investing activitiesMarketable securities: Purchases (
23) (48) (47 798346, 748358;202-) Proceeds from maturities38— maturities23 38 --63544,955-66,-045-- 45 Proceeds from
dispesittens27--- dispositions 7735~ 28 — Property and equipment purchases ( 38) (40 7 HF) (30 5329932;-856-) Net cash
used in investing activities ( 245736-38) (22 ) (32 7422)3+-643-) Cash flows from financing activitiesPurchase of treasury
stock (63) (131 5549-) (73 s285695725-) Dividends paid ( 89) (84 5249-) ( 77 #6;-592-(44;1+79-) Client funds liability and
other66--- other (21) 60 9 -726-8;7275;83+Net cash used in financing activities ( 173) ( 155 7042) (141 - 3560)208;073-) Net
increase in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and-funds-hetdforehents2t-, 746174-419-24-669-Cash-eashequivalents;
restrietedeashrand-funds held for clients beginning-efyeart-, and deposits — workers’ compensation309 21 174 643;-949-839;
500-786;-699-Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and-, funds held for clients , and deposits — workers’ compensation
beginning of yearl, 035 1, 014 840 Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, funds held for clients, and deposits — workers’
compensation end of year $ 1, 344 835:-665-5 1, 035 643;-949-5 8671 , 768-014 F- 92623-92024 Form 10- K
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued) Year Ended December 31, (in theusands-millions )
202320222021 Supplemental-—--- 202420232022Supplemental cash flow information: Income taxes, net $ 62;-8679-33 $63 $ 57 5
354-$-53,-835-Cash paid for nterest22-- lnterest32 22 —967—13 —492—7—2-68—ROU assets obtalned in exchange for leaqe

obligations22-obligations29 22 10 ; y
+02623-102024 Form 10- K NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FlNANCIAL STATEMENTS 1. Aceountlng Pohcle% Description
of Business Insperity, Inc. (“ Insperity ” or “ we ”, “ our ”, and “ us ) provides an array of human resources (“ HR ™) and
business solutions designed to help improve bu%lness performanee. Since our formation in 1986, we have evolved from being
solely a professional employer organization (“ PEO ), an industry we pioneered, to our current position as a comprehensive
business performance solutions provider. We were organized as a corporation in 1986 and have provided PEO services since
inception. Our most comprehensive HR services offerings are provided through our Workforce Optimization ® and Workforce
SynchronizationTM solutions (together, our “ PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions ), which encompass a broad range of human
resources functions, including payroll and employment administration, employee benefits, workers’ compensation, government
compliance, performance management and training and development services, along with our cloud- based human capital
management platform solution , the newn-as-Insperity PremierTM platform . In addition to our PEO HR Outsourcing
Solutions, we offer a comprehensive traditional payroll and human capital management solution, known as our Workforce
AccelerationTM solution (our “ Traditional Payroll Solution ). We also offer a number of other business performance
solutions, including Recruiting Services, Employment Screening, Retirement Services, and Insurance Services. These other
products and services generally are offered only with our other solutions. We provide our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions by
entering into a co- employment relationship with our clients, under which Insperity and its clients each take responsibility for
certain portions of the employer- employee relationship. Insperity and its clients designate each party’ s responsibilities through
its Client Service Agreement (“ CSA ”), under which Insperity becomes an employer of the employees who work at the client’ s
location (“ WSEE ”°) for most administrative and regulatory purposes. As a co- employer of our WSEEs, we assume many of the
rights and obligations associated with being an employer. We enter into an employment agreement with each WSEE, thereby
maintaining a variety of employer rights, including the right to hire or terminate employees, the right to evaluate employee
qualifications or performance, and the right to establish employee compensation levels. Typically, Insperity only exercises these
rights in consultation with its clients or when necessary to ensure regulatory compliance. The responsibilities associated with our
role as employer include the following obligations with regard to our WSEEs: (1) to compensate our WSEEs through wages and
salaries; (2) to pay the employer portion of payroll- related taxes; (3) to withhold and remit (where applicable) the employee
portion of payroll- related taxes; (4) to provide employee benefit programs; and (5) to provide workers” compensation insurance
coverage. In addition to our assumption of employer status for our WSEEs, our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions also includes
other human resources functions for our clients to support the effective and efficient use of personnel in their business
operations. To provide these functions, we maintain a significant staff of professionals trained in a wide variety of HR functions,




including employee training, employee recruiting, employee performance management, employee compensation and employer
liability management. These professionals interact and consult with clients on a daily basis to help identify each client’ s service
requirements and to ensure that we are providing appropriate and timely human capital management services. Revenue and
Direct Cost Recognition We enter into contracts with our customers for human resources services based on a stated rate and
price in the contract. Our contracts generally establish pricing for a period of 12 months and are generally cancellable at any
time by either party with 30- days’ notice. Our performance obligations are satisfied as services are rendered each month. The
term between invoicing and when our performance obligations are satisfied is not significant. Our payment terms typically
require payment concurrently with the invoicing of our PEO services. We do not have significant financing components or
significant payment terms. Our revenue is generally recognized ratably over the payroll period as WSEEs perform their service
at the client worksite in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Customers are invoiced concurrently with each periodic payroll of its WSEEs. Revenues that have been recognized
but not invoiced F- +H2623-112024 Form 10- K represent unbilled accounts receivable of $ 810 668—9-million and $ 669 6664
million at December 31, 2623-2024 and December 31, 2022-2023 , respectively , and are included in accounts receivable, net
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Pursuant to the “ practical expedients ” provided under ASC 340- 40, Other Assets and
Deferred Costs- Contracts with Customers, we expense sales commissions when incurred because the terms of our contracts are
cancellable by either party with a 30- day notice. These costs are recorded in commissions in our Consolidated Statements of
Ineome-and-Comprehenstve-Income. Our revenue for our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions by geographic region and for our
other products and services offerings are as follows: Year Ended December 31, (in theusands-millions )

26232622262 Nertheast—-- 202420232022Northeast $ 1, 801 756;884-5 1, 757 624;:-556-5 1, 625 390,156-Sentheastd66
Southeast926 907 -7H2-796 - 219-636;342-Central |, 195 1, 170 74941, 045 -643-86F-914-Southwest1, 245 249:-922-1, 250 1,
163 7088993747 Westl, 344 1, 337 7294-1, 251 48610339966, 511 6, 421 73635, 880 0924946, 155-Other revenueb4d
revenue70 65 59 568587265695 Total revenue $ 6, 485581 $ 6 , 84486 $ 5, 939 938:-81+8-$4-973-676-Our PEO HR
Outsourcing Solutions revenues are primarily derived from our gross billings, which are based on (1) the payroll cost of our
WSEE:s; and (2) a markup computed as a percentage of the payroll cost. The gross billings are invoiced concurrently with each
periodic payroll of our WSEEs. Revenues, which exclude the payroll cost component of gross billings and therefore consist
solely of the markup, are recognized ratably over the payroll period as WSEEs perform their service at the client worksite.
Consistent with our revenue recognition policy, our direct costs do not include the payroll cost of our WSEEs. Our direct costs
associated with our revenue generating activities are primarily comprised of all other costs related to our WSEEs, such as the
employer portion of payroll- related taxes, employee benefit plan premiums and workers’ compensation insurance costs.
Segment Reporting ASC 280, Segment Reporting establishes standards for reporting information about operating
segments on a basis consistent with our internal organizational structure as well as information about geographical areas
and business segments. \V¢ use the management approach to determine reportable operate-operating segments. The
management approach considers the internal organization and reporting used by our chief operating decision maker (“
CODM ”) for making decisions, allocating resources and assessing performance. F- 122024 Form 10- K Our CODM has
been identified as our chief executive officer, who reviews results when making decisions about allocating resources and
assessing performance, in addition to considering our geographical footprint, which is based in the United States, and the
management of our business activities, which is done on a consolidated basis. Based on management’ s assessment, we
determined that we have only one operating segment and therefore one reportable segment s#nder-, HR Solutions, as
defined by ASC 280 ;. The HR Solutions Segment-segment Reporting-derives revenue from customers by providing
various human resource services through professional service contracts . FThe accounting policies of the HR Solutions
segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The measure of segment
assets is reported on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as total assets, and the CODM assesses performance and decides
how to allocate resources based on net income as reported on our Consolidated Statements of Income. The CODM
reviews revenues and expenses at the consolidated level as disclosed in our Consolidated Statements of Income and uses
net income to evaluate income generated from segment assets (return on assets) in deciding whether to reinvest profits
into our HR Solutions segment or into other areas of the entity, such as for acquisitions or to pay dividends. Net income
is also used to monitor budget versus actual results and in competitive analysis by benchmarking to our competitors.
The competitive analysis and the monitoring of budgeted versus actual results are used in assessing the segment’ s
performance and in establishing management’ s compensation. Since we have only one operating segment, we do not
have intra - 122623 Ferm10-I-segment sales or transfers. Principles of Consolidation The Consolidated Financial
Statements include the accounts of Insperity, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with United States
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“ GAAP ”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Concentrations of Credit Risk Financial instruments that could potentially subject us to concentration of credit risk include
accounts receivable and marketable securities. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities We invest our excess cash in
federal government and municipal- based money market funds and-debt-instruments-of- U—S—munteipalities- All highly liquid
investments with stated-original maturities of three months or less from date of purchase are classified as cash equivalents.
Liquid investments with stated-original maturities of greater than three months from the date of purchase are classified as
marketable securities in current assets. We account for marketable securities in accordance with ASC 320, Investments — Debt
and Equity Securities. We determine the appropriate classification of all marketable securities as held- to- maturity, available-
for- sale or trading at the time of purchase, and re- evaluate such classification as of each balance sheet date. At December 31,
2024 and 2023 and-2622-, all of our investments in marketable securities were classified as available- for- sale, and as a result,



were reported at fair value. Hnres
meeme—ﬂess—)—m—sfeekhe-}defs—eqﬁrt-y—(deﬁetﬁ—The amortlzed cost of debt securltles is adJusted for amortlzatlon of premiums
and accretion of discounts from the date of purchase to maturity. Such amortization is included in interest income as an addition
to or deduction from the coupon interest earned on the investments. We use the specific identification method of determining the
cost basis in computing realized gains and losses on the sale of our available- for- sale securities. Realized gains and losses are
included in other income. Property and Equipment Property and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets using the straight- line method. Property and equipment, net consisted of the
following: F- 132024 Form 10- K (in theusands-millions ) December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2022 and
2023Land $ 6 72455 6 ;7245-Buildings and #mprevements2t7improvements225 217 ;- 274-207,-740-Computer hardware and
software 145 145 ;7 206444856-Software development eestsi37-costs149 137 337423967 Furniture, fixtures and ether5+
other56 53 7-849-56;,-835-Property and equipment, gress557-gross581 558 -881+-536;-643-Accumulated depreciation and
amortization ( 389 366;457-) ( 361 336,621+ Property and equipment, net $ 192 § 197 ;424-$499,992 F-132023 Feorm10-K
The estimated useful lives of property and equipment for purposes of computing depreciation are as follows: Useful
LifeBuildings and imprevementsS-improvements4 — 30yecarsComputer hardware and software2 — SyearsSoftware
development costs3 — SyearsFurniture, fixtures and other5 — 7years Software development costs relate primarily to software
code development, systems integration and testing of our proprietary professional employer information systems and are
accounted for in accordance with ASC 350- 40, Internal Use Software. Capitalized software development costs are amortized
using the straight- line method over the estimated useful lives of the software, generally three years. We recognized $ 13 =&
million, $ 14 million and $ 13 —2-millienand-$306-9-million in amortization of capitalized software development costs in 2024,
2023 yand 2022 and-2021-, respectively. Unamortized software development costs were $ 32 33-3-million and $ 33 ~Fmillion
at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively. We periodically evaluate our long- lived assets for impairment in
accordance with ASC 360- 10, Property, Plant, and Equipment. ASC 360- 10 requires that an impairment loss be recognized for
assets to be disposed of or held- for- use when the carrying amount of an asset is deemed to not be recoverable. If events or
circumstances were to indicate that any of our long- lived assets might be impaired, we would assess recoverability based on the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows to be generated from the applicable asset or asset group. In addition, we may record an
impairment loss to the extent that the carrying value of the asset exceeded the fair value of the asset. Fair value is generally
determined using an estimate of discounted future net cash flows from operating activities or upon disposal of the asset. Cloud
Computing Arrangements We incur costs to implement cloud computing arrangements that are hosted by third - party vendors.
SaaS implementation costs associated with cloud computing arrangements are capitalized when incurred during the application
development phase. The capitalized costs are recorded in our short- term and long- term other assets on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Amortization is calculated on a straight- line basis over the contractual term of the cloud computing
arrangement, typically a twe-one to five year period. We recognized $ 11 5=Fmillion and-, $ +-9-6 million, and $ 2 million in
amortization of SaaS implementation costs in 2024, 2023 , and 2022, respectively . These costs are recorded in general and
administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Income . Unamortized SaaS implementation costs were $ 16 23+
Fmillion and § 24 26-2-million at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, respectively. Leases We determine if an
arrangement is a lease at inception of a contract in accordance with ASC 842, Leases, as well as the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“ FASB ”) issued Accounting Standards Updates clarifying the lease guidance. ROU assets represent our right
to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from
the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit interest rate, we use our incremental borrowing
rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The lease
terms used to calculate the ROU asset and related lease liability include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is
reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. F- 142024 Form 10- K Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on
a straight- line basis over the lease term as an operating expense. We have lease agreements which require payments for lease
and non- lease components and have elected to account for these as a single lease component related to our other operating
facilities. Please read Note 11, ““ Leases, ” for additional information. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not
recorded on the balance sheet; instead, lease payments are recognized as lease expense on a straight- line basis over the
lease term. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Our goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment on an annual basis
or when there is an indication that there has been a potential decline in the fair value of a reporting unit. Annually, we perform a
qualitative analysis to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value has declined below its carrying value. This
analysis considers various qualitative factors. Due to the nature of our business, all of our goodwill is associated with one
reporting unit. We perform our annual impairment testing during the fourth quarter. Based on the results of our analysis, no
impairment loss was recognized in 2024, 2023 sor 2022 er2624-. F—142623Ferm36--K—We provide group health insurance
coverage under a single- employer plan that covers both our WSEEs in our PEO HR Outsourcing Solutions and our corporate
employees and utilizes a national network of carriers, including UnitedHealthcare (“ United ), UnitedHealthcare of California,
Kaiser Permanente, Blue Shield of California, HMSA BlueCross BlueShield of Hawaii, and Fafts-tknowsras-Harvard Pllgrlm
Health Care , formerly known as Tufts (HPHC) beginning-in20624)-, all of which provide fully insured policies or service
contracts. Appr0x1rnately $786 % of our costs related to health insurance coverage are provided under our policy with United.
While the policy with United is a fully insured plan, as a result of certain contractual terms, we have accounted for this plan
since its inception using a partially self- funded insurance accounting model. Effective January 1, 2020, under the amended
agreement with United, we no longer have financial responsibilities for a participant’ s annual claim costs that exceed $ 1
million (* Peeting-Individual Claims Limit 7). Accordingly, we record the cost of the United plan, including an estimate of the
incurred claims, taxes and administrative fees (collectively the “ Plan Costs ), as benefits expense, which is a component of




direct costs, in our Consolidated Statements of Ineeme-and-Comprehenstve-Income. The estimated incurred but not reported
claims are based upon: (1) the level of claims processed during each quarter; (2) estimated completion rates based upon recent
claim development patterns under the plan; and (3) the number of participants in the plan, including both active and COBRA
enrollees. Each reporting period, changes in the estimated ultimate costs resulting from claim trends, plan design and migration,
participant demographics, and other factors are incorporated into the benefits costs, which requires a significant level of
judgment. Additionally, since the plan’ s inception, under the terms of the contract, United establishes cash funding rates 90
days in advance of the beginning of a reporting quarter. If the Plan Costs for a reporting quarter are greater than the premiums
paid and owed to United, a deficit in the plan would be incurred and a liability for the excess costs would be accrued in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. On the other hand, if the Plan Costs for the reporting quarter are less than the premiums paid and
owed to United, a surplus in the plan would be incurred and we would record an asset for the excess premiums in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The terms of the arrangement require us to maintain an accumulated cash surplus in the plan of $
9 —8-million, which is reported as long- term prepaid health insurance. In addition, United requires a deposit equal to
approximately one day of claims funding activity, which was $ 7 6=5-million at December 31, 2023-2024 , and is included in
deposits- health insurance as a long- term asset on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , Plan Costs
were more than the net premiums paid and owed to United by $ 23--5 million. As this amount is less than the agreed- upon $ 9 -
©-million surplus maintenance level, the $ 14 32-5-million difference is included in accrued health insurance costs, a current
liability, in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The premiums, including the additional quarterly premiums, owed to United at
December 31, 2023-2024 were less than $ 1 6-5-million, which is included in accrued health insurance costs, a current liability
in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our benefits costs incurred in 2023-2024 included a decrease of $ 29 43--6-million for
changes in estimated run- off related to prior periods, net of Peehing-Individual Claims Limit. Our benefits costs incurred in
%92—2—2023 1ncluded ana -rﬂefeasedecrease Of $ 13 -1—2—1—m11110n for changes in estrmated run- off related to prior periods , net-

Claims Limit fe}a-ted-te-pﬂer—peﬂeds— Our workers compensatlon coverage for our WSEES in our PEO HR Outsourcing
Solutions has been provided through an-arrangement-arrangements with the Chubb Group of Insurance Companies or its
predecessors (the “ Chubb Program ) since 2007. The F- 152024 Form 10- K Chubb Program is fully insured in that Chubb
has the responsibility to pay all claims incurred under the policy regardless of whether we satisfy our responsibilities. Under the
Chubb Program, for claims incurred on or before September 30, 2019, we have financial responsibility to Chubb for the first $ 1
million layer of claims per occurrence and, for claims over $ 1 million, up to a maximum aggregate amount of $ 6 million per
policy year for claims that exceed $ 1 million. Chubb bears the financial responsibility for all claims in excess of these levels.
Effective for claims incurred on or after October 1, 2019, we have financial responsibility to Chubb for the first $ 1. 5 million
layer of claims per occurrence and, for claims over $ 1. 5 million, up to a maximum aggregate amount of $ 6 million per policy
year for claims that exceed $ 1. 5 million. Because we bear the financial responsibility for claims up to the levels noted above,
such claims, which are the primary component of our workers’ compensation costs, are recorded in the period incurred.
Workers’ compensation insurance includes ongoing health care and indemnity coverage whereby claims are paid over numerous
years following the date of injury. Accordingly, the accrual of related incurred costs in each reporting period includes estimates,
which take into account the ongoing development of claims and therefore requires a significant level of judgment. F—1+52623
Form10-1—We utilize a third- party actuary to estimate our loss development rate, which is primarily based upon the nature of
WSEEs’ job responsibilities, the location of WSEEs, the historical frequency and severity of workers’ compensation claims, and
an estimate of future cost trends. Each reporting period, changes in the actuarial assumptions resulting from changes in actual
claims experience and other trends are incorporated into our workers’ compensation claims cost estimates. During the years—
year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 72622;-and-20624+-, we reduced accrued workers’ compensation costs by $ 32 million
and $ 33 %—mi-l-l-teﬁ—$~42—2—m1-l—1-teﬂ—aﬁd—$—4—l—7—mrlhon respectively, for changes in estimated losses related to prior periods.
Workers’ compensation cost estimates are discounted to present value at a rate based upon the U. S. Treasury rates that
correspond with the weighted average estimated claim payout period (the average discount rate utilized #+2023-was 4. 3 % and
in both 2622-2024 and 2023 was2-9-%-) and are accreted over the estimated claim payment period and included as a
component of direct costs in our Consolidated Statements of Ineome-and-Comprehensive-Income. The following table provides
the activity and balances related to incurred but not paid workers’ compensation claims: Year Ended December 31, (in
thousands-millions ) 20232022Beginning----- 20242023Beginning balance, January 1, $ 220 $ 229 ;468-$239,-623-Accrued
elaims6t—- claims , net65 61 726-49;+24-Present value discount, net of accretion ( 12) ( 13 s430)9;-54+7) Paid claims ( 69) (
57 7443349;-819-) Ending balance $ 204 $ 220 ;255-$229,408-Current portion of accrued claims $ 69 $ 57 ;74083-$-49,779
Long- term portion of accrued elaimst62-claims135 163 ;-852179,-629-Total accrued claims $ 204 $§ 220 ;255-$229,408-The
current portion of accrued workers’ compensation costs on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2024 and 2023
and-2022-includes $ 2 3~+-million and $ 3 ~Fmillion, respectively, of workers’ compensation administrative fees. The
undiscounted accrued workers’ compensation costs were $ 240 250:-8-million as of December 31, 2023-2024 and $ 250 -5
million as of December 31, 2622-2023 . At the beginning of each policy period, the workers’ compensation insurance carrier
establishes monthly funding requirements comprised of premium costs and funds to be set aside for payment of future claims (*
claim funds ). The level of claim funds is primarily based upon anticipated WSEE payroll levels and expected workers’
compensation loss rates, as determined by the insurance carrier. Monies funded into the program for incurred claims expected to
be paid within one year are primarily held as cash and money market funds (cash equivalents) and are recorded as
restricted cash, a short- term asset, while the remainder of claim funds are included in deposits — workers’ compensation, a long-
term asset in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. During 2823-2024 , we received $ 39 46—3-million for the return of excess claim
funds related to the workers” compensation program, which resulted in a decrease to deposits- workers’ compensation. At
December 31, 2024, we had restricted cash of $ 69 million and deposits — workers’ compensation —AtDeeember3+2023;



we-had-restrietedeashof § 178 57—4-million , and-deposits—workers>eompensation-of which $ 241 +98—2-million was held in
trust bank accounts . F- 162024 Form 10- K Our estimate of incurred claim costs expected to be paid within one year is
included in short- term liabilities, while our estimate of incurred claim costs expected to be paid beyond one year is included in
long- term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Stock- Based Compensation At December 31, 2023-2024 , we have
one stock- based employee compensation plan under which we may issue awards. We account for this plan under the
recognition and measurement principles of ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation, which requires all share- based
payments to employees to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. We generally make annual grants of
unrestricted stock under our stock- based incentive compensation plan to our non- employee directors, and grants of restricted
stock units to our officers and certain other employees. Restricted stock unit grants to officers and other employees generally
vest over a period of three years from the date of grant. Restricted stock units are valued based on the fair value on date of grant
and the associated expense, net of estimated forfeitures, is and-areF-—462023Ferm10-I-recognized over the requisite service
period. Stock grants issued to non- employee directors are 100 % vested on the grant date . All shares are issued out of
treasury . Our Insperity Long- Term Incentive Program (the “ LTIP ™) provides for performance based long- term
compensation awards in the form of performance units to certain employees based on the achievement of pre- established
performance goals. Each performance unit represents the right to receive one common share at a future date based on our
performance against certain targets. Performance units have a vesting schedule of three years. A portion of the LTIP grant to
employees was considered a market- based performance award that cliff vests at the end of three years assuming continued
employment and achievement of market- based performance goals. The fair value of each performance unit is the market price
of our common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of each market- based performance unit was determined through use of
the Monte Carlo simulation method. The compensation expense for such awards is recognized on a straight- line basis over the
vesting term. Over the performance period the number of shares expected to be issued is adjusted upward or downward based on
the probability of achievement of the performance target. Company- Sponsored 401 (k) Retirement Plans Under our 401 (k)
retirement plan for corporate employees (the “ Corporate Plan ), we matched 100 % of eligible corporate employees’
contributions, up to 6 % of the employees’ eligible compensation in 2024, 2023 , and 2022 -andranging-fromrapto3-Yo-toup-to
6-Yrofthe-employees™eligtble-eompensationin202+. Matching contributions under the Corporate Plan are immediately vested.
During 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 ard-2624, we made matching contributions on behalf of corporate employees to the Corporate
Plan of $ 19 +6=9-million, $ 17 million, and $ 14 ~4-millien;and-$8—2-million, respectively, and are included in salaries, wages
and payroll taxes in our Consolidated Statements of Ineeme-and-Comprehenstve-Income. Under our separate 401 (k) retirement
plan for WSEEs (the “ Worksite Employee Plan ), the match percentage for WSEEs ranges from 0 % to 6 %, as determined by
each client company. Matching contributions under the Worksite Employee Plan are immediately vested. During 2024, 2023 5
and 2022 and-202+-, we made matching contributions on behalf of WSEEs to the Worksite Employee Plan of $ 390 3745
million, $ 375 328—-5-million, and $ 329 244—-million, respectively. We expense all advertising costs as incurred. We use the
liability method in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
differences between financial reporting and income tax carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and are measured using the
enacted tax rates and laws in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Please read Note 7, ““ Income Taxes, ” for
additional information. Recent Accounting Pronouncements In Nevember-December 2023, the Finanetal-Standards-Aeecounting
Beard-(“~F ASB Zyissued Accounting Standards Update (* ASU ) No. 2023- 8709 , SegmentReporting-Income Taxes (Topic
286-740 ): Improvements to Repertable-Segment-Income Tax quclosureq ASU 2023- 97—09 expand% theaﬁﬂual—a-nd—m’fefnﬁ
disclosure requirements for repertable-segments-income taxes , pritna ; stgntfiean
segmentexpenses-specifically related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes pald ASU 2023 6709 is effectlve for
fiscal years beginning F- 172024 Form 10- K after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently
evaluating the guidance, but do not expect this ASU to materially impact our Consolidated Financial Statements. In
November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024- 03, Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses. ASU 2024- 03
requires public companies to disaggregate key expense categories such as employee compensation and depreciation in
their financial statements. ASU 2024- 03 is effective for fiscal years beglnnrng after December 15, %92—3—2026 and fef

mterrm perrodq begmmng—a—fter—Beeem-ber—l—4—29%4—vm-h—W1thm es

%92—3-—99—13—effeet—1—ve—fer—ﬁ§eal years beglnnrng after December 15 %925—2027 Wrth early adoptron permltted We are currently
evaluating the guidance and-have-, but do not e}e’cefm-rned—t-he—expect this ASU to materially impact thisstandard-may-have-ont
our Consolidated Financial Statements. F472623-Ferm—+0-4-2. Other Balance Sheet Information The following table
summarizes our cash and investments in cash equivalents and marketable securities held by investment managers and overnight
investments: December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2022-2023 (in theusands-millions ) Cash & Cash
EquivalentsMarketable SecuritiesTotalCash & Cash EquivalentsMarketable SecuritiesTotalOvernight holdings $ 931 § — $ 931
$06115406-5— $ 611 Investment hold1ngs117 16 133 119 16 1351, -1-9(-)—$—67-8—048 161, 5—1—2—$—064 730 16 746 Cash 1n
demand accountsZ7 — 27 27 € €

> O7; O
sie

5 6 27 %6—93—1—4—1—947—4—1—947—Out%tand1ng ehecks
( 36) — (36) (% %66—) — (64 %66)—(4—3—69-43—(43—694—) Total $ 6921 , 873-039 § 16 15;-905-5 7081 , 778-055 S 693 732;
828-$ 16 33;-068-3 709 765,-896-Our cash and overnight holdings fluctuate based on the timing of clients’ payroll processing
cycles. Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities at December 31, 2623-2024 and December 31, 2022-2023 included
$ 830 million and $ 510 —-mithenand-$564—8-million, respectively, of funds associated with federal and state income tax
withholdings, employment taxes, and other payroll deductions, as well as $ 91 27-6-million and $ 28 36—8-million, respectively,



in client prepayments. At December 31, 2024 included in our $ 830 million of funds associated with federal and state
income tax withholdings was $ 440 million of funds we received in late December 2024 from the Internal Revenue
Service related to employee retention tax credits claimed by our PEO clients under the COVID relief programs, that are
expected to be distributed to clients in early 2025. F- 182024 Form 10- K Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash and-,
Funds Held for Clients , and Deposits — Workers’ Compensation The following table summarizes our cash, cash equivalents,
restricted cash and-, funds held for clients , and deposits — workers’ compensation as reported in our Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows: Year Ended December 31, (in thousands-millions ) 26232022202+Supplemental—---
202420232022Supplemental schedule of cash and Cdsh equwalents restricted Cdshaﬂd—fuﬂds—he}d—EGPeheﬂtSGash—aﬁd—eash
equivalents-$732- 8 e

34, and 942—@9—3—1—7—32—@9—@9—9epesﬁs—dep0s1ts - W OIkels eempeﬂsa-t-teﬂ-l-96-compensatlonCash and —3—7’-9—1-85—92—7-
+86;:33+Cash;-cash equivalents +$ 693 $ 733 $ 576 festﬂeted-Restrlcted eash—cash57 a-nd—SO 47 Other current assets- tunds

held f01 chents (beg-rﬁﬁmg—ef—ye&r—$—l

; € d ) 87 3532 ,—2—1—9—@9—34—942—@-)—@-)
Depos1ts — workers’ compensdtlonl% —1—7-9—196 —3—7’-9—1 85 —92—7—&1%11 cash equwalents restricted cash and-, funds held for
clients end-, and deposits — workers’ compensation beginning of year § 1, 035 -665-§ 1, 014 643;-949-5 840 Cash and cash
equivalents $ 1, 039 $ 693 $ 733 Restricted cash69 57 50 Other current assets- funds held for clients (1) S8 867 87 35
Deposits — workers’ compensation178 198 196 Cash , 768-cash equivalents, restricted cash, funds held for clients, and,
and deposits — workers’ compensation end of year $ 1,344 $1,035$ 1, 014 (1)
Funds held for clients represent amounts held on behalf of our Traditional Payroll Solution customers that are restricted for the
purpose of satlstymo oblls_atlons to remit tunds to clients’ employees and various tax mthorltles 2 Beginning-in-the-third

--
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our accounting policies for deposits — workers’ compensation and restricted Cdsh Payroll Taxes and Other Payroll
Deductions Payable As a co- employer, we generally assume responsibility for the withholding and remittance of federal
and state payroll taxes and other payroll deductions with respect to wages and salaries paid to our WSEEs. As of
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, payroll taxes and other payroll deductions payable were $ 901 million and $
566 million, respectively. The balance at December 31, 2024 includes $ 440 million of funds we received in late December
2024 from the Internal Revenue Service related to employee retention tax credits claimed by our PEO clients under the
COVID relief programs, that are expected to be distributed to clients in early 2025 . 3. Fair Value Measurements We
account for our financial assets in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement. This standard defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The fair value
measurement disclosures are grouped into three levels based on valuation factors: * Level 1- quoted prices in active markets
using identical assets ¢ Level 2- significant other observable inputs, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted
prices in markets that are not active, or other observable inputs ¢ Level 3- significant unobservable inputs F- 192024 Form 10-
K Fair Value of Instruments Measured and Recognized at Fair Value The following table summarizes the levels of fair value
measurements of our financial assets: December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 31, 2022-2023 (in theusands-millions )
TotalLevel 1Level 2TotalLevel 1Level 2Money market funds $ 736-1 , 568-048 § 736-1 , 568-048 § — $ 730 7#35;-475-5 730
F35:-475-5 — U. S. Treasury biltst5-bills16 16 796515;-965-— 16 16 2976329763~ Munteipat-bonds-1, 064 1, 064 — 746
746 — —3;365—3;365F46;-4H3F46;-4H3—F68,543-765198-3:365-Deposits- money market fands22-funds241 ;292-241
—225292--22 Total $ 7681, 765-305 § 7681 , 765-305 § — § 768 +543-5 768 765;+78-5 — 3;365-Please read
Note 2 Other Balance Sheet 1nf01mat10n ” for addmonal mtormdtlon Durlng 2024 we transferred $ 158 mllllon of claim

eeﬁtaw'm%ng—U—prevmusly held w1th Chubb to a trust account and those funds were subsequently 1nvested in money market
funds . S—gevernmentseeurities-Both before and after the transfer, these funds were included in restricted cash and
deposits- workers’ compensation on our Consolidated Balance Sheet . Our valuation techniques used to measure fair value
for these securities during the period consisted primarily of third- party pricing services that utilized actual market data such as
trades of comparable bond issues, broker / dealer quotations for the same or similar investments in active markets and other
observable inputs. The following is a summary of our available- for- sale marketable securities: (in thetsands-millions )
Amortized CostGross Unrealized GainsGross Unrealized LossesEstimated Fair ValueDecember 31, 26235-2024U . S. Treasury
bills $ 16 +5;:896-$9-5 — $ +5;:965-— 8 16 December 31, 20228-2023U . S. Treasury bills $ 16 %9—7-82—‘{5 — S —9516
29763 Munteipal-bonds3;369—43;365-As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the contractual maturities of all marketable
securities in our portfolio were less than one year. F-—1-9%92-3—Ferﬂ=1—1-9-—IGFdlr Value of Other Financial Instruments The
carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, deposits and accounts payable approximate their
fair values due to the short- term maturities of these instruments. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the carrying value of
borrowings under our revolving credit facility approximates fair value and was classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
Please read Note 6, “ Long- Term Debt, ” for additional information. F- 202024 Form 10- K 4. Accounts Receivable Accounts
receivable, net consisted of the following: December 31, (in thetusands-millions ) 20232022 rade-20242023Trade , nct $ 945;
F72-$ 16 13934 Unbilled668—- Unbilled810 669 ;-920-606,446-0ther9-Other10 9 186-8;384-Accounts receivable, net § 829



693.-878-$ 694 622,-764-Our accounts receivable is primarily composed of trade receivables and unbilled receivables. Our trade
receivables, which represent outstanding gross billings to clients, are reported net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $ 1 —+
mihenand-$4-0-million as of both December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622respeetively- We establish an allowance for
doubtful accounts based on management’ s assessment of the collectability of specific accounts and by making a general
provision for other potentially uncollectible amounts. We make an accrual at the end of each accounting period for our
obligations associated with the earned but unpaid wages of our WSEEs and for the accrued gross billings associated with such
wages. These accruals are included in accrued worksite employee payroll cost and unbilled accounts receivable; however, these
amounts are presented net in the Consolidated Statements of Income and-Comprehenstvedneome-. We generally require clients
to pay invoices for service fees no later than the same day as the applicable payroll date. As such, we generally do not require
collateral. Client prepayments directly attributable to accrued worksite employee payroll costs and unbilled revenues have been
netted as we have the legal right of offset for these amounts. Unbilled accounts receivable consisted of the following: December
31, (in theusands-millions ) 20232622Aeerued-20242023Accrued worksite employee payroll cost $ 730 $ 559 ;494-$-543;397
Unbllled reventest37— revenues171 138 ;- 348423;-849-Client prepayments ( 91 24-592-) ( 28 36;:-806-) Unbilled accounts
receivable § 810 668;:920-5 669 689,446-5. Deposits and Prepaid Health Insurance Deposits and prepaid health insurance
consisted of the following: December 31, (in theusands-millions ) 26232622Prepaid-20242023Prepaid health insurance $ 9 5
066-5 9 7806-Deposits — health tnsufaﬁee-?'—msuranceS 8 7-960-7-966-Deposits — workers’ eompensationtos
compensation178 198 ;- 170196,370-Deposits and prepaid health insurance $ 195 § 215 7670-$213;270-F-202023 Form10-
¥-The contractual arrangement with United for health insurance coverage requires us to maintain an accumulated cash surplus
in the plan of $ 9 =8-million, which is reported as deposits and prepaid health insurance in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Please read Note 1, “ Accounting Policies, ” for a discussion of our accounting policies for health insurance costs and workers’
compensation costs. F- 212024 Form 10- K 6. Long- Term Debt We have a revolving credit facility (the * Facility ”’) with a
borrowing capacity of up to $ 650 million. The Facility may be further increased to $ 700 million based on the terms and subject
to the conditions set forth in the agreement relating to the Facility (as amended, the “ Credit Agreement ). The Facility is
available for working capital and general corporate purposes, including acquisitions, stock repurchases and issuances of letters
of credit. Our obligations under the Facility are secured by 100 % of the stock of our captive insurance subsidiary and are
guaranteed by all of our subsidiaries other than our captive insurance subsidiary and certain other excluded subsidiaries. At
December 31, 2623-2024 , our outstanding balance on the Facility was $ 369 —4-million, and we had an outstanding $ 1 —8
million letter of credit issued under the Facility, resulting in an available borrowing capacity of § 280 279—6-million. The
Facility matures on June 30, 2027. Borrowings under the Facility bear interest at an annual rate equal to an alternate base rate or
Adjusted Term SOFR for term SOFR loans, in either case plus an applicable margin. Adjusted Term SOFR is a forward-
looking term rate based on the secured overnight financing rate plus a spread adjustment, which ranges from 0. 10 % to 0. 25 %
depending on the interest period and type of loan. Depending on our leverage ratio, the applicable margin varies (1) in the case
of SOFR loans, from 1. 50 % to 2. 25 % and (2) in the case of alternate base rate loans, from 0. 00 % to 0. 50 %. The alternate
base rate is the highest of (1) the prime rate most recently published in The Wall Street Journal, (2) the federal funds rate plus 0.
50 %; and (3) the Adjusted Term SOFR rate plus 2. 00 %. We also pay an unused commitment fee on the average daily unused
portion of the Facility at a rate of 0. 25 % per year. The average interest rate for 2623-2024 was 6-7 . 88-1 %. Interest expense
and unused commitment fees are recorded in other income (expense). The Facility contains both affirmative and negative
covenants that we believe are customary for arrangements of this nature. Covenants include, but are not limited to, limitations
on our ability to incur additional indebtedness, sell material assets, retire, redeem or otherwise reacquire our capital stock,
acquire the capital stock or assets of another business, make investments and pay dividends. In addition, the Credit Agreement
requires us to comply with financial covenants limiting our total funded debt, minimum interest coverage ratio, and maximum
leverage ratio. We were in compliance with all financial covenants under the Credit Agreement at December 31, 2623-2024 . F-
242623-222024 Form 10- K 7. Income Taxes Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities used for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
Significant components of the net deferred tax assets as reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows: December
31, (in theusands-millions ) 26232022-20242023 Deferred tax liabilitiesPrepaid assets $ (4 7494-) § ( 4) Depreciation ( 5 ;395-)
-Bepfeei‘aﬁeﬁ—(6 FAFHF448)r Seftware-development-eosts—2-598-) Tenant improvements (3 7386-) (3 439-) Right- of- use
leased assets ( 19 +6;-624-) ( 17 +6;37) Intangibles ( 3 25595) ( 3 2;24F) Total deferred tax liabilities ( 34) (33 ;26D-3%
+98-) Deferred tax assetsAccrued incentive eempensation$-compensation12 9 ;553136 Netoperatinglossearryforward332
467-Workers” compensation accruals4 ;7588-5 7358-Accrued renthrent2 2 - 784++-796-Software development eests3-costs13 4 5
HF—-Stock- based eempensatiornrt4-compensationl5 14 ;-33242,255-Operating lease habilities26-liabilities22 20 -66719;
568-Otherl — 046-972-Total deferred tax assetsS4-assets69 54 ;320-53;466-Valuation allowance (#06-1 ) (675-1 ) Total net
deferred tax assets53-assets68 53 -614-52,73+-Net deferred tax assets $ 34 $§ 20 ;347-$45:-533-F- 222623-232024 Form 10- K
The components of income tax expense are as follows: Year Ended December 31, (in theusands-millions ) 20232622202+
202420232022 Current income tax expenseFederal $ 41 § 49 -658-5 62 6—1—649—$—39—8-8—7—S’6a’fe9-8tate8 9 452-15 ;0678;646
Total current income tax expense58-expense49 58 77 --5+6-76;7+6-39,-527Deferred income tax benefitFederal ( benefit11 )
expenseFederal-(3 7887 (9 8;:844-) 4;-562-State (9273 ) (1 799) +49-(2) Total deferred income tax €benefit (14 ) expense-(4
78H4) (10,6447 11) Total income tax expense $ 53;696-35 $ 54 § 66 075-$44238-The reconciliation of income tax
expense computed at U. S. federal statutory tax rates to the reported income tax expense from continuing operations is as
follows: Year Ended December 31, (in theusands-millions ) 260232622262+Expeeted---- 202420232022Expected income tax
expense at 21 % $ 26 $ 47 7266-$ 52 54:-539-$35:347State income taxes, net of federal benefité-benefitd 7 -546-10 106-6;
974-Nondeductible expenses5 554554 ;338F-362-Equity compensation, net-netl (4 :386-) | ;345442F)-Research and
development credit (1 7483-) (1 7244) (1 7848 Otherretd-H2)—Reported total income tax expense $ 53;696-35$ 54 § 66 5



B75-$44;238-At December 31, 2023-2024 , we have-had net operating loss carryforwards totaling $ 1 =3-million that expire
from 2025-2026 to 2030 related to an acquisition that occurred in 2010. We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain
tax positions in income tax expense. As of December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and2024-, we have-had no uncertain tax
positions, and as a result, have made no provisions for interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. The tax years 2626
2021 through 2622-2023 remain open to examination by the Internal Revenue Service of the United States. The tax years 2649
2020 through 2622-2023 remain open to examination by various state tax authorities. 8. Stockholders' Equity During 2623-2024
, we repurchased or withheld an aggregate of +697 , 177 259;1+069-shares of our common stock, as described below. Repurchase
Program Our Board of Directors (the “ Board ) has authorized a program to repurchase shares of our outstanding common stock
(““ Repurchase Program ). The purchases may be made from time to time in the open market or directly from stockholders at
prevailing market prices based on market condltlons and other factors Durmg %92—3—2024 -1—516 798 GéH%—shares were
repurchased under the Repurchase Program A 6

ogram—As of December 31, %92—3—2024 we were authorrzed to
repurchase an addrtronal 1 969—452 562—764 shares under the Repurchase Program The Inflation Reductlon Act 02022,
which was enacted into 1aw on August 16, 2022, imposes a nondeductible 1 % excise tax on the net value of certain stock
repurchases made after December 31, 2022. During 2023, we recorded the applicable excise tax in treasury stock of $ 1 million
as part of the cost basis of stock repurchased and recorded a corresponding F2320823-Ferm+0-K-liability for the excise tax
payable in other accrued liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. F- 242024 Form 10- K Withheld Shares During 2623
2024 , we withheld +96-180 , 5+4-379 shares to satisfy tax withholding obligations for the vesting of long- term incentive and
restricted stock unit awards. The Board declared and paid quarterly dividends as follows: (amounts per share) 26232022F4rst
20242023First quarter $ 0. 52-57 $ 0. 45-52 Second quarter0. 60 0. 57 8-52-Third quarter0. 60 0. 57 8-52-Fourth quarter(. 60 0.
57 8-52-During 2024 and 2023 and2022-, we declared and paid dividends totaling $ 89 million and $ 84 —2-mitlten-and-$76-6
million, respectively. At December 31, 2623-2024 , 20 million shares of preferred stock were authorized. 9. Incentive Plans The
Insperity, Inc. Incentive Plan, as amended (the “ Incentive Plan ”) provides for options and other stock- based awards that have
been and may be granted to eligible employees and non- employee directors of Insperity or its subsidiaries. The Incentive Plan
permits stock options, including nonqualified stock options and options intended to qualify as “ incentive stock options ” within
the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, stock awards , restricted stock units , phantom stock awards, stock
appreciation rights, performance units, and other stock- based awards and cash awards, all of which may or may not be subject to
the achievement of one or more performance objectives. The purpose of the Incentive Plan generally is to retain and attract
persons of training, experience and ability to serve as employees of Insperity and its subsidiaries and to serve as non- employee
directors of Insperity, to encourage the sense of proprietorship of such persons and to stimulate the active interest of such
persons in the development and financial success of Insperity and its subsidiaries. The Incentive Plan is administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board (the “ Committee ). The Committee has the power to determine which eligible
employees will receive awards, the timing and manner of the grant of such awards, the exercise price of stock options (which
may not be less than market value on the date of grant), the number of shares and all of the terms of the awards. The Board may
at any time amend or terminate the Incentive Plan. However, no amendment that would impair the rights of any participant, with
respect to outstanding grants, can be made without the participant’ s prior consent. Stockholder approval of amendments to the
Incentive Plan is necessary only when required by applicable law or stock exchange rules. Assuming all outstanding
performance- based awards are paid at maximum achievement of pre- established performance goals, at December 31, 2823
2024, 1 . 4 million ;-83%-548-shares of common stock were available for future grants under the Incentive Plan. We also
maintain the Insperitytne—tong—Termineenttve Plan(“-LTIP 2under the Incentive Plan. The LTIP provides for performance-
based long- term compensation awards in the form of performance units to certain employees based on the achievement of pre-
established performance goals. We granted performance units under the LTIP to our named executive officers and certain other
officers in 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-262+. Employees who attain a minimum age of 62 and have provided 15 years or more of
continuous service may continue to vest in awards following a qualifying retirement as defined under the Incentive Plan award
agreement, as though they were still an employee, provided the grant date of the award is six months or more before the
employee’ s last day of employment, the employee provides the Company with six months advance notice of retirement, the
employee continues to work full- time during such six (6) month period, and the employee signs a waiver and release of claims.
In addition, in order to avoid forfeiting any outstanding award, a retired employee must refrain from providing any services,
including but not limited to, as an employee, director, advisor, or independent contractor to a business engaged in providing any
F- 2420623-252024 Form 10- K services offered by the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates at the time of the employee’ s
retirement, including but not limited to PEO services, payroll services, retirement services or insurances services. For a
termination following a qualifying retirement, time- vested-based awards will continue to vest in the normal course. For a
termination following a qualifying retirement, performance- based awards with completed or in- process performance periods
are adjusted for achievement of the performance criteria, prorated through the date of termination and paid in the normal course,
while performance- based awards for performance periods that have not started are forfeited. Stock- based compensation
expense related to time- ¥ested-based and performance- based awards is accelerated over the requisite service period for
employees who meet the requirements for continued vesting. Stock- based compensation expense and other disclosures for
stock- based awards follows: Year Ended December 31, (in theusands-millions ) 202320222024-Stoek—--- 202420232022Stock -
based compensation expense recognized $ 52,-996-61 § 53 $ 50 ;-086-$46,623-Income tax benefit realized from stock- based
compensation expenset2-expensel7 ;64313 13 ;48336677 Time- Based Restricted Stock Units Time- based restricted stock
units (“ RSUs ), under equity plan accounting, are generally measured at fair value on the date of grant based on the number of
shares granted, estimated forfeitures and the quoted price of the common stock. Such value is recognized as compensation
expense over the corresponding vesting period, generally three years to five years for awards currently outstanding. However,




for some RSUs currently outstanding, compensation expense is accelerated over the shortened requisite service period for
employees who meet the requirements for continued vesting. The following is a summary of time- based RSHs— RSU award
activity for 2023-2024 : Total Awards (in thousands) Weighted AverageGrant Date FairValueNon- vested — December 31,
262298720231, 038 $ 106. 98 Granted630 98. 86 —34-Granted556123-66-Vested ( 506) 101. 480- 80 383-—-54-Canceled (25
28 ) +64-106 . 82-20 Non- vested — December 31, 2623+20241 , 638-134 $ +66-104 . 98-96 Additional disclosures for time-
based RSUs: Year Ended December 31, %92—3%92—2—292—1—\Vetghted————— 202420232022Weighted average grant date fair value of
awards granted $ 98. 86 $ 123. 66 $ 90. 06 $-88-84-Fair value of awards vested during the year (in millions) 49 59 58730 —4
28—FAs of December 31, 2623-2024 , unrecognized compensation expense associated with the unvested RSUs outstanding was
$ 59 -3-million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 22 months. Long- Term Incentive Program
Awards Each performance unit represents the right to receive common shares at a future date based on our performance against
specified targets. The ultimate number of shares issued and the related compensation cost recognized is based on a comparison
of the final performance metrics to the specified targets, which can range from 0 % to 200 % of the targeted amounts. A
performance unit may be comprised of either a performance- based award or a market- based award. For performance- based
awards, performance units have a vesting schedule of three years and compensation expense is recognized based on the number
of common shares expected to be issued and the market price per common share on F- 252623-262024 Form 10- K the date of
grant. Over the performance period, the number of shares expected to be issued is adjusted upward or downward based upon the
probability of achievement of the performance targets. For market- based awards, performance units vest at the end of a three-
year period assuming continued employment and achievement of market- based performance goals. The fair value of market-
based performance awards was determined through the use of the Monte Carlo simulation method. The compensation expense
for the LTIP awards is recognized on a straight- line basis over the vesting terms. The following is a summary of LTIP award
activity, at 100 % of targeted amount, for 2823-2024 : Number of Performance UnitsWeighted AverageGrant Date FairValue (in
thousands) Non- vested — December 31, 2022292 2023227 $ 85-105 . 37-92 Granted67-Granted91 +33-97 . 98-70 Vested (
10760 ) 70-98 . 95-44 Canceled (565 ) H4-98 . 3479 Non- vested — December 31, 2623227-2024193 $ 106. 79 The
determination of achievement results and corresponding vesting of the 2021 LTIP awards occurred in February 2024
resulting in recipients receiving approximately 101, 000 shares of common stock with a fair value of $ +65— 10 million .
92-As of December 31, 20623-2024 , we estimate that approximately 60, 000, 36, 000 and 9 | -806,-83;-060-and-57, 000 shares
will vest with less than $ 8--1 million, $ 1 —6-million and $ 54-2-million in unamortized compensation expense related to the
26242022 and-, 2023 and 2024 LTIP grants, respectively , and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period
of 18 months . Our employee stock purchase plan (the “ ESPP ) enables employees to purchase shares of Insperity stock at a 5
% discount from the stock price at the end of the offering period. The ESPP is a non- compensatory plan under GAAP for
stock- based compensation. As a result, no compensation expense is recognized in conjunction with this plan. Approximately
46, 000, 39 860,36~ 000 and 36, 000 shares were issued from treasury under the ESPP during fiscal years 2024, 2023 ;-and
2022 and2024-, respectively. 10. Earnings Per Share Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period, plus the dilutive effect of time- sested-based and
performance- based fesfﬁefed—sfeeleuﬂi—ts—(iRSUs 23~ The following table summarizes the net income and the basic and diluted
shares used in the earnings per share computations: Year Ended December 31, (in theusands-millions ) 2602320222624 Net
202420232022Net income $ 91 § 171 ;3825 179 ;350-$1424,-680-Weighted average common shares eutstanding37
outstanding38 ;86738 - H5-38 ;43+-Incremental shares from assumed time- ¥ested-based and performance- based RSU
awards535—-- awards 564+47H— — 1 Adjusted weighted average common shares outstanding38 ;342-38 -6+6-38;902
Potentialy-39 An immaterial number of shares of time- based and performance- based RSU awards were excluded from
the calculation of diluted earnlngs per share due to such shares belng anti- dllutlve durmg the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively. see 0 d e d cre-to d 6
262023-272024 Form 10- K 11. Leases We have operatlng leases for ofﬁce space, other operatlng facﬂmes Vehlcles and ofﬁce
equipment. Our fixed operating lease costs for 2024, 2023 and 2022 and2624-were $ 20 million, $ 19 —5-million, and $ 19
18 F-mithen;and-$18-—2-million, respectively, and are included in general and administrative expenses on our Consolidated
Statements of Income and-Cemprehenstvetneome-. During 2023-2024 , cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of
operating lease liabilities was $ 24 22-9-million. The following table presents the lease balances within our Consolidated
Balance Sheets, weighted average lease term and weighted average discount rates related to our operating leases: (dollars in
theusands-millions ) Classification in Consolidated Balance SheetsDecember 31, 2023Fease-2024Lease liabilities: Current
operating lease liabilitiesOther accrued liabilities $ 19 ;-8+6-Long- term operating lease liabilitiesOperating lease liabilities, net
of eurrentS7-current66 -494-Total operating lease habiities?Hliabilities85 s3+6-Less: Landlord funded tenant improvements13
7004-Deferred rentérent7 -868-Operating lease ROU assetsRight- of- use leased assets § 65 57438 Weighted average
remaining lease term5 yearsWeighted average discount ated-rate5 —2-% The following presents the maturity of our operating
feases— lease liabilities as of December 31, 2623-2024 : (in theusands-millions ) Operating feases2024-Leases2025 $ 23 202620
22:-604-262518-202718 202813 —9-15—292-6-15—3—1—7—2924—1—2—67-9—29%[% 20298 -84+Thereafter7Thereafter16 +52-Total
remaining ebligation85- obligation98 ;-508-Lcss imputed interest8-interest13 ;- 498-Present value of lease liabilities $ 85 77
340-As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we have additional operating leases that have not yet commenced of $ 22 29-—F-million
with lease terms between three-two and eleven-eight years. 12. Commitments and Contingencies We enter into fixed purchase
and service obligations in the ordinary course of business. These arrangements primarily consist of advertising commitments and
service contracts. At December 31, 2623-2024 , future purchase and service obligations greater than $ 100, 000 and one year
were as follows: F- 2—7’%92—3—282024 Form 10- K (in theusands-millions ) 2024-2025 $ 60 202640 33,472202521.-622-20267;
55220273-202731 202821 ;- H3-20283,159 Thereafter—otal obligations § 152 68;-948-Litigation We are a defendant in




various lawsuits and claims arising in the normal course of business. Management believes it has valid defenses in these cases
and is defending them vigorously. While the results of litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes the
final outcome of such litigation will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations. F-
282623-292024 Form 10- K Exhibit 10. 14 DIRECTORS COMPENSATION PLAN (Amended and Restated as of January
1, 2025) Page SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS 1 SECTION 2. ADMINISTRATION 4 SECTION 3. PARTICIPANTS 4
SECTION 4. BENEFITS 4 SECTION 5 . GENERAL PROVISIONS 9 INSPERITY, INC. INCENTFE-DIRECTORS
COMPEN SATION PL A\J PREAMBLE WHEREAS (as—Ameﬂded-aﬂd—Restated—E-ffeefwe—M-&y—z—z— 2023 RESTRICTED

. N e 2 3 3 s-between-nsperity, [nc. (the «
Company’ and—prevmusly adopted the Insperlty, Inc Dlrectors Compensatlon Plan (the “ Grantee-Plan ) in order to
promote the interests of the Company by encouraging Directors (as defined below) to acquire or increase their equity
interests in the Company and to provide a means whereby such persons may develop a sense of proprietorship and
personal involvement in the development and financial success of the Company; and WHEREAS | effective August 15,
2012, the Company amended and restated the Plan in its entirety; and WHEREAS, effective April 1, 2017, the Company
amended and restated the Plan in its entirety; and WHEREAS, effective January 1, 2019, the Company amended the
Plan; and WHEREAS, effective January 1, 2021, the Company amended the Plan; and WHEREAS, effective January 1,
2022, the Company amended the Plan; and WHEREAS, effective January 1, 2024, the Company amended the Plan; and
WHEREAS, the Company desires to amend and restate the Plan in its entirety. NOW, THEREFORE, the Company
hereby amends and restates the Plan as set forth herein, effective as of January 1, 2025. SECTION 1. For purposes of the
Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated: 1. 1 Annual Director Award Date means for each calendar
year in which this Plan is in effect, the date on which the annual meeting of the stockholders of the Company is held in
that year. 1. 2 Applicable Date means for the annual Board retainer, committee membership retainers and annual
committee chair fees, the last day of the quarter. 1. 3 Award Agreement means Award Agreement as such term is
defined under the Insperity, Inc. Incentive Plan. 1. 4 Board means the Board of Directors of the Company. 1. 5 Cause
means: (a) the Director whose removal is proposed has been convicted, or when a Director is granted immunity to testify
when another has been convicted, of a felony by a court of competent jurisdiction and such conviction is no longer
subject to direct appeal; (b) such Director has been found by the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board at any
regular or special meeting of the Board called for that purpose or by a court of competent jurisdiction to have been
guilty of willful misconduct in the performance of his or her duties to the Company in a matter of substantial importance
to the Company; or (c) such Director has been adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be mentally
incompetent, which mental incompetency directly affects his or her ability as a Director of the Company. 1. 6 Committee
means the Compensation Committee of the Board or any other committee as may be designated by the Board. 1. 7
Common Stock means Common Stock as such term is defined under the Insperity, Inc. Incentive Plan. 1. 8
Compensation means the Participant’ s annual Board retainer, committee membership retainers and any retainers and
fees earned by the Participant for chairing committees during the applicable calendar year, as set forth in Appendix A,
which may be amended from time to time by the Board. 1. 9 Director means a member of the Board, excluding any
individual who is alse an employee of the Company or enrre-a subsidiary thereof. 1. 10 Disability means the inability to
perform the duties of the Director’ s position for a period of six (6) consecutive months or for an aggregate of six (6)
months during any twelve (12) month period after the Grant Date by reason of any medically determinable physical or
mental impairment, as determined by the Board in the Board’ s sole discretion. 1. 11 Reserved. 1. 12 Fair Market Value
means, as applied to a specific date, Fair Market Value as such term its— is Subsidiartes-defined under the Insperity ,
fegafdrmg—lnc Incentlve Plan. 1 13 Grant Date means the automatic date of grant of an award under the Plan (this*

v 3 2 ek(-as defined-provided for in Section 4. 1. 14
Insperlty, Inc. Incentive Plan or Incentlve Plan means lhe lnspum Inc. Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective
May 22, 2023 ¢, and as amended from time to time. 1. 15 Option means an Option as such term is defined under the <
Insperity, Inc Incentive Plan 2} 1. 16 Participant means each Director , excluding any Director who elects in writing not
to participate in the Plan. 1. 17 Stock Award means a Stock Award as such term is defined under the Insperity, Inc.
Incentive Plan. 1. 18 Treasury Stock means issued shares of Company Stock that are held by the Company. SECTION 2.
2. 1 Administration. The Plan shall be administered by the Board. The Board shall have the complete authority and
power to interpret the Plan, prescribe, amend and rescind rules relating to tnits—- its eomprising-administration,
determine a Participant’ s right to a payment and the amount of such payment, and to take all other actions necessary or
desirable for the administration of the Plan. In the event the Board determines that the number of actual meetings for the
Board or a committee exceeds three (3) times the number of regularly scheduled meetings during a calendar year, the
Board may provide for an adjustment to the Compensation paid for the corresponding retainer to compensate Directors
for the addltlonal attended meetings. All actlons and dec1s1ons of the Board shall be final and blndlng upon all persons 2.

capltahzed aﬂd—fuft-heﬁwbjeet—te—the—feﬂeiﬁng—ltlms and—eeﬁd-rt-reﬁs—shall have the meanlngs as51gned thereto in the
Incentive Plan. SECTION 3. 3. | Participants . Relationship-Each Director shall be eligible to Plan-be a Participant . This
Award-SECTION 4. 4. 1 Retainer, Meeting and Committee Chair Fees. The Compensation of Directors is subjeetto-alt-of
fhe—t&ms—e&rdﬁeﬂs—set forth in Appendlx A. The Compensatlon for annual retainers and annual commlttee chalr fees

, 1f any, w
Aﬁy—qﬁes&eﬁ—shall be paid to each Dlrector on a quarterly basis, with each 1nstallment belng equal to one- fourth of

interpretation-arising-under-this-Agreement-the annualized amount set forth in Appendix A and being paid as soon as




administratively feasible following the end of the quarter. Annually, each Director may elect, prior to the date that the
Compensation would otherwise be first payable to such Director in cash, to receive all such Compensation in shares of
Company Stock. The number of shares of Company Stock to be paid to an electing Director shall be determined by
dividing the Director’ s Compensation to be paid on such date by the Fair Market Value of the Company Stock on the
Applicable Date, with any fractional share paid in cash. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, payment in shares of
Company Stock may only be made by the Company with shares of Treasury Stock. In the event the number of shares of
Treasury Stock is insufficient on any date to make all such payments provided for in this Section 4. 1 in full, the-then
Committee-all Directors who are entitled to receive shares of Company Stock on such date shall share ratably in the
number of shares available and ts-determinations-the balance of each such Director’ s Compensation shall be final-and
eonelustve-upon-paid in cash. An individual Director’ s ratable share shall be calculated by dividing such Director’ s
eligible Compensation applicable to such payment by the total of all partiesirinterest-electing Directors’ eligible
Compensation applicable to such payment . Exeept-An election to receive payment of Compensation in Company Stock
rather than in cash shall be made in such manner as defined-the Committee may from time to time prescribe. 4. 2 Equity
Award Grants. Directors shall be granted equity awards in accordance with the terms provided below and subject to
applicable terms and limitations set forth in the Company’ s Incentive Plan and the applicable Award Agreements.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary , eapitalized-terms-if the number of shares of Common Stock available
for equity awards under the Incentive Plan is insufficient to make all grants of the awards provided for below on the
applicable grant date, then all Directors who are entitled to an award on such date shall share ratably in the number of
shares then available for awards under the Incentive Plan, and Directors shall have no right the-same-meanings-aseribee-to
receive an award with respect to them the under-deficiencies in the number of available shares. 4. 3 Reserved. 4. 4
Annual Director Award. (a) On the Annual Director Award Date, each Director who is in office immediately after the
annual meeting on such date shall be granted a Stock Award of a number of shares of Common Stock with an aggregate
Fair Market Value as set forth in Appendix A, determined as of the Grant Date. The Annual Director Awards shall be
100 % vested and exercisable and shall be rounded up to the next higher whole share amount in the case of a fractional
share amount. No Annual Director Award will be made to an individual Director if such Director gives advance written
notice to the Board that the-—- he or she does not wish Plan—2—Vesting-Sehedtle—(a)-Subjeet-to Seetions2-receive such
award. (b) A Director who is appointed to ;2-(e);2()-and-3-below;-O-of the Restrieted-Board for the first time after
January 1, 2025, shall be automatically granted, on the date of his or her appointment to the Board, a Stock Units-granted
under-this-Award of a number of shares of Common Stock with an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the Annual
Director Award as set forth in Appendix A, determined as of the Grant Date, but such Award shall be pro- rated based
on the date of the last annual meeting, rounded to the nearest month (“ Initial Annual Director Award ”). The Initial
Annual Director Award shall be 100 % vested and exercisable and shall be rounded up to the next higher whole share
amount in the case of a fractional share amount. (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Director whose initial service on
the Board begins as a result of being elected or appointed to the Board at the annual meeting shall receive the Annual
Director Award, but not an Initial Annual Director Award. 4. 5 Termination of Director Options. Any Option previously
granted to a Director shall terminate and be of no force and effect with respect to any shares of Common Stock not
previously purchased by the Director upon the first to occur of: (i) the tenth (10th) anniversary of the Grant Date for
such award; or (ii) the expiration of (A) three months following the Director’ s termination of service for Cause; or (B)
three years following the Director’ s termination of service for any other reason. Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, the normal expiration date for Options shall not be extended. 4. 6 Forfeiture of Director Stock Awards. Any
portion of a Stock Award to a Dlrector whlch has not bumm v ested on or before eaeh—&ﬁﬂtta-l—&ﬂﬂrvefsafy—e-f—l 1c Avward




fhe—Restﬂeted—SfeeleUﬁrts—shd bc ev ldLnLLd b\ beeieerﬁw—reg—rstra-t—reﬁ—wﬁrth—respeet—an Award Agreement between the
Company and such Director that sets forth the terms, conditions and limitations described in this Plan, if any, the
Incentive Plan and any additional terms, conditions and limitations applicable to eachRestrieted-the Option or the Stock
Bnitthat Award. 4. 8 Pro- Ration of Compensation. In the event a Dlrector is elected or appomted to the Board at any
time during the year, or if a Director becomes wes e

Gr&ﬂtee-ts—eﬂt-rt-}ed-te—reeewe—a commlttee member or commlttee chalr

commlttee retamer and annual commlttee chalr fee shd be dehvefed-te-pald pro- rata based on service for the Grantee
calendar year quarter, rounded to the nearest month based on the date of election or appointment. In the event a
Director resigns from the Board, a committee or as seen-committee chair, compensation for the respective retainer or fee
will be similarly paid pro- rata based on service for the calendar year quarter. SECTION 5. 5. 1 Amendment and
Termination. The Board may from time to time amend, suspend or terminate the Plan, in whole or in part; provided,
however, no amendment, suspension or termination of the Plan may impair the right of a Participant to receive any



benefit accrued hereunder prior to the effective date of such amendment, suspension or termination. Notwithstanding
the preceding sentence, equity awards under the Plan will cease without any action of the Committee or Board if the
Incentive Plan, or successor plan, expires and the Board does not designate another plan under which the equity awards
are to be made 5 2 Compllance with Securltles Laws. It is the 1ntent10n of the Company that, so long as any of

C ompam ’s equ1ty shatls

al-securities are registered

pursuant to Sectlon 12 (b) or 12 (g) of the Securltles exeh&nge—Exchange Act eihrnfef—dea-}efquotaﬁoﬂ—s-ystem—upoﬂ—wﬁeh

eemmume&ﬁen—te—t-he—@emp&ny—m{h—respeet—te-llm Aw&fd—Plan shall lx operated in wrrt—rng—compllance w1th Section 16 (b)
thereof. APPENDIX Alnsperity, Inc. Directors Compensation Plan (Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2025) 5. 3
Applicable Law. Except to the extent preempted by applicable federal law, the Plan shall be delivered:—(a)-byregistered-or
eertifted-United-construed and governed in accordance with the laws of the States— State of Delaware mathpostageprepaid;
to-Insperity;dne-. Directors' Compensation & Equity Awards Effective January 1 , Attn-General-Counsel2025
BoardCompensation CommitteeFRMA CommitteeN & CG CommitteeLead Independent DirectorCommonality ,
Equality, & Cohesion Board LiaisonAnnual Retainer $ 85, 000 $ 10, 000 $ 15,000 $ S, 000 $ 42, 500 $ 35, 000Annual
Committee Chair Fees * N/ A §$ 15, 000 $ 25, 000 $ 15, 000N / AN / AAnnual Director Award $ 190, 000N / AN/ AN / AN
/ AN/ A * Committee chair fee is in addition to the committee member retainer fee. Certain portions of this exhibit have
been omitted pursuant to Rule 601 (b) (10) of Regulation S- K. The omitted information is (i) not material and (ii) the
type of information that the Company treats as private or confidential. Exhibit 10. 42 October 25, 2024 Mr. James D.
Allison EVP of Comprehensive Benefits Solutions and Chief Profitability Officer 19001 Crescent Springs Drive 5
Kingwood ¥€536-66)-, TX Kingweod,Texas-77339 Dear Jim: For [ | clients with Insperity “ Client Service Agreement
Effective Dates ” between [ |, through [ |, UnitedHealthcare will [ ] for each [ | covered for health insurance under
UnitedHealthcare and Insperity’ s Minimum Premium Financial Agreement and the Minimum Premium Administrative
Services Agreement (the “ [ ] ). To qualify, an [ | member must be included on the [ ], UnitedHealthcare membership
report to be considered eligible for the [ ]. The [ | will be executed as a [ | in the first or second quarter of 2025. The [ |
being offered is designed to help [ | and is in addition to any prior [ | provided for under the Minimum Premium
Financial Agreement, amended and restated effective January 1, 2005, as amended, between the parties (the *“ MPFA ”)
or the Minimum Premium Administrative Services Agreement, amended and restated effective January 1, 2005, as
amended, between the parties (the “ MPASA ” and, together with the MPFA, the “ Minimum Premium Agreements ).
Insperity is to provide UHC with the requisite information between [ |, and [ |, on a [ | basis to allow UHC to verify [ | for
[ ] members. For purposes of this [ |, [ ]| members will be measured once by UHC, on [ |, 2025, for purposes of [ |]. UHC
will" [ ]" the [ ] based on the [ ], 2025 [ ] of additional [ | members if [ ] or [ | compared to the [ ], 2025 measurement is [ |
members. Insperity and UHC further agree that the [ | contemplated herein is intended to be a [ ] event and shall in no
way subsequently amend or modify the Minimum Premium Agreements (other than as expressly set forth in this letter).
The parties also acknowledge and agree that the terms and conditions of this letter agreement, including the existence
thereof, are subject to the provisions of Section 5 (e) of the MPASA, relating to publicity of the arrangement. If you agree
with the terms of this Letter of Agreement, please sign below and return an executed copy to me via email to [ ]. Should
you have any questions, please call me at ([ ]) [ |]. Best Regards /s / Anthony R. CarrAnthony R. CarrNational Vice
President, UnitedHealthcareAGREED TO AND ACCEPTED BY: /s / James D. AllisonInsperity Holdings, Inc. James
D. AllisonEVP of Comprehensive Benefits Solutions and Chief Profitability OfficerDate: _ 10/29/

2024 In the normal course of business, officers, directors, employees and agents of Insperity, Inc.
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “ Company ) may come into possession of significant, sensitive, confidential or
proprietary information. In the eyes of the law, this information is considered the Company’ s property ; persons
affiliated with the Company are entrusted with this information and have a duty to protect it against inappropriate use
or disclosure. Because the Company’ s common stock is publicly traded, federal securities laws generally prohibit any
director, officer, employee or agent of the Company and entities ( b-such as trusts, limited partnerships, limited liability
companies and corporations ) over which such individuals have or share voting or investment control (each, a “ Covered
Person ) possessing material nonpublic information about the Company from buying or selling Company securities or
passing on such information to other buyers or sellers. For purposes of the laws prohibiting insider trading, Company
securities include the Company’ s common stock as well as options, and include direct holdings as well as indirect
holdings, such as holdings through employee benefit plans. Substantial legal penalties can be imposed on the Company
and on any individual Covered Person for a violation of these laws. In addition, certain transactions must be reported by
Covered Persons hand-- and delivery/ or otherwise-to-Insperity,Ine-the Company in filings with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission (“ SEC ”) %&n—The purpose of this Policy is to facilitate compliance with these
laws by : Gen g5 v o 1 €5-16-60-) s Kingwood,Texas7733%-informing
Covered Persons of thelr responsnblhtles in thls area ; (2) establlshlng procedures or-for certain Covered Persons to
follow before trading in Company securities; ( €3 ) informing Covered Persons of the consequences of violating the law
and this Policy; and (4) assisting Covered Persons and the Company with reporting information regarding trades in
Company securities when applicable. The Company has adopted this Policy to fulfill the Company’ s obligation to




prevent insider trading and to help Covered Persons avoid the severe consequences associated with violation of the
insider trading laws. The Company also intends to prevent even the appearance of improper conduct on the part of
anyone employed by emait-or associated with the Company by prohibiting all speculative trading in Company stock. 1.
Federal Insider Trading Laws The Law. Federal insider trading laws generally prohibit any Covered Person (or any
Family Member of a Covered Person — see Part II below) who possesses material nonpublic information (also referred to
as “ inside information ) relating to the Company from buying or selling shares of common stock or other securities of
the Company or any publicly traded options on shares of common stock or other Company securities, or engaging in any
other action to take advantage of, or pass on to others, that information. The key is that a person possesses the material
nonpublic information — it does not matter whether the material nonpublic information is the basis for the buying or
selling of securities. Moreover, personal trading transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent
reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure) are not an exception. The SEC, which is the
primary U. S. enforcer of the federal securities laws, takes the view that the mere fact that a person knows or possesses
the information is enough to bar him or her from trading, even if the reasons for the potential trade are not based on
that information. This prohibition also extends to all material inside information that may be acquired in the course of a
person’ s employment or relationship with the Company relating to the securities issued by other companies. If you have
any questions regarding the application of these policies, please contact the Company’ s General Counsel or-, who is the
designated compliance officer with respect to his-this detegate-Policy . Notwithstanding-Materiality. In applying this
Policy, it is often necessary for Covered Persons to determine whether certain information is material nonpublic
information. Information may be considered “ material ” when the information, whether positive or negative, might be
of possible significance to an investor in a decision to purchase, sell or hold stock or the-other foregoing;in-the-securities.
Information may be significant for this purpose event- even if it would not alone determine the investor’ s decision.
Chances are, if a person learns something that leads that person to want to buy or sell securities, the address-ofthe
Company-information will be considered material. Thus, even speculative information can be material; information that
something is ehanged-likely to happen or not happen , notieesshattinstead-or even that it may or may not happen, can be
made-purstant-considered material. In short, any information which could reasonably be expected to affect the feregoing
provistons-at-price of the security is material information and, if not public, material nonpublic information. See “ When
Information is Public ” below. By way of example, it is probable that the following information, in most circumstances,
would be deemed material: * annual, quarterly or monthly financial results; * a change in earnings or earnings
projections or a significant change in the Company’ s financial condition; * discussions, negotiations and agreements
regarding a significant proposed or pending transaction, including a merger, acquisition, business combination, or
tender offer; ¢ a significant sale of assets or then— the eurrent-address—Any noticesprovided-disposition of a significant
subsidiary; e significant changes in prlces, customers, -fer— or supphers, . planned changes in d1v1dend t-hrs—Agreemeﬂt—«
distribution policies; ¢ declaration -tk gtven v e §
uponreeeiptor,in-the-ease-of ﬁet-tees—dehvefed-a stock spht the 1n1t1at10n ofa stock buy- back program, or the offermg of
addltlonal debt or equlty securltles, ] entermg into s1gn1ﬁcant new contracts or the non- performance or termination by

&S sh -eon atton h § S-past-serviee 1ntellectual property rlghts,
significant labor dlsputes, ) s1gn1ﬁcant cybersecurity incidents , 1nclud1ng vulnerabilities and breaches; ¢ top
management changes; or e significant changes in the Company’ s ebligatiente-deliver-product or service offerings. This list
is not exhaustive; the-other shares-types of information may also Cemmon-Stoekto-Grantee-upon-the-vestingof Restrieted
Stoek-Units-shall-be subjeetto-the-payment-material. Covered Persons must not engage in fi-any transaction that is
described above untll after thls type of mformatlon becomes pubhc When Informatlon is Public. Informatlon is
considered th h p 3

-rssu&nee—éeel-}eet-rve}y—t-he— pubhc P&Hla-l-ue— )—”Phe—Gr&ntee—&ppreves—and atrt-heﬂzes—t-he—eempany—no longer « 1ns1de i only
after it has been effectively disclosed in a manner sufficient to insure deduet-the-Par-Valie-of the-shares-of Commeon-Steek

fromrthe-Grantee’s-payrot-from-the-Company-or-its availability affiliates—H-the-Company-is-unable-to the investing public.
This disclosure generally requires reporting through widely circulated news or etherwise-wire services or in major
financial newspapers, or public disclosure in a filing with the SEC. Selective disclosure to a few persons does not make
such-payrott-deduetiorrinformation public. Furthermore , Grantee-acknowledges-and-agrees-that-adequate dissemination
requires allowing enough time after he-the announcement shatt-be-respensible-for the market to react to payment-ofany




and-at-federal;-state-and-Hoeal-taxes-onsuehineome-if-the information Companypays-thePar-Value-on-behalfof Grantee-. It is
the 9—Withhelding—The- policy that material information is not deemed to have been adequately disseminated
until one full trading day has elapsed following the release of such information to the public. In this regard, the
Company will deem that one full trading day has elapsed if such information is released to the public before 10: 30 a. m.
Central Time on the preceding trading day. As an example, if the Company issues a press release containing financial
results and also conducts a teleconference to discuss the financial results and to provide financial guidance prior to 10:
30 a. m. Central Time on a Monday that is a trading day, the information would not be deemed to have been adequately
disseminated until trading markets open on Tuesday. On the other hand, if material information is released after 10: 30
a. m. Central Time on a Monday that is a trading day, the information would not be deemed to have been adequately
disseminated until the trading markets opened on Wednesday. Tipping. Information that could have an impact on
Company stock price, or sensitive information relating to other companies, including customers, suppliers or potential
parties to contracts or transactions, must not be passed intentionally or inadvertently on to other companies or people
(such as family members, friends, relatives or business associates). When “ tipping ” occurs, both the “ tipper ” and the «
tippee ” may be held liable under the insider trading laws, and this liability may extend to all those to whom the tippee
gives the information. The legal penalties described below are applicable whether or not a tipper derives any benefit
from a tippee’ s actions. II. Restrictions on Purchases, Sales and Certain Other Activities General Policy. It is the
Company’ s policy that if a Covered Person possesses material nonpublic information concerning the Company, then
that Covered Person may not (1) buy, sell, gift, or otherwise trade in stock or other securities of the Company (including
options relating to such securities) or (2) pass on such information to others. This policy also extends to trading in stock
or other securities issued by other companies, such as customers, suppliers, competitors or joint venture partners
(including options relating to such securities), if a Covered Person has acquired or possesses material nonpublic
information relating to such companies in the course of his or her employment or affiliation with the Company. Family
Members. All restrictions in this policy that apply to a Covered Person, including Trading Windows, Special Blackout
Periods and pre- clearances, also apply to his or her Family Members, regardless of whether such Family Members are
aware of or possess the material nonpublic information. It is the responsibility of each Covered Person to ensure that his
or her Family Members comply with this policy. In this policy, the “ Family Members ” of a Covered Person mean his or
her spouse, minor children, other adults living in the same household, any family members who do not live in the same
household but whose transactions in stock or other securities of the Company are directed by such Covered Person or
are subject to influence or control by such Covered Person, and entities (such as trusts, limited partnerships, limited
liability companies and corporations) over which such individuals have or share voting or investment control. Trading
Window. In addition to the general policy prohibiting trading while in possession of material nonpublic information, it is
the Company’ s policy that (1) directors of the Company, (2) officers of the Company holding the office of “ senior vice
president ” or higher (“ Senior Officers ), (3) any employee designated to the General Counsel by any Senior Officer,
and (4) all members of the Company’ s Disclosure Committee (collectively, “ Special Covered Persons ), may purchase
and sell stock or other securities of the Company only during the following periods (“ Trading Window ): * the 45- day
periods beginning on the second business day following the release of the Company’ s quarterly financial results for the
first, second and third quarters; and ¢ the 30- day period beginning on the second business day following the public
release of the Company’ s fourth quarter and annual financial results. At the direction of the General Counsel, the
Company will notify any individuals designated pursuant to clause (3) above that they are considered Special Covered
Persons and whether they are also subject to the pre- clearance policy. Special Blackout Periods. From time to time a
potentially material event or set of circumstances (such as merger and acquisition activities) may require the Company
to implement a blackout period related to that specific event or set of circumstances (a “ Special Blackout Period ). If
you could have access to material nonpublic information concerning that event or circumstances, the Company may
designate you as being subject to the Special Blackout Period. If you are made subject to a Special Blackout Period, you
(and your Family Members) may not engage in any transaction involving the purchase or sale of Company stock until
advised that the Special Blackout Period has been terminated. Special Blackout Periods will only be announced to those
Covered Persons who are aware of the event or circumstances giving rise to the Special Blackout Period. Covered
Persons made aware of the existence of a Special Blackout Period may not disclose the existence of the Special Blackout
Period to any other person (other than Family Members solely for the purpose of ensuring their compliance with the
Special Blackout Period). Further, if a Covered Person has material nonpublic information relating to another company
as a result of such person’ s knowledge of a Special Blackout Period, that Covered Person may not trade in the securities
of the other company while in possession of such information. Required Trading Pre- Clearances. As a means of ensuring
compliance with the General Policy set forth above, directors, Senior Officers, and any other individuals informed by the
General Counsel that they are subject to this pre- clearance policy are required to pre- clear any and all transactions in
any Company securities with the General Counsel’ s office. Absent the receipt of such pre- clearance, transactions in
Company securities by any such persons are strictly prohibited. Please note that the requirement to pre- clear trades
applies notwithstanding the fact that a proposed transaction may fall during a Trading Window. A request for pre-
clearance should be submitted to the General Counsel a reasonable time in advance of the proposed transaction and
should be accompanied by a confirmation that the person seeking such clearance is not in possession of material
nonpublic information. The General Counsel’ s office is under no delivershares-ef- Commen-Steelkapprove a
transaction submitted for pre- clearance, and may determine not to permit the transaction. Clearance of a transaction is
valid only until the end of the second trading day following the day on which clearance was granted and any cleared
trade that is not executed within this time period (other than trading arrangements that by their approved terms are



intended to execute outside such time period) must be resubmitted to the General Counsel for pre- clearance. Even if the
trade is cleared, the person seeking clearance remains responsible for the decision to trade and no trade should be made
if the person is the-then Grantee-upet-in possession of material nonpublic information. If any Covered Person has any
question about whether the-they vesting-are subject to this pre- clearance requirement, he or she should contact the
Company’ s General Counsel. Exceptions to Trading Window and Required Trading Pre- Clearances The following
transactions are not subject to the Trading Window or the requirement to pre- clear trades: ¢ transactions under a
previously established contract or plan which (1) satisfies the requirements of Restrieted-the SEC’ s Rule 10b5- 1 and (2)
in the case of directors and Senior Officers, is approved by the Company. If you have questions or wish to establish such
a plan, please contact the Company’ s General Counsel; * “ direct ” (as opposed to “ cashless ” or “ broker assisted ”)
exercises of Company- issued options to purchase common Steelstock Units-shall, i. e., stock purchases pursuant to the
exercise of stock options where no sale of the underlying stock is involved (so- called “ exercise and hold ” transactions).
However, any exercises of options that result in the sale of stock or other securltles of the Company would be sub]ul to
the restrictions contained in this Policy; * acquisitions under satisfa b e

eﬁ&p-}eymeﬂt—tawthhel-dmg—reqtnrements—(—lhe i]E%eqtl-rreel—\‘vLl-t-lﬂl-lﬂle-lel-rngi)—’l"—lﬂre—( ompam shatbwithhold-from-the-Common

Employee f ehin d-deh it of- Common

stock to the Gr&ﬁtee—&nless—Company made to pay w1thhold1ng taxes due at the Gr&rrtee—vestmg of restricted stock
awarded by the Company. No Safe Harbor. The existence of a Trading Window should not be considered a safe harbor
for trading, and all Covered Persons should use good judgment at all times. For example, occasions may arise when
Covered Persons become aware during a Trading Window that earnings for the following quarter are likely to exceed, or
fall below, market expectations to an extent that could be material. In such a case, the general policy would still prohibit
trading even though the Trading Window is open. If any Covered Person ever has made-arrangements-with-questions
about whether the-they are permltted to trade in C ompam -fersecurltles at any partlcular t1me, t-he— he Gr&ﬁtee—te-dehvef

Requ—rred—Wrt-h-he-ld-rng—General Counsel Other Restrlctlons No Short Sales Covered Persons are prohlblted from makmg
any short sales of Company common stock or any other Company securities. No Trading in Options. Covered Persons
are prohibited from engaging in transactions in put options , shati-call options or other derivative securities of Company
stock. A transaction in these kinds of options is, in effect, a be-bet on the short- term movement of the Company’ s stock,
and thus could create the appearance that one is trading bascd on theFair-Market-Value-of the-shares-of Common-inside
information. No Hedging Transactions. Covered Persons are prohibited from engaging in hedging transactions involving
Company Steelestock or other Company securities. Certain forms of hedging or monetization transactions (such as zero-
cost collars and forward sale contracts) allow a person to lock in much of the value of his or her stock holdings, often in
exchange for all or part of the potential upside appreciation in the stock. These transactions would allow a person to
continue to own the covered securities, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. Thus, a person who engaged
in these transactions would no longer have the same objectives as the Company’ s other shareholders. Limited Use of
Standing or Limit Orders. Standing and limit orders (except orders intended to comply with the SEC’ s Rule 10bS- 1)
create heightened risks for insider trading violations. There is no control over the timing of purchases or sales that result
from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result the broker could execute a transaction when a Covered Person is
in possession of material nonpublic information, which could draw scrutiny of the transaction. Due to the heightened

rlsks to you, the Company cautlons you agalnst placmg standlng or limit orders on thw

place, modify or cancel a standlng obk

perm-rtted—hefern.—l—l.—l%tght—te—Efnpleymeﬁt—m hmlt order

thisﬁgreement—h in possessmn held—by—a—eettﬁ—ol eempeteﬁtjﬂﬂsdfeﬁen—te—be—rfwahd-materlal nonpubhc 1nf0rmatlon In
addition , tHegal-a Special Covered Person may only place , modify orunenfoereeable—for-- or any-reasonsueh-invalidity;

fl-legal-rey—er—tmeﬁfefeea-bﬁ-rt-yhsh&l-l-cancel a limit order durlng a Tradlng Wmdow and the limit order may not a—ffeet—&n-y—e-f




h lhc Company’ s general Tradmg Wlndow (

bus'rness—ts—pred-ieated—Aeeerd-'rng—ly—otlm than #-limit orders 1ntended to comply with the requirements fegitimate
Gr&ﬂtee—the SEC s Rule 10b5- job-duttes;-Grantee-agrees:—1) . If apphcable to that Speclal Covered Person
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obtain pre- clearance w1th the General Counsel eopyingordupheatingitinan b he er;-an §
use-on-Grantee- s owirbehatfoffice before placing, modlfylng, or cancehng a hm1t order Pledges of Slgnlﬁcant Amounts
of Company Stock Are Prohibited; Pre- Approval Required. Covered Persons are prohibited from holding a significant
amount of Company securities in a margin account or pledging a significant amount of Company stock as collateral or
for on-behalf-a loan, except in connection with a broker assisted exercise and sale of stock when any third-party-orto
diselose-loan is outstanding only until the PreprietaryInformation-to-any personorentity-sale is cleared (i. e., a so- called

cashless optlon exercises 7). Brokers may generally sell stock in a margm account w nhout the customer pﬂeﬁ‘ﬂﬁeﬂ

p hteh-Grantee-ace ates ng-Gramnte E—mp-leymeﬂt—&re—consent if the customer fails to meet
a margin call. Slmllarly, secur1t1es pledged as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on
the loan. Because the-these exelustve-property-ofsales could occur at a time when a Covered Person possesses material
nonpublic information, Covered Persons may not engage in the-these types of transactions (except in connection with a
cashless exercise of stock options when any loan is outstanding only until the sale is cleared) without the prior approval
of the Board of Directors. Any request to pledge C ompany securities must be submitted to —Upen-the-terminationrof

Grantee™sEmploymentoratany-timeupon-the Company’ s General Counsel, who will present the request -Grantee-shatt
surrender-and-deliver-to the Board of D1rectors for cons1derat10n In determlnlng whether to permlt a pledge of C ompam

securities f&nd—net—keep—
Board

Gr&ﬂtee—agrees—m be pledged ; § atton Aty atton S
significant er-hereomputer-, sm&rtpheﬂe—t&b-let—er—based on such facts and c1rcumstances ex1st1ng at the t1me and any other
personal-eleetroniestorage-deviees-information deemed relevant by the Board of Directors. Post Employment or Other
Relationship. This Policy will continue to apply to Covered Persons after the termination of their employment or other
than—payrel-l—m—ferma&eﬁ—relatlonshlp w1th the Company If your employment or other -ﬁﬂanetal—rrrferma-t-teﬁ—that—eraﬁtee







(=9
=

ionsh

Relationship-relat






















A I
Ag-reemeﬂt—rﬂa—P&mﬁp&nt—s—Efnpleymeﬁt—lumlmlu or any reason pﬂer—te—t-he—‘vla-l-ua-t-teﬂ—Bate-whlle you are in possess1on of
material nonpublic information or ;-if-muttiple Performanee-you are subject to a Blackout Periods— Period or Special

Blackout Period , prier-you will continue to be subject to this Policy until the final-VataationDate-Blackout Period or
Special Blackout Period ends or until that information has become public or is no longer material. No Excuses.
Remember that transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise
money for an Awatd;-emergency expenditure) are neither an exception to this Policy nor a safeguard against prosecution
for violation of insider trading laws. The SEC takes the Partteipant-position that the mere fact that an employee knows of
or possesses inside 1nformat10n is a prohlbltlon to tradlng, 1t 1s no excuse that the employee S asserted reasons for
trading were Awa y not be-entitled
based on that 1nf0rmatlon ITI. Additional Rules for Dlrectors, Officers and Certaln Other Persons Short- Swmg Profit
Recapture and Beneficial Ownership Reporting. In addition to the rules set forth above, all directors, executive officers
and stockholders holding more than 10 percent of the outstanding shares of any class of stock (collectively, “ Insiders ”)
of public companies are subject to certain additional rules governing their transactions in their company s stock.
Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 prohibits Insiders of the Company from buying any shares er-other-of
stock w1th1n six ameuﬂ-ts——— months before or after a sale, or selhng ttneleﬁhe—ferfeﬁedﬂ%w&rd—\q—BHH-BE-N-B

v any Award;-sabjeet-stock within six months
before or after a purchase Although Sectlon 16 is de51gned to stteh—terms—prevent the abuse of inside information ,

eondittons-it is and-- an absolute rule festrteﬁeﬂs—as—the—Gemfnﬁtee—may—esta-bl-rsh—prewded- hewever—t-h&t—and therefore it
applies whether or no-not the Insider actually possesses Dividend-Equivalents-shal-be-payablep
Award-and-any Dividend-Equivatentsshattbe-paid-in-material undlsclosed information. Addltlonally, Insiders of the
Company are requlred to report t-he—thelr ownershlp and transactions in Company securities to the SEC on certain form
forms o W A . In addition BividendEquivatentsmaybe
eredtted—vrﬁh—e&r&rrtgs—e%Bﬂﬂdeﬂd—eqﬂvaleﬂts- the Company as—has esta-bl-rshed—m—obhgatlons to report certain transactlons

of directors an-and executive officers in its SEC filings Aw
fhe—ttnelerl—ymg—F—ma—l—Award— 5vLI-I—\‘vLI—”l"—I-H-lGl:lal-l>~l€‘r—"l"—l&e—Ins1ders should contact the ( ompam S General Counsel eb-l-rg&t-teﬂ

applie&b-le—feelera-l— who has been de51gnated as state-and i ; diroreat “«
Reqe—'rred—\‘vfrt-h-he-ldmgi)—’[—he-( ompdm s-hal-l—have— s Sectlon 16 comphance ofﬁcer, before t-he—they engage in ﬁght—te-&eduet-

Company stock S0 that h y G qred BV 0
aetion-as-information necessary to prepare these forms may bc ﬂeeess&ey-m-obtalned and 1t can be determlned if the-there
epinterrofis any reason why the Insider should not be trading in Company te-satisfy-stock. Rule 144. Rule 144 under the
Securities Act of 1933 Required-requires Withhotding-that sales of Company shares by directors and officers be in
compliance with the volume, manner of sale, notice and other limitations of that rule . VH-A Form 144 must be
submitted to the SEC no later than the day you place a sell order . NO-EMPEOYMENT-CONTRACTIt is the
responsibility of the directors and officers to ensure that this form is submitted. IV. Compliance and Penalties
Surveillance. The granting-SEC and the national securities exchanges in the U. S. (including the New York Stock
Exchange) have extensive surveillance facilities that are used to monitor trading in stocks and stock options. Frequently,
these institutions have cooperative arrangements with comparable institutions outside the U. S. If a transaction in
Company securities becomes the subject of scrutiny, the transaction will be viewed after the fact. As a result, before
engaging in any transaction, all Covered Persons should carefully consider how regulators and others might view the
transaction in hindsight. Penalties. The consequences of insider trading violations can be severe under U. S. law. The
SEC takes the position that these laws apply to all transactions in stock (including options) and other securities of
companies listed for trading in the U. S., whether or not the actual trades take place in the U. S. For individuals who
trade on inside information (or tip information to others), penalties include: 1. A civil penalty of disgorgement, or return,
of profit gained or loss avoided, plus a fine of up to three times the profit gained or loss avoided; 2. A criminal fine (no
matter how small the profit) of up to $ 5 million; and 3. A jail term of up to 20 years. In addition to civil and criminal
penalties, persons contemporaneously trading at the time of a violation of the insider trading laws have the right to sue
the insider for an Award-under-amount equal to the Program-shallnetimpose-upon-profit gained or loss avoided by the
Company-insider in such transaction, offset by any ebligatior-amounts the insider is required to maintain-disgorge by the
SEC. For a company (as well as any Partieipantsupervisory person of a company) that fails to take appropriate steps to
prevent illegal trading, penalties include: 1. A civil penalty of up to the greater 0f $ 1 mllhon or three times the proﬁt
gained or loss avoided as atra result of the Employee-employee 6 it




anyPartieipant- s Employmentat-violation; and 2. A criminal penalty of up to $ 25 million. Compliance. All Covered
Persons must strictly comply with this Policy. Moreover, no Covered Person should engage in any transaction in which
timeBPCAMENDMENT-ORTERMINATION-The— he Committee-or she may amend-orterminate-even appear to be trading
while in possession of material nonpublic information. Failure to observe this Program-at-Policy may result in serious legal
difficulties for the involved Covered Person, as well as for the Company, including the possibility of civil suits by
stockholders. Company Sanctions. Failure to comply with this Policy may also subject Covered Persons to Company-
imposed sanctions and disciplinary action, mcludlng termmatlon of employment for cause, whether or not any failure to
comply with this Policy resulted in a violation tim v
mafeﬂ&Hy—&dvefse}y—a-ffeet—&te—ﬂghfs—of ﬁﬂy—P&f&erpeﬂt—uﬁder—law V Admmlstratlon Questlons All questlons ﬁn—and Avward
gt ith e etpantinquiries regarding this Policy and the prevention of insider
tradlng should be dlrected to the Company s w&&eﬂ—eeﬂseﬁt—General Counsel . If you are unsure about any aspect of X-
GEN—E&%EP—RG&L}S{GN-S—A—Neﬂght—&n&eths -Pfeg-raﬂa—Pohcy or its appllcablllty to you the-Planshall-be-assignable;either
volantarty-or . pie vy ge-of-any nature{exeeptgiven transaction
or 51tuat10n, as—ask may—be—fequﬁed—by—stafe-effor guldance -fee}efal—lawa— B—Net-hmg—m—However, the ultlmate respons1b111ty

he-date-ofthe-Rartetpant—-death—orf tet—d 'w1theach1nd1v1dualﬂ%e—feqt&feﬁﬂm—ef—€ede—8eeﬂeﬂ
4095A-. Date last reviewed and modified: February 6, 2024 Exhibit 21. 1 SUBSIDIARIES OF INSPERITY, INC. ¢ Insperity
Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Insperity, Inc. ¢ Insperity Enterprises, Inc., a Texas
corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Insperity Holdings, Inc. « Administaff Partnerships Holding, Inc., a Delaware
corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Insperity Holdings, Inc. * Insperity Captive Insurance Companies Limited, a Texas
corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Administaff Partnerships Holding, Inc. ¢ Insperity Business Services, L. P., a
Delaware limited partnership, with Insperity Holdings, Inc. being a 1 % general partner and Administaff Partnerships Holding,
Inc. being a 99 % limited partner. * Insperity Retirement Services, L. P., a Delaware limited partnership, with Insperity
Holdings, Inc. being a 1 % general partner and Administaff Partnerships Holding, Inc. being a 99 % limited partner. ¢ Insperity
Services, L. P., a Delaware limited partnership, with Insperity Holdings, Inc. being a 1 % general partner and Administaff
Partnerships Holding, Inc. being a 99 % limited partner. « Administaff Partnerships Holding II, Inc., a Delaware corporation and
wholly owned subsidiary of Insperity Services, L. P. ¢ Insperity GP, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary
of Insperity Services, L. P. « Insperity Support Services, L. P., a Delaware limited partnership, with Insperity GP, Inc. being a 1
% general partner and Administaff Partnerships Holding II, Inc. being a 99 % limited partner. * Administaff Companies, Inc., a
Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Insperity Holdings, Inc. * Administaff Partnerships Holding III, Inc., a
Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Administaff Companies, Inc. ¢ Insperity PEO Services, L. P., a Delaware
limited partnership, with Administaff Companies, Inc. being a 1 % general partner and Administaft Partnerships Holding III,
Inc. being a 99 % limited partner. * Insperity Insurance Services, L. L. C., a Delaware limited liability company and wholly
owned subsidiary of Insperity PEO Services, L. P.  Insperity Employment Screening, L. L. C, a Delaware limited liability
company and wholly owned subsidiary of Insperity Holdings, Inc. * Insperity Expense Management, Inc. a California
corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Insperity Holdings, Inc. ¢ Insperity Payroll Services, L. L. C., a Delaware limited
liability company and wholly owned subsidiary of Insperity Business Services, L. P. « IPS Client Trust, a Delaware statutory
trust and wholly owned subsidiary of Insperity Payroll Services, L. L. C. Exhibit 23. 1 We consent to the incorporation by
reference in the following Registration Statements: ¢1 ). Registration Statements (Form S- 8 Nos. 333- 273717, 333- 221310,
333- 181569) pertaining to the Insperity, Inc. Incentive Plan, {2 }. Registration Statements (Form S- 8 Nos. 333- 159007, 333-
140602, 333- 66344) pertaining to the Insperity, Inc. 2001 Incentive Plan, €3 ¥. Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333-
151275) pertaining to the Insperity, Inc. 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, {4 3. Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333-
118790) pertaining to the Insperity, Inc. Directors Compensation Plan, and €5 ¥. Registration Statements (Form S- 8 Nos. 333-
85151, 333- 66342) pertaining to the Insperity, Inc. Non- Qualified Stock Option Plan; of our reports dated February €-10 , 2624
2025 , with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Insperity, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Insperity, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10- K) of Insperity, Inc. for the year ended December
31,2023-2024 . / s/ Ernst & Young LLP Houston, Texas February $-10 , 2624-2025 EXHIBIT 24. 1 POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned, in my capacity as a director of Insperity, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (the" Company") appoints PAUL F=SARVADI, JAMES ALLISON BOGGEAS-S—SHARP-and
CHRISTIAN CALLENS and each of them, severally, as my true and lawful attorney or attorneys- in- fact and agent or agents,



each of whom shall be authorized to act with or without the other, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, to execute,
in my capacity as a director of the Company, and to file or cause to be filed, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the
Company' s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2823-2024 and any and all amendments thereto as
said attorneys or any of them shall deem necessary or incidental in connection therewith, and all materials required by the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with full power and authority to each of said attorneys- in- fact and agents to do
and perform in the name and on behalf of the undersigned, each and every act and thing whatsoever that is necessary,
appropriate or advisable in connection with any or all the above- described matters and to all intents and purposes as the
undersigned might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys- in- fact and agents or any of
them or their substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. / s / Tim Clifford January 22-31 , 2624+
2025Tim Clifford Date / s/ Eli Jones January 31, 2024E#-2025Eli Jones Date / s / Carol Kaufman January 23-31 , 2024€Caret
2025Carol Kaufman Pate-Datel /s / John Lumelleau January 31, 26243ehn-2025John Lumelleau Date /s / Ellen H. Masterson
January 29-31 , 2024EHen-2025Ellen H. Masterson Date / s / Randall A. Mehl Januwary22-February 4 , 2024Randat
2025Randall A. Mehl Date / s / John Morphy Jangary23-February 3 , 26243ehn-2025John Morphy Date /s / Latha Ramchand
January 23-31 , 2024Eatha-2025Latha Ramchand Date KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the
undersigned, in my capacity as a director of Insperity, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the'" Company") appoints PAUL J.
SARVADI, JAMES D. ALLISON and CHRISTIAN CALLENS and each of them, severally, as my true and lawful
attorney or attorneys- in- fact and agent or agents, each of whom shall be authorized to act with or without the other,
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, to execute, in my capacity as a director of the Company, and to file or
cause to be filed, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Company' s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the
year ended December 31, 2024 and any and all amendments thereto as said attorneys or any of them shall deem
necessary or incidental in connection therewith, and all materials required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, with full power and authority to each of said attorneys- in- fact and agents to do and perform in the name and
on behalf of the undersigned, each and every act and thing whatsoever that is necessary, appropriate or advisable in
connection with any or all the above- described matters and to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys- in- fact and agents or any of them or their
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. / s / Richard G. Rawson January23-February 4 ,
2624Riehard-2025Richard G. Rawson Date /s / W. Philip Wilmington February 5, 2025W. Philip Wilmington Date
Exhibit 31. 1 CERTIFICATION I, Paul J. Sarvadi, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10- K of
Insperity, Inc.; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other
financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s)
and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d-
15 (f)) for the registrant and have: (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’” s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial
reporting; and 5. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’ s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design
or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves
management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting. Date:
February §-10 , 2024-2025 / s / Paul J. Sarvadi Paul J. Sarvadi Chairman of the Board & Chief Executive Officer Exhibit 31. 2 1,
Deuglas-S-James D . Sharp-Allison , certify that: Date: February 8-10 , 2024-2025 / s / Peuglas-S-James D . SharpDouglas-S
Allison James D . Sharp-Allison Executive Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer Exhibit 32. 1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In connection with the Annual Report of Insperity, Inc. (the “ Company ”) on Form 10- K
for the period ending December 31, 2623-2024 , (the “ Report ™), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the
date hereof, I, Paul J. Sarvadi, Chairman of the Board & Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U. S.
C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge, that: 1. The Report
fully complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 2. The
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company. / s / Paul J. Sarvadi Paul J. Sarvadi Chairman of the Board & Chief Executive OfficerFebruary §-10 , 2624-2025



Exhibit 32. 2 In connection with the Annual Report of Insperity, Inc. (the “ Company ) on Form 10- K for the period ending
December 31, 2023-2024 , (the “ Report ), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, 1, Beuglas
S-James D . Sharp-Allison , Executive Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer & Freasurer— Treasuer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U. S. C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, to the best
of my knowledge, that: 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended; and 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company. / s / Peuglas-S-James D . Sharp-Douglas-S-Allison James D .
SharpExeeutive-AllisonExecutive Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer & TreasurerFebruary 8;2024-Exhibit97
R R O R a R N AAR D N DIEP e ha 3







(P +ad)
INATIC (T THItCay

ANS

DT

Programnts:



